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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“"GEM") OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG

LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever
for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made
all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report
IS accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any Statement herein or this
report misleading.
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~EEFR
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Director(s)”) of Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited
(the “Company”), | am pleased to present the annual results
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2019.

OVERVIEW

This year was still a challenging year to the Group.
The tremendous competition from other contractors,
compounded with the increasing contract costs, resulting
with a pressure to the Group’s business and operations
especially the fitting out services.

On the other hand, this year was also an ever-changing
year to the Group. During the year, the Group completed
an acquisition of a Hong Kong company engaging in the
waterproofing works and maintenance business. Through
this acquisition, the Group expands its design and fitting out
services business into fitting out and engineering services
business. Besides, the Group has also been developing a new
business in leasing of construction equipment as a growth
from the fitting out and engineering services business. The
Board believes the expansion and diversification of business
will foster the development of the Group into a successful
conglomerate.

As described in the annual report for the year ended 31
March 2018, the Group experienced a staff turnover in the
sales team of the sourcing and merchandising of fine and
rare wines during the third quarter of the last year. With the
continuous efforts put by the management, the Group has
successfully re-structured the operation of this segment and
re-activated its business during the last quarter of the year.
The Group has been actively in identification of suppliers
and potential customers to sustain the development of this
business.

Annual Report 2018/2019 —Z— )\ /= ZE—hEERE

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHRE

HERR:

AANERRCEERERERQA (AR
ADEF(EF)e([EFE])MARE
ARAREMBRAR (GBS IAKE])E
EE-NF=ZA=Z+-RULFEZEF¥

= o
e

ME
SEHAEERGDZ T mA BN —F &
R 2 TR AR RS o0 EIR B AR EYSE 0
BASEZEBNEL FRHERERBE
BT e

Z—hE SFEHEERFE LR —EZ{H
—F-RER AKRBECTRKE-RREDH
IKTRRREEZBOAR B BIWE A&
ERERFRRERBEHERIRKERT
RIRISES - s AEE T —HERBEE
BRERBONEDS FREERIERBE
BHERR-EFQHERRIZTILER
BE-—FEBRAKREZER WBHARYE
E R S =

ANMBE_E—NFZA=+—HLEFE
BAEFEMl AEBZEHEEBEFN X
FEFTEHRBEEERRABRLK - BEE
BENTEHE N AEEEKNEBAD F
ZEBIERRAFTRE —EAEEBARBEE
B AKEEEGSHRBEEIREBEERR N
BIEBER-



Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited {12 & RIZR B R A 7

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group will continue to focus on its
core business and effectively utilise its available resources
to further engage in its current business sectors. Besides
the current business, the Group will continue to explore
new business and investment opportunities so as to further
diversify the principal activities of the Group and broaden its
revenue base.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude
towards the support and advice of our shareholders and
business partners, for their recognition of the Company's
direction and strategies of development, as well as the
devotion and enthusiasm of our staff in all scopes of tasks.
They all helped us to drive the Company towards perfection.
We, the Board and all the Company’s staff, will continue to
dedicate ourselves to refine our services to maximise the
returns from shareholders.

Chan Chi Yuen
Chairman
Hong Kong, 12 June 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged
n (i) provision of fitting out and engineering services (previously
known as “provision of design and fitting out services”)
comprising design and fitting out services and other engineering
works and maintenance services, (i) provision of design and
procurement of furnishings and related products services
(previously known as “provision of design and procurement
of furnishings and decoration materials services”), (i) money
lending, and (iv) sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare
wines. The Group has also expanded its business segments into
the financial services business (previously known as “securities
business”) comprising provision of advising on securities
and securities dealing and brokerage services and asset
management services and leasing of construction equipment
business despite no revenue has yet been generated from these
segments.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue is mainly generated from (i) provision
of fitting out and engineering services; (ii) provision
of design and procurement of furnishings and related
products services; (iii) money lending; and (iv) sourcing and
merchandising of fine and rare wines. No revenue has yet
been generated from the financial services business and
leasing of construction equipment business during the year.

Breakdown of revenue by type of business is as follows:
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ended 31 March
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Fitting out and engineering BERITERBERA
services income 14,327 10,652
Design and procurement of furnishings &zt M RERE K&
and related products services income HEERRBBA 4,689 4,119
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Income from sourcing and = ETL PN
merchandising of fine and rare wines 5,830 13,831

28,150 33,097




Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited {2 &R Z G R A A

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Breakdown of revenue by geographical locations is as
follows:

U 24 52400 ) BRI T -

For the year
ended 31 March
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HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Hong Kong B 24,517 33,097
Malaysia Bk s 2,625 -
The PRC a3 1,008 _
28,150 33,097

The total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
approximately HK$28.2 million (2018: HK$33.1 million) which
represents HK$4.9 million or 14.9% decrease as compared
to that of last year. Such decrease was mainly attributable
to the decrease in revenue generated from the sourcing and
merchandising of fine and rare wines.

The aggregate revenue generated from the fitting out and
engineering services segment and design and procurement of
furnishings and related products services segment increased
from approximately HK$14.8 million for the year ended 31
March 2018 to approximately HK$19.0 million for the year
ended 31 March 2019 due to the increase in number of
projects executed by the Group as well as the engagement of
waterproofing projects through a newly acquired subsidiary.

Since the Group experienced a staff turnover in the sales
team of the sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare
wines during the third quarter of last year, the operation
of this segment was scale down during the first three
guarters of the year. With the continuous effort and
successfully restructuring of the operation and management
of this segment, sales were reactivated during the fourth
quarter of the year. Nevertheless, the Group recorded a
significant decrease in the revenue from this segment from
approximately HK$13.8 million for the year ended 31 March
2018 to approximately HK$5.8 million for the year ended 31
March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The interest income from money lending decreased by
approximately HK$1.2 million from approximately HK$4.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately
HK$3.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 since
certain of the loan portfolios were settled during the year.

Gross profit/(loss) for the year

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recorded
a gross profit of approximately HK$7.6 million (2018:
approximately HK$3.4 million) and the overall gross profit
margin was approximately 27.2% (2018: approximately
10.3%).

Gross profit/(loss) and gross profit/(loss) margin by types of
business is as follows:

Gross profit/(loss)
for the year ended
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Gross profit/(loss)
margin for the year

31 March ended 31 March
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FERT FHET
Fitting out and engineering & & TIERS
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products services 1,833 183 39.1 4.4
Money lending WM& 3,304 4,495 100.0 100.0
Sourcing and merchandising 3=/ & 4
of fine and rare wines 251 1,600 4.3 11.6
7,647 3,411 27.2 10.3
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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During the year ended 31 March 2019, the overall gross profit
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$7.6 million, with
an increment of approximately HK$4.2 million or 124.2% from
the overall gross profit of last year of approximately HK$3.4
million. Such gross profit was mainly attributable to the
turned-around gross profit of approximately HK$2.3 million
for the year ended 31 March 2019 from the fitting out and
engineering services whilst a gross loss of approximately
HK$2.9 million was recognised for the year ended 31 March
2018.

Loss for the year

The Group's overall administrative expenses decreased by
approximately HK$2.6 million or approximately 7.4% from
last year's approximately HK$34.7 million to approximately
HK$32.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 even there
was an increase in rental expenses for the establishment
of a showroom/shop in respect of the design and
procurement of furnishings and related products services
and the establishment of a warehouse for the storage of
construction equipment for leasing purposes. The decrease
in administrative expenses was mainly attributable to
(i) decrease in impairment of trade and other receivables
and (ii) there were one-off incidental costs relating to the
acquisition of a subsidiary with licences to carry on Type 1,
4 and 9 regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance in last year.

As a result, loss for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
approximately HK$20.1 million (2018: HK$28.1 million),
representing a decrease in loss of approximately HK$8.0
million or approximately 28.5% as compared with last year.
Such decrease in loss was mainly attributable to the overall
improvement in the performance of the Group with increase
in gross profit and the decrease of administrative expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group proactively
sought and explored new opportunity and new business
in order to strengthen and further development of the
existing operations and segments through acquisition and
establishment of new business.

The Group had re-structured the business segments in order
to better reflect the development of the Group. The segments
of the Group are re-designated as:

(1)  fitting out and engineering services, comprising the
previously design and fitting out service segment and
provision of other engineering services;

(2) design and procurement of furnishings and related
products services, renamed from the previously
design and procurement of furnishings and decorative
materials services;

(3) money lending;
(4)  sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines;

(5) financial services, renamed from the previously
securities business; and

(6) leasing of construction equipment, a newly developed
business.

Provision of fitting out and engineering services

During the year, the Group completed an acquisition of a
Hong Kong company engaging in waterproofing works and
maintenance services in December 2018, details of which are
stated in the Company’s announcement dated 21 December
2018. Through this acquisition, the Group’s design and
fitting out services business had been further developed
and expanded into the fitting out and engineering services
business.

The Group had 3 brought forward fitting out projects, 31
new fitting out projects and 2 new waterproofing projects
totalling 36 projects, of which 32 fitting out projects and 1
waterproofing project have been completed during the year.
As a result, there were 3 projects in progress (2 fitting out
projects and 1 waterproofing project) as at 31 March 2019, all
of which are in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The 3 carried forward projects are expected to be completed
in the coming few months. The Group has actively sought for
business opportunities by exploring for new customers and
new projects in order to strengthen its customer and revenue
base for maximization of the return to the shareholders and
the value of the Group.

Provision of designh and procurement of
furnishings and related products services

During the year, the Group had 2 brought forward projects
and 4 new projects totalling 6 projects, of which 4 projects
have been completed during the year. As a result, there were
2 projects in progress as at 31 March 2019, all of which are in
Malaysia.

The Group will look for business opportunities together with
the fitting out projects.

Money lending business

During the year, the Group had collected certain of the loan
receivables upon their maturity. There was loan portfolio in
Hong Kong with principal amount of HK$6 million as at 31
March 2019. The Group recognised an aggregate interest
income of approximately HK$3.3 million for the year (2018:
HK$4.5 million).

The Group has not granted any new loan during the year and
will continue to adopt a prudent management approach to
carry out the money lending business in order to minimise its
credit risk exposure while seeking for high creditworthiness
borrowers to have steady revenue base.

The Group adopted a prudent risk management policy with
the money lending business continuously carrying out regular
review of credit risk over the existing borrowers. Whilst the
Group will proactively explore customers with good quality
to maintain its business scale, it will continue to adopt a
prudent credit risk management strategy to ensure a healthy
development in its money lending business.

Sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare
wines

The Group’s sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare
wines (“Wines Merchandising”) has attributed a total revenue
of approximately HK$5.8 million during the year ended 31
March 2019 (2018: HK$13.8 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group experienced a staff turnover in the sales team of
the Wines Merchandising during the third quarter of the last
year. With the continuous efforts put by the management,
the Group has successfully re-structured the operation
of this segment and re-activated its business during the
last quarter of the year. The Group has been actively in
identification of suppliers and potential customers to sustain
the development of this business. The Group expects the
wine merchandising business will attribute a stable and solid
income stream to the Group in the coming years.

Financial services business

The Group has not yet commenced to carry on Type 1, 4
and 9 regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance during the year. The Group is in formulation of the
business plan for the financial services business.

Leasing of construction equipment business

As mentioned in the first quarterly report of the Company
dated 9 August 2018, the Group has established a warehouse
for the storage of construction equipment for leasing
purpose. During the year, the Group entered into a master
agreement and purchase orders with a supplier for purchase
of scaffolding equipment in the aggregate amount of
approximately HK$20 million, details of which are stated in
the Company’s announcement dated 18 December 2018.
The leasing of construction equipment business is a natural
expansion of and ancillary to the existing principal business
of the Group, and is in line with the business development
strategy of the Group, which shall enrich the business
profile of the Group. As at the date of this report, the Group
has received approximately 671.5 tons of the scaffolding
equipment and 2 leasing contracts have been entered.
The Group expects the commencement of the leasing of
construction equipment business will further enrich the
income stream to the revenue of the Group.

Other business development

Besides the above business development, the Group is
proactively seeking for business opportunities and exploring
new investment opportunities in order to further diversify the
principal activities of the Group to strengthen and broaden its
revenue base.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

The Board believes the expansion and diversification of
business will bring the Group to a new chapter which will
further foster the development of the Group into a successful
conglomerate.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
During the year, the Group financed its operations through
fund raising exercise, banking facilities and by its internal
resources.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had net current assets
of approximately HK$50.6 million (2018: HK$64.3 million),
including bank deposit, cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$27.0 million (2018: HK$41.6 million).

The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was approximately 7.5 times as at 31 March 2019
(2018: 7.4 times). There was no significant change in the
current ratio during the year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND GEARING

The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares. On
26 November 2018, the Company issued 72,600,000 new
shares through the placing of new shares (the “Placing”) with
proceeds amounting to approximately HK$14.0 million, net of
share issuing costs. As at 31 March 2019, the Company has
435,600,000 ordinary shares in issue. Total equity attributable
to owners of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$104.4 million as at 31 March 2019 (2018: approximately
HK$110.8 million).

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had no borrowing since
the obligation under a finance lease (2018: approximately
HK$90,000) and the secured bank borrowing (2018:
approximately HK$6.7 million) have been fully repaid by the
Group in March 2019 and August 2018, respectively. The
Group's gearing ratio, calculated by dividing total borrowings
by total equity, was nil (2018: 6.12%). The significant decrease
in the gearing ratio during the year ended 31 March 2019 was
mainly due to the full repayment of the obligation under a
finance lease and the secured bank borrowing by the Group
in March 2019 and August 2018, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER

GENERAL MANDATE

Reference is made to the announcements issued by the
Company on 1 November 2018 and 26 November 2018 in
relation to the placing of new shares under general mandate.

On 1 November 2018, the Group and a placing agent entered
into a placing agreement, pursuant to which the Group has
appointed the placing agent to procure altogether not less
than six independent placees for placing up to an aggregate
of 72,600,000 placing shares at a placing price of HK$0.20 per
placing share (the “Placing”). The closing price per share on
that date was HK$0.21.

The Placing was completed on 26 November 2018 with
gross and net proceeds of approximately HK$14.5 million
(equivalent to HK$0.20 per placing share) and HK$13.8
million (equivalent to approximately HK$0.19 per placing
share), respectively. The Company intended to use all the
net proceeds as to approximately HK$13.8 million for the
purchase of construction equipment for leasing purpose.
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DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividends for the year ended 31 March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The operations of the Group are mainly conducted in Hong
Kong dollar ("HK$"), Singapore dollar (“SGD"), Renminbi
("RMB”) and United States dollar (“US$") and its revenue,
expenses, assets, liabilities and borrowings are principally
denominated in HK$, SGD, RMB and USS$.

The Group does not enter into any instruments on the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group will closely monitor exchange
rate movement and will take appropriate actions to reduce
the exchange risk.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’'S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2019, none of the Group’s asset (2018: an
investment property with carrying value of approximately
HK$25.0 million, a bank deposit of approximately HK$0.3
million and a motor vehicle with carrying value of
approximately HK$0.1 million) is pledged to banks to secure
banking facilities and borrowings and charged for an
obligation under finance lease, respectively.

Details of the pledged assets are set out in notes 18, 19 and
27 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITION AND

DISPOSAL

During the year, the Group entered into a master agreement
and purchase orders with a supplier of scaffolding equipment
in the amount of approximately HK$20 million, details of
which are stated in the Company’s announcement dated 18
December 2018. The scaffolding equipment will be leased by
the Group to construction companies for use in construction
projects in its ordinary course of business. The leasing of
construction equipment business is a natural expansion of
and ancillary to the existing principal business of the Group,
and is in line with the business development strategy of the
Group, which shall enrich the business profile of the Group.

Save as disclosed above and in notes 34 and 35 to the
consolidated financial statements, there has been no other
significant acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries or assets
of the Group during the year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have other significant
contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2019.

S BE /2 Bz

AEBEBETELET ([EBT])  FmET
(rsrmmrl) ARB(TARE] RET
(IExHaHE MEKRA X -BE B8&
REETENETT KT ARERET
RELL-

RSB W\ AT FINERR 2 TA-
AEEBTNEREXZEL VERIUEE
TEREEL AR -

SEEERA
R-ZE—NE=ZA=+—B AEEL
FEE(ZT-\F:AREEEENA
25,000,0007# 7T 52 100,000/ 7T 7 ¥ & ¥ % 2
)5 B J 86 T {8 40300,00038 £ 2 RT3 5
BIS AT RITAEAEBMRERITEER
mE-

BERMFBIENGE Y HRERMEI8 19
K27 o

EXRBERHE

AERN AEEE-ZHEFI LT HENR
TEBERE  UBE#$EL 520,000,000
BLTZMRZE FBEFL2EARFAHR
“E-N\FEFT AT NBZRE-WMERE
BRAEEESE TREEQR UWAREBRE
EBBRETZRERBE HERERBED
TARBRE T EER 2 B AR KLKEE
D BARBERBERRE -3 IEEE

NRIZEGHE -

BRIA LR BEE R aR A B S TR M -E34 &% 35
BB RAFER  NEBEYEELMERNKE
EEENMBRARREESE-

HAREE

BRMRA B R AR BN REER
SE-AFZA=t+- BEMHMEARR
& f -



Annual Report 2018/2019 —Z— )\ /—Z— A4 EHRE 17

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMMITMENTS

Details of the commitments of the Group as at 31 March 2019
are set out in notes 37 and 41 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

POLICIES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group employed 30 (2018: 38)
employees. The Group continues to maintain and upgrade
the capabilities of its workforce by providing them with
adequate and regular training. The Group remunerates its
Directors and employees mainly based on industry practices
and individual's performance and experience. On top of
regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and share options
may be granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group’s
performance as well as individual’s performance.

Total remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2019
(including Directors” emoluments and salaries to staff and
Directors (including MPF contributions)) was approximately
HK$17.1 million (2018: HK$16.9 million). There was no
significant fluctuation in total remuneration during the year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects would be affected by a number of
risks and uncertainties including business risks, operational
risks and financial management risks.

The key business and operations risk exposure by the Group
are summarized as follows:

(i)  Slow down of the economy and customer spending; and
(i) Fierce of market competition.

The financial risk management policies and practices of the
Group are shown in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to
those mentioned above which are not known to the Group
or which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND

PERFORMANCE

The Group has observed the sense of environmental
conservation. Various practices have been implemented to
encourage compliance with environmental legislation and
promote awareness towards environmental protection to the
employees. Further discussion of environmental policy and
performance can be found in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report set out on pages 40 to 59 of this annual
report.

The Group will review its environmental practices periodically
and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures
and practices in the operation of the Group's businesses.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management
as at 12 June 2019, being the date of this annual report, are
set out below:

DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (“Mr. Chan”), aged 52, is an executive
Director and the chairman of the Company. He has joined
the Group since October 2015. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor
degree with honours in Business Administration and a master
of science degree with distinction in Corporate Governance
and Directorship. He is a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He is a practising certified
public accountant and has extensive experience in financial
management, corporate development, corporate finance and
corporate governance.

Mr. Chan is currently an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Noble Century Investment Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 2322) and an executive director of
Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings Limited (Stock code: 524).
He is also an independent non-executive director of Asia
Energy Logistics Group Limited (Stock code: 351), Media
Asia Group Holdings Limited (Stock code: 8075), New
Times Energy Corporation Limited (Stock code: 166), China
Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited (Stock code: 164), and
Leyou Technologies Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1089).
He was an independent non-executive director of U-RIGHT
International Holdings Limited (now known as Fullsun
International Holdings Group Co., Limited) (Stock code: 627)
from November 2010 to December 2017, Jun Yang Financial
Holding Limited (now known as Power Financial Group
Limited) (Stock code: 397) from January 2005 to October 2017
and Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1466)
from December 2016 to September 2018.

Mr. Liu Rongsheng (“Mr. Liu”), aged 57, is an executive
Director and the chief executive officer of the Company. He
has joined the Group since October 2015. Mr. Liu completed
a professional programme in International Economics
and Trading from b =& B B M & 263 (literally, Beijing
Economic Technology Institute), the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") in 1998. He also holds a qualification as a
senior economist in the PRC. Mr. Liu has extensive experience
in import and export trading, logistics, corporate strategic
management, project management and finance business.
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Mr. Liu is currently an executive director, the chairman and
the chief executive officer of China Ocean Fishing Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 8047).

Mr. Wang Jun (“Mr. Wang”), aged 49, an executive Director.
He has joined the Group since February 2017. Mr. Wang
completed a certificate programme in General Education
from ER &z ZaM& 2/ (literally, Guangdong Suixi
Education College), the PRC in 1988. Mr. Wang completed a
professional programme in Business Administration from _E
8 BB SO BT #E & 28T (Shanghai Institute of International
Economic and Technical Education) in the PRC and was
awarded a bachelor degree in management in 2010. He also
holds a qualification as qualified funds practitioner from Asset
Management Association of China. Mr. Wang has extensive
experience in real estate, corporate strategic management,
project management, investment business, and funds
management.

Mr. ZHANG Weijie (“Mr. Zhang"), aged 33, is an executive
Director. He has joined the Group since May 2018. Mr. Zhang
completed a course in Tsinghua Business Administration
and Innovation Executive Leadership programme from
The Research Institute of Tsinghua University in Shenzhen,
the PRC in 2013. He has gained extensive management
experience in financial leasing and investment business and
in securities investment in the PRC and Hong Kong.

Mr. Zhang was the chairman and an executive director of
Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148) from
October 2015 to March 2016.

Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong (“Mr. Tsang"”), aged 41, was
appointed as a Director on 20 January 2014 and became
executive Director on 30 June 2014. Mr. Tsang was re-
designated as a non-executive Director on 22 December
2016. Mr. Tsang joined our Group in 2004 and has extensive
experience in the interior design and consultancy industry.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Tsang worked at SW. Law &
Associates Architects & Development Consultants Ltd, an
architectural company from July 1998 to July 2004 as project
coordinator responsible for assisting project architects to
deal with clients, contractors and consultants. Mr. Tsang
was awarded a Diploma in Electronics and Communications
Engineering by Kwun Tong Technical Institute in July 1997. Mr.
Tsang graduated from a Master of Engineering Management
course offered by University of Technology, Sydney in
conjunction with the Hong Kong Management Association in
2014.
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Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (“Mr. A Chan"), aged 53, is
an independent non-executive Director since September
2015. Mr. A Chan is an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales, The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. Mr. A
Chan obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration degree
(major in Finance) from Hong Kong Baptist University and
professional diplomas in Hong Kong tax and China tax from
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He has served in senior financial and company secretarial
positions in a number of public companies listed in Hong
Kong and Singapore for years.

Mr. A Chan is currently an independent non-executive
director of KK Culture Holdings Limited (Stock code: 550). He
was an independent non-executive director of Feishang Non-
metal Materials Technology Limited (now known as HangKan
Group Limited) (Stock code: 8331) from December 2015 to
December 2017 and e-Kong Group Limited (now known as
Great Wall Belt & Road Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 524)
from February 2015 to May 2017.

Mr. Wu Zhao ("Mr. Wu"), aged 41, is an independent non-
executive Director since November 2015. Mr. Wu obtained
a bachelor degree in Engineering (Chemical) from the
University of Queensland, Australia. He also obtained a
master of commerce in applied finance and a master of
information technology from the University of Queensland,
Australia. He has extensive experience in finance, information
technology, investment and funds management. Mr. Wu
ceased to act as a director and the licensed representative
of Type 1 (Dealings in Securities) and Type 4 (Advising on
Securities) license of a fund management company from July
2018.

Mr. Wu is currently an independent non-executive director of
Silk Road Logistics Holdings Limited (Stock code: 988).
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Mr. Lam Cheok Va (“Mr. Lam”), aged 61, is an independent
non-executive Director since April 2016. Mr. Lam is a member
of the Standing Committee of Yunnan Province Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. He is
also the President of Macau Yunnan Chamber of Commerce,
the Director General of Macau Small and Medium Enterprises
Chamber of Commerce, a director of China Federation of
Overseas Entrepreneurs, a director of Macau Chamber of
commerce, an executive director of Macau Region China
Council for the Promotion of Peaceful National Reunification,
and a member of Advisory Board of School of Language
and Translation of Macau Polytechnic Institute. Mr. Lam has
extensive experience in business including entertainment,
food and beverage, retail, tourism and consulting.

Mr. Lam is currently a director of Macau Resources Group
Limited, the securities of which are traded on the Over-The-
Counter Market, the United States (OTCBB: MRGLF).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Pang Pui Hung Paton (“Mr. Pang”), aged 50, is
the financial controller and the company secretary of
the Company. He currently holds directorship in certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Pang has extensive experience
in the field of accounting, auditing, business advisory
services and financial management. He has been engaged
in the senior financial and company secretarial position in
listed companies in Hong Kong since 2014. Mr. Pang holds
a Master of Professional Accounting degree from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of the
Association of International Accountants, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong.

Ms. Sze Po Yee ("Ms. Sze”), aged 41, is the director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Sze joined the Group in
2005 and has over 21 years of experience in administration
work in the architectural design and engineering industries.

Mr. Li Sze Yan ("Mr. Li"”), aged 39, is the project controller
of a subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Li join the Group in
December 2017 and has over 19 years of experience in fitting
out and engineering industries.

Mr. Chiu Kam Sang (“Mr. Chiu"), aged 54, is the director of
a subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Chiu joined the Group in 2018
and has over 26 years of experience in waterproofing works
and maintenance industries.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to
present this corporate governance report of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board considers that incorporating the elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures and
internal control procedures of the Group could balance the
interests of the shareholders, customers and employees
of the Company. The Board has adopted the principles and
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(the “"CG Code") contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) to ensure that business activities and
decision making processes are regulated in a proper and
prudent manner. In accordance with the requirements of
the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has established an
audit committee, a remuneration committee, a nomination
committee and a compliance committee with specific written
terms of reference. During the year ended 31 March 2019,
the Company has complied with the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

No Director has dealt in the shares of the Company during
the year.

Following specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with such code of
conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2019.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition of the Board of Directors

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board currently
comprises four executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors. The
composition of the Directors in office during the year and up
to the date of this annual report are set out in the “Report of
the Directors” in this annual report on pages 60 to 70.

Functions of the Board

The principal function of the Board is to consider and
approve the overall business plans and strategies of the
Group, develop and implement the corporate governance
function, monitor the implementation of these policies and
strategies and the management of the Company. The Group
has a professional management team, which is led by a
team of senior management with substantial experience and
expertise in the Group’s business and the Board delegates
the authority and responsibility for implementing the Group’s
policies and strategies. During the year, the management
provided all members of the Board with monthly updates in
accordance with the code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
means of electronic communication in accordance with the
Company'’s articles of association. All minutes of the Board
meetings were recorded in sufficient detail the matters
considered by the Board and the decisions reached.
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During the year, the Board held 12 Board meetings and 1
general meeting. Details of the attendance of Directors are as
follows:

TRERB®RE

REAFRN EFECRTRREFEERN
TRBERRE - EEFHHFEFBNOT

Attendance/
Number of Attendance/
General Number of
Meeting Board Meeting
entitled to entitled to
attend attend
HERE B HEXRE &%
HENRR HENEES
REBITRE ERETRE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman) BRERSTE (£/F) 11 12/12
Mr. Liu Rongsheng (Chief Executive Officer) — BI85 & (7T 4B #E) 1/1 12/12
Mr. Wang Jun FEEE 171 12/12
Mr. Zhang Weijie (appointed on 7 May 2018) REMNRKLE (R -ZE—N\F
AAEAZMA) 1/1 11/11
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong BLESLE 1/1 12/12
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHITESE
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex PR &1 4L 58 1/1 12/12
Mr. Wu Zhao RIKFEE 1/1 12/12
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va%t & 11 12/12

Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and
Removal

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, each of
the executive Directors, the non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract or letter of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of two or three years and such term shall
be governed by the articles of association and/or other
relevant regulatory requirements unless terminated by either
party giving at least three months’ notice in writing.
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In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG
Code, all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should
be subject to election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after appointment. By virtue of article 113 of the
articles of association of the Company, the Board may
appoint any person as an additional Director or to fill a casual
vacancy, provided that any person so appointed shall hold
office only until the conclusion of the next following general
meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a casual
vacancy) or until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company (in the case of an addition to the Board), and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

In addition, every director should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Furthermore,
pursuant to article 141 of the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting of the Company,
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation but shall be eligible for re-election. Where
the number of Directors is not three or a number divisible by
three, the number of Directors to retire will be the number
which is nearest to but not less than one-third of the total
number of Directors. If there are less than three Directors,
they shall all retire. The Directors to retire by rotation will be
those Directors who have been Directors longest in office
since they were last elected, or appointed by the Members
(as the case may be). Every retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has three independent non-executive
Directors to comply with Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Furthermore, among the three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 5.05(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules. In accordance to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Company has received from each
of its independent non-executive Directors the written
confirmation of his independence. The Company, based on
such confirmation, considers Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex, Mr.
Wu Zhao and Mr. Lam Cheok Va to be independent.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the year, the role of the Chairman was
performed by Mr. Chan Chi Yuen and the office of the chief
executive officer of the Company was performed by Mr. Liu
Rongsheng. The code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code has
been complied with.

Delegation of Powers

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to
executive Directors and management of the Company with
department heads responsible for different aspects of the
business/functions, while reserving certain key matters in
making strategic decision for its approval. When the Board
delegates aspects of its management and administration
functions to management, it gives clear directions as to the
powers of management, in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where management need to report back and
obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions
or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

Continuing Professional Development

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code,
all directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company would arrange and/or
introduce some Director’s training courses for the Directors
to develop and explore their knowledge and skills.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his
appointment, so as to ensure that he has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities
and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements. The Directors are continually
updated on the legal and regulatory developments, as well as
business and market changes, to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities.

All Directors during the reporting period have participated
in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills through suitable trainings.
The participation in such trainings is to ensure that their
contributions to the Board remains informed and relevant.
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Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
covering the liabilities in respect of legal action against the
Directors that may arise out in the corporate activities which
has been complied with the CG Code. The insurance coverage
is reviewed on an annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with written
terms of reference which were further revised on 10
November 2014, 14 December 2015 and 17 December 2018
in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing
Rules and code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code. The Audit
Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Chan Chiu Hung
Alex. The other members are Mr. Wu Zhao and Mr. Lam Cheok
Va. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include the
review of the Group's financial reporting process and the
internal control systems as well as risk management of the
Group.

The Audit Committee had reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed financial matters, including a review of the
audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2019.

5 Audit Committee meetings were held during the year.
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Details of the attendance of members of the Audit Committee E&@KEBEFESHZEBUOT:
meeting are as follows:

Attendance
Members K& HEIRE
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman) BREVE L& (/) 5/5
Mr. Wu Zhao RIFEE 5/5
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va4t 4% 5/5

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the year:

(@) reviewed the audited consolidated results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2018,
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(b) reviewed the unaudited financial statements for three
months ended 30 June 2018, six months ended 30
September 2018 and nine months ended 31 December
2018;

(c) reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s financial
controls, internal control and risk management systems;

(d) reviewed the Group’s accounting principles and
practices, and financial reporting matters;

(e) approved the remuneration and the appointment and
the terms of engagement of the external auditor; and

(f)  reviewed the external auditor’'s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of audit process in
accordance with applicable standards.

In the meeting of the Audit Committee of June 2019, the
Audit Committee reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, the financial statements and
other reports for the year ended 31 March 2019 and discuss
any significant audit matters with the Company’s external
auditor and the senior management before recommending
them to the Board for consideration and approval. The Audit
Committee recommended the Board in relation to the re-
appointment of Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA Limited as
the Company’s external auditor for the financial year ending
31 March 2020 at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established by the Board
on 30 June 2014 with written terms of reference which were
further revised on 17 December 2018 in compliance with
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by
Mr. Lam Cheok Va. The other members are Mr. Chan Chiu
Hung Alex and Mr. Wu Zhao. The primary duties of the
remuneration committee are to review and recommend
the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other
compensation payable to the Directors and the senior
management personnel of the Group, including benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their
office or appointment.
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3 Remuneration Committee meetings were held during RAFER HFMEZE RT3 EE AEH
the year to review the remuneration packages of all 2BEZrFHEFB -FHEZE8ekEHE
Directors. Details of the attendance of the members of the & 2B T :
Remuneration Committee meeting are as follows:

Attendance
Members RE R E
Mr. Lam Cheok Va (Chairman) Lam Cheok Vast & (F /&) 3/3
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex PR &1 3t % A& 3/3
Mr. Wu Zhao et 3/3
Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior EEREREEENTFMBCR
Management
The remuneration payable to the employees includes ERNEENESEET S L2 - AEFEY

salaries and allowances. The Group’'s remuneration policies
are formulated based on the performance of individual
employees and are reviewed regularly. Subject to the Group’s
profitability, the Group may also provide a discretionary
bonus to employees as an incentive for their contribution
to the Group. The primary goal of the remuneration policy
with regard to the remuneration package of the executive
Directors is to enable the Group to retain and motivate
the executive Directors by linking their compensation with
performance as measured against corporate objectives
achieved. The executive Directors are entitled to the
remuneration packages including basic salaries and
discretionary bonuses.

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by sole Shareholder by way of written
resolution on 30 June 2014. The terms of the Share Option
Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23
of the GEM Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to provide (i) employees of the Group (whether
full-time or part-time); (ii) directors (including executive
directors, non-executive directors and independent non-
executive directors (where applicable)) of the Group; (iii)
substantial shareholders of each member of the Group and
(iv) associates of directors or substantial shareholders of the
Group of which includes any of the abovementioned persons
(together, the “Participants” and each, a “Participant”) with
an opportunity to obtain an equity interest in the Company,
thus linking their interest with the interests of the Group and
thereby providing them with an incentive to work better for
the interests of the Group.
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The Company believes that by offering the Participants a
shareholding stake in the Company, the interests of the
Participants and the Company become aligning and thereby
the Participants have additional incentives to improve the
Company'’s performance.

TRERB®RE
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Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details 1ZBAXE AT ZFAIEXEBISE S

of the annual remuneration of the members of the senior REBAEBZHZEZE-_Z—NF=A=+—8
management by band for the year ended 31 March 2019 are [t FEEHE B LT

as follows:

Numbers of

Individuals

AEBEE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 0 - 1,000,0007% JT 9

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 - 1,500,000 7T 1

6

Nomination Committee

The Board is empowered under the Company’s articles of
association to appoint any person as a director either to
fill a casual vacancy on or, as an additional member of the
Board. Qualified candidates will be proposed to the Board
for consideration and the selection criteria are mainly based
on the assessment of their professional qualifications and
experience. The Board selects and recommends candidates
for directorship to the shareholders having regards to the
balance of skills and experience appropriate to the Group's
business.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014
with written terms of reference which were further revised
on 17 December 2018 in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set
out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Nomination
Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Wu Zhao. The other
members are Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex and Mr. Lam Cheok Va.
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board regarding the candidates for
directorship, either to fill vacancies on or appoint additional
Directors, and succession planning for Directors, in particular,
the chairman and the chief executive of the Company.
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2 Nomination Committee meeting was held during the year RAFR RELZESBMAEHUERE
to review the appointment of all Directors. Details of the #BEZ=CZF-RELEZEeKELFEH
attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee FEIEZA T :
meeting are as follows:

Attendance
Members K& HEIRE
Mr. Wu Zhao (Chairman) Rk (£E) 2/2
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex PR &1 3t % A& 2/2
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va%t &= 2/2
Board Diversity Policy ESERESTLBE

The Board had adopted and established a set of board
diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) setting out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board with the aims of
enhancing Board effectiveness and corporate governance
as well as achieving the Group’s business objectives and
sustainable development. The Company recognises and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance. In designing the Board's
composition, the Nomination Committee will consider a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and reports to the Board on
the achievement of the measurable objectives for achieving
diversity under the Board Diversity Policy.
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Compliance Committee

The compliance committee of the Company (the “Compliance
Ccommittee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014
with written terms of reference which were further revised
on 17 December 2018. The Compliance Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and is
chaired by Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex. The other members are
Mr. Wu Zhao and Mr. Lam Cheok Va.

The primary duties of the Compliance Committee are to
review matters relating to the historical conduct of the
operations of the Group with a view to (i) understand the
relevant legal compliance obligations; (ii) recommend
procedures and protocols for implementation and/or
inclusion into the policies of the Group for regulation of
our recent or future operations to ensure compliance with
all applicable laws, rules and regulations, and to review
such policies from time to time to consider whether any
amendments or updates are necessary and to make
recommendations to the Board for amendment and adoption
as appropriate, and (iii) review the effectiveness of and
compliance by the Group with the policies implemented by
the Group and to recommend remedial actions to be taken
(if any) in the event any non-compliance is discovered.
Any incident of non-compliance will be reported to our
compliance committee. Meetings will be held on a monthly
basis or as and when necessary to perform the functions set
out above. For effective monitoring, external independent
professionals will be engaged to conduct reviews of
our internal control system and its implementation and
effectiveness on an annual basis, and if considered necessary
by compliance committee, at frequency as it considered
appropriate.
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1 Compliance Committee meeting was held during the year,. WRAFR SR E 8 @87 1/’/(/;5% GMRE
Details of the attendance of the members of the Compliance E&kE8HFEezm oFB50T
Committee meeting are as follows:

Attendance
Members K& PR E
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman) BREVE L E (FEF) 1/1
Mr. Wu Zhao SKEE 11

Mr. Lam Cheok Va

Lam Cheok Va%t: 4 1/1
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Corporate Governance Functions

According to code provision D.3 of the CG Code, the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
of the Company. The Board shall have the following duties
and responsibilities for performing the corporate governance
duties of the Company:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices
on corporate governance of the Group and make
recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Group's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
company.

%E/n%
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Accountability and Audit

Directors’ and Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledges their responsibility to prepare
the Group’'s consolidated financial statements for each
financial period to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows for that
period. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board has selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. The Directors are
responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report. The Directors continue to adopt the going concern
approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements
and are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid or payable to the
Company's auditors, Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA

TRERB®RE
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NARRZBEN L 2B (F8) G5t

Limited, in respect of their audit and non-audit services was E#FAR AN L 0T :
as follows:

HK$
Members K& BT
Audit service EIZR 600
Non-audit services IEEZRGEE =
Total BEt 600

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring
the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company and for reviewing its effectiveness, is committed
to implement an effective and sound risk management
and internal control systems to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and the assets of the Group.

b EERAIBEEE
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The Board is responsible for establishing the Group's internal
control framework, covering all material controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls, as well as
risk management functions of different systems. Review has
been carried out in a systematic approach based on the
risk assessments of the operations and controls. The Board
considers that the key areas of the Group's internal control
systems are reasonably implemented.

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted a review, via an appointed
professional firm to perform internal audit function, on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, covering financial, operational and risk
management aspects. The systems were considered effective
and adequate.

The Group adopts a complete process style of risk
management in a functional bottom up manner, including
risk identification, assessment, evaluation and treatment. The
functional areas across the Group provide input of risks with
treatments, which are appraised and maintained. The risk
management system, as well as the internal control system,
are continuous, proactive and systematic processes.

With the implementation of internal audit function,
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems is reviewed by conducting internal audit
assignments. Recommendations for major observations of
control weaknesses from the audits will be provided, so as to
resolve material internal control defects.

Dividend Policy

The Board had adopted and established a set of dividend
policy (the “Dividend Policy”). The Company currently does
not have a pre-determined dividend payout ratio. Any
declaration, payment and amount of dividend in the future
are subject to the Board’s discretion having regard to the
Group's future financial performance and earnings, capital
requirement and surplus, general financial conditions and
other factors as the Board may consider relevant.
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS

RELATIONS

The Company values communication with the shareholders
and investors. The Company uses two-way communication
channels to account to shareholders and investors for the
performance of the Company. Enquiries and suggestions from
shareholders or investors are welcomed, and enquiries from
shareholders may be put to the Board through the following
channels to the executive Director:

1. By mail to the Company’s principal place of business at
Suite 2201, 22/F.,, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong;

2. By email to info@royalcentury.hk.

The Company uses a number of formal communications
channel to account to shareholders and investors for
the performance of the Company. These include (i) the
publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports; (ii) the
annual general meeting or extraordinary general meeting
providing a forum for shareholders to raise comments
and exchanging views with the Board; (iii) updated key
information of the Group available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company; (iv) the Company’s
website offering communication channel between the
Company and its shareholders and investors; and (v) the
Company'’s share registrars in Hong Kong serving the
shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

The Company aims to provide its shareholders and investors
with high standards of disclosure and financial transparency.
The Board is committed to provide clear, detailed, timely
manner and on a regular basis information of the Group to
shareholders through the publication of quarterly, interim
and annual reports and/or dispatching circulars, notices, and
other announcements.
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The Company strives to take into consideration its
shareholders’ views and inputs, and address shareholders’
concerns. Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual
general meeting for which at least 20 clear business days’
notice shall be given. The chairman of the Board as well as
chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Compliance
committee, or in their absence, the Directors are available to
answer shareholders’ questions on the Group’s businesses
at the meeting. To comply with code provision E.1.2 of the
CG Code, the management will ensure the external auditor
to attend the annual general meeting to answer questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content
of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.

All shareholders have statutory rights to call for extraordinary
general meetings and put forward agenda items for
consideration by shareholders. According to section 566 of
the Companies Ordinance, The directors are required to call a
general meeting if the company has received requests to do
so from members of the company representing at least 5%
of the total voting rights of all the members having a right to
vote at general meetings. A request (a) must state the general
nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting; and
(b) may include the text of a resolution that may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting.

A shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring
director or recommended by the board of directors for
election as a director by validly lodging the following
documents within the period hereinafter mentioned at the
registered office of the Company at Suite 2201, 22/F., China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong:

1. a notice in writing of the intention to propose the
appointment or reappointment of such person to the
office of director, which must state the full name of
such person, include the person’s biographical details
as required by rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules and
be signed by the proposing shareholder; and

2. a notice in writing signed by such person of his
willingness to be appointed or re-appointed as a
director together with his written consent to the
publication of his/her personal data.

ARABHZEERRNBERLLES LR
I P R BRI RO I RE - BUD R R E R IBF
RE it RREELE -+ ETEEER
HBHM BEFEQETFRNRERZRES REZE
g FHEZESERARZEENTFE (WK
ERE)EFHENE LR AKENEBE
ERRmMER - AETEEERTR ZTE
XX FE 216 B IR EH BRI ZEED S
HEBRRBFAE AREBERETEZ
B HRENRHEL AT ST BRNAREK
SRAD 0B M F AR

FREBRAEE ERBRAKRRFIAE KR
HEREE ARBIRE B ZATEER - RIE
REMGRDIES6IE BHERBBRERRGRR
BB RERAER DB R R BERERR
AARABRRAE MESACTRARRKE-
BRER@QUBANARNE LB TRESFHZ
—RMEE RO EEEZASRE B HE
VRN ARG R RBRUA

B T 4E T AR i 2 BRI P B IR X T
HEAAREBLRIB i AE BB
72269 A B22122201F - R —
RBERFEEREEHRUNZETALS
SEF—W

1. RPAERERAIZENERES
ZEMBHN ZEMBHMANAZA
T2Z2% BEREGEMLEMHRAE
17.50 2B E 2 AT BEFBILE
—HREBRREE R

2. BRAIRERFRBLEYERERZ
EHBRMNERRAETEEBAAEHZA

= ==
Ba°



Annual Report 2018/2019 —Z— )\ /= ZE—hEERE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Such documents shall be lodged at the registered office of
the Company within the period of seven (7) days after the
dispatch of the notice of the general meeting. Upon receipt
of such documents, the Company shall verify the documents
and, if the proposal is found to be in order, publish an
announcement or issue a supplementary circular in respect
of the proposal in accordance with rule 17.46B of the GEM
Listing Rules.

In the event of any general meeting called by at least ten (10)
clear business days’ (as defined by the GEM Listing Rules)
or fourteen (14) days’ (whichever is the longer) notice in
writing, such documents lodged within the aforesaid period
may be received less than ten (10) business days prior to the
general meeting, in which case the Company will consider
the adjournment of the general meeting in order to give
shareholders at least ten (10) business days to consider
the relevant information disclosed in the announcement or
supplementary circular.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company
also maintains website (http://www.royalcentury.hk) which
includes the latest information relating to the Group and its
businesses.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Pang Pui Hung Paton is the company secretary of the
Company. During the year, Mr. Pang has duly complied with
relevant professional training requirements in accordance
with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year, the Company has not made any changes to
its articles of association.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

We are pleased to present our annual Environmental,
Social and Governance (“ESG") report (“ESG Report”) for
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (“the Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, “the Group”). This ESG Report
discloses the Group’s policies, guidelines, actions and
performance over the past year on different sustainable
development issues in a transparent manner. The Group
recognises the environmental, social and governance values
and it is our commitments to create sustainable values and
environmental protection through caring of our stakeholders.

This ESG Report covers the reporting period from 1 April 2018
to 31 March 2019 (the “Reporting Period”) and it has been
prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) in Appendix 20
of the Rules (the “GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The ESG Reporting Guide
encourages a listing company to identify and disclose ESG
information that is material and relevant to both its business
and its stakeholders.

The Group is principally engaged in (i) provision of fitting out
and engineering services (previously known as “provision of
design and fitting out services”) comprising design and fitting
out services and other engineering works and maintenance
services; (ii) provision of design and procurement of
furnishings and related products services (previously known
as “provision of design and procurement of furnishings
and decorative materials services”); (iii) money lending,
and (iv) sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines
("Wine Merchandising”). Unless otherwise stated, this ESG
Report covers our operations mainly in Hong Kong that
has contributed a majority of our Group's turnover in the
Reporting Period.
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Governance Structure and Approach to ESG
Reporting

This Report is prepared by the Group’s ESG working group,
which consists of external ESG advisor and managers from
major departments, and is led by the financial controller. The
working group is responsible for formulating ESG policies
and initiatives and embedding the ESG principles in each
department of the Group, and compilation of the ESG Report.

The Board oversees the ESG development of the Group and
sets out ESG objectives and direction. It has delegated the
day-to-day execution of all ESG related responsibilities to
the ESG working Group, through the responsible financial
controller.

Identifying Priorities and Balances in Our Value
Creation Process

We hope to enhance communication with stakeholders
through this report. To start with the value creation process
on sustainable development, the stakeholders’ participation
is critical to assess the priorities. Through a variety of
communication channels, we get in touch with important
stakeholders for better understanding their expectations. As a
result, we not only can identify opportunities and challenges,
and develop our business development strategies, but also
can improve our corporate social responsibilities that are
considered as the continuing commitment by the Company
to behave ethically and to contribute to the economic
development, and at the same time to improve the quality of
life of our employees and their families as well as the local
community and society at large.
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The chart below highlighted our key stakeholders and the MW TEXRERABREHBMRMANTEEREA

various communication channels for the Reporting Period. MEEBREE-
KEY STAKEHOLDERS COMMUNICATION CHANNELS
FTEERA BBRRE
Internal stakeholders
AEBEZEA
o Shareholders and Investors o Shareholders and investors meetings; Annual reports
BERRIEES and ESG reports; Company website and email
REMKEEGZ: FEMSENESCHRE  RAl@HRE
T #
o Employees o Departmental meetings;Staff appraisal meetings;
EE Seminars, workshops and trainings; Intranet, email and

internal memo
ez BEIMea Mg TEH RS R
W BETFHHERATESRE

External stakeholders

SERER A
o Customers ] Customer Meetings; Sales representatives; Customer
=P hotline
BEFgE HERK TRAR
. Subcontractors o Physical and phone meetings; On-site briefing and
D e training; Collaboration between project managers
ERLREFSH BBEREEI BELEZHNEE
. Suppliers o Physical and phone meetings; Co-ordination with
HERE purchase manager
ERKERZRSE KBLEZENHA
. Financial Institutions o Physical and phone meetings; Co-ordination with
DRI Financial Controller
ERNEFSE  BMBAERHE
. Government/regulatory authorities o Seminars,reports and circulars on regulations; Company
BT BB S website, email, fax and enquiry hotline
BREROS g WmERBE: AR EFHM4-
BEEREHBEZ
° Local Community and NGO o Participation in community activities; Community news
A Hbt & [ 88 SHEED LEFE
. Media o Media meetings after shareholders’ meetings; Company
L= website, email and enquiry hotline

BRERGEOERSE: Ar@ SFEEREARR
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One of the key outcomes we expect from the stakeholders
engagement process is materiality assessment where the
views of what are important to business (in particular for
internal stakeholders) and what are important to stakeholders
(the external stakeholders), are identified through plotting
on a matrix of relevance and importance. We prioritise the
material issues and focus these in the medium and long-term
planning. Adequate manpower and financial resources are
ensured to meet the strategic plans. Policies are enhanced
and improved where they are inadequate to meet the ESG
objectives. The ESG working Group formulates ESG initiatives
and arranges activities for achieving the ESG objectives, and
ensure the initiatives and practices are properly executed.
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Stakeholder engagement

R A S

External stakeholders (Customers, subcontractors,

Internal stakeholders (staff, shareholders)
AIBERA (BT, BFR)

suppliers, financial institutions, government/regulatory

authorities, community, media)

SEptEREA (BF - D EE - HER - SRS -

BT/ BB (B - E)

Materiality assessment

CE

Through completion of a matrix for relevance and importance
BBTREEE  RIRAREERES Y

Strategic planning
REEMESTE

Medium and long term strategic planning
RN R EASR RS ST B

Policies & practices

BER R AEH

Resources allocation
ERAE

Policy enhancement

RS E Bt RGBT

Our businesses have impacts on our key stakeholders,
and on the other hand our stakeholders also have
different expectations over the Group. Going forward, we
shall continuously strengthen communication with our
stakeholders, and collect their opinions and expectations
extensively by various means. We shall also reinforce the
reporting principles as proposed in the ESG Reporting Guide
for materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency, in
order to incorporate more relevant contents in the report
and to present information in a way that can meet better the
expectation of our stakeholders.

Enforce initiatives and practices

ESG disclosures
ESGHR =

BANEBHRMANTIERSAELETE
ME—7AE ZANESATHRNEERE
TREHIE » R AR - 3 PIH A B hn ok f2 4
SmARBR ZHTHREERRHME - T
BRERSEM 8 FEHR 3T MR
ESGHi & 55l PR MMM & R A AMBHEAR
ETPMAEZHBEAST LAREZE 0
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Stakeholders’ Feedback

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our
environmental, social and governance approach and
performance. Please share your views with us via email at
info@royalcentury.hk.

CARING FOR OUR TALENTS
Recruiting and Retaining Talents

Our talents are one of the most important assets of the Group
that drive the long-term development and sustainability of
the Group. We strive to create an environment in which our
talents’ contribution to the Group’s success is encouraged,
recognised and rewarded. We are committed to invest in
retaining our talents and helping their development so that
they can perform their best as well as obtain satisfaction
and fulfilment at work. To recruit and retain talented people,
we offer competitive salary package with benefits and
welfare based on their qualifications, working experience and
performance.

We are committed to being an employer of equal opportunity
and does not discriminate people on the basis of race,
nationality, ethnic origin, religion, sex, or marital status.
Staff with the appropriate skills, qualifications, experiences
and competencies required for a particular position will
have equal opportunities to be considered for the position.
Our staff are also provided equal opportunity of access to
appropriate training and development based on identified
business and individual needs.

We also endeavour to provide a harmonious working
environment for our talents. Regular staff social functions are
held to enhance social communications and relationships
between our talents and to promote loyalty of our talents.
During the Reporting Period, we organised festive lunch and
parties for Christmas and Mid-Autumn Festival, and birthday
party for each staff. Annual dinners for the Group were also
held for social gathering between our staff and business
partners, and for showing our gratitude to our talents.

As at the end of financial year, the Group had 26 (2018 34)
staff in Hong Kong and 4 (2018: 4) in Mainland China. In
Hong Kong, the Group strictly complies with the Employment
Ordinance, Employees’ Compensation Ordinance and
Minimum Wage Ordinance. In Mainland China, staff
employment is subject to the Labour Law and the Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC").
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During the Reporting Period, there was no non-compliance
incident in relation to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hour, rest period, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits
and welfares of any employment that have a significant
impact on the Group.

Staff Training and Self-development

We believe that continuous acquisition and upgrading of skills
and proficiencies is essential for our talents to the next step
in their career path. Training and development can improve
our talents” work performance and hence can provide them
promotion opportunities within the Group. Enhancing career
development of our talents in the Group is also important to
foster their loyalty.

The Group has formulated policies to encourage our talents
to equip themselves with specific skills to carry out different
assignments through attending different vocational and
business related training courses. We sponsor our talents
to take professional courses, seminars, workshops and
conferences recommended or approved by the Group.

During the Reporting Period, our staff attended seminars to
get insights into current issues on corporate governance and
regulatory compliance and the latest regulatory requirements
on strengthening corporate governance of listed companies.
Our staff also joined various continuing professional training
courses to maintain and enhance their technical knowledge
and professional skills. Our senior management provided
internal trainings to general staff based on specific job
requirements.

Health and Safety

We care about the well-being of our talents and recognises
it as our prime responsibility to assure the health, safety and
welfare of our staff, as well as other persons who are likely to
be affected by our operations, including the subcontractors
and the public where appropriate. We have implemented
safety management system to manage safety issues in our
construction sites. Safety policies, working procedures,
plans and measures are set out in a safety manual (“Safety
Manual”), which is provided to all management and
supervisory personnel including the person-in-charge of the
subcontractors.
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We have established a site safety committee, which is
responsible for the strict implementation of our safety
management system, and identifying and monitoring safety
issues in our construction sites. The site safety committee
is also responsible for promoting the safety and health
awareness to workers and helping workers to understand
and observe the rules and regulations relating to the safety of
construction works in Hong Kong.

The Group strictly complies with the Factories and Industrial
Undertakings Ordinance to provide safety and health
protection to our staff and casual workers in our construction
sites in Hong Kong. We also require our subcontractors
to abide all safety laws, rules, regulations, measures and
procedures as well as all current enactments relating to their
works.

The Group is also committed to provide safe working
environment to our staff in our offices in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. We always comply with the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong and relevant laws
and regulations in Mainland China. Safe work policies and
procedures are implemented to protect our staff from injury
at work places. Smoking is prohibited in our workplaces.
Regular office cleaning is carried out to maintain offices
hygiene to reduce spreading of disease. We also remind our
staff to have good housekeeping in the workplace to avoid
accidents.

Observing Labour Standards

We recognise that child labour and forced labour violate
fundamental human rights and the protocol of international
labour conventions, and we concur they pose a threat to
sustainable social and economic development. Therefore we
strictly abide the Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong, and
the Labour Law and Labour Contract Law in PRC on this issue.

The Group prohibits employment of child labour and will carry
out examination of the applicant’s age during the recruitment
stage. We would strictly follow the employment contracts and
would not prejudice the employment relationship in any way
between the employees and the Group, such as detaining a
deposit, forcing to work against their will under any kind of
threat. Our Staff has the right to terminate the employment
contract as long as it is in compliance with the relevant laws
and the Group policies.
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During the Reporting Period, we are not aware of any non-
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to child
and forced labour that would have a significant impact on the
Group.

CONTRIBUTION TO OUR ENVIRONMENT
Environmental Protection

We recognise the importance of environmental protection
that is crucial for the sustainable development of the
environment and our business. We are committed to
minimising our impacts on the environment while maintaining
quality services to our customers. We formulate policies and
procedures to enhance efficient use of resources, proper
handling of emissions and proper use of natural resources.

Emissions Management

We strive to reduce adverse impact of the fitting out and
engineering services works on the environment. Our
operations are strictly complied with the laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection in Hong Kong, such
as Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Air Pollution Control
(Construction Dust) Regulation, Noise Control Ordinance,
Water Pollution Control Ordinance, Waste Disposal Ordinance
and Public Health and Municipal Services Ordinance.

During the construction and demolition processes, dust
and volatile organic compound (“VOC") are the major air
pollutants to our environment. We require our staff and
subcontractors to adopt air pollution abatement measures to
reduce air nuisance to the atmosphere. Low-dust techniques
and equipment are used to cut down construction dust.
VOC-containing products are stored in air-tight containers.
In relation to noise control in our work sites, construction
works are undertaken in accordance with the permitted work
hours as specified by Noise Control Ordinance. All equipment
used are complied with the permitted noise level. Wastes
are segregated into general wastes and construction wastes
before transporting to rubbish collection points or designated
waste disposal facilities.

The usage of the Group’s motor vehicles for our staff to travel
among work sites is another source of direct air emissions
of the Group. In the Reporting Period, the fuel consumption
and mileage usage of our motor vehicles had been reduced,
hence the emissions of nitrogen oxides (NOx) and particulate
matter (PM) was greatly reduced by about 17%, and the
emission of sulphur oxide (SOx) was also reduced by 10%.
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The greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions generated by the
Group are mainly come from electricity consumption in our
offices and fuel consumption for the Group’s motor vehicles.
In the Reporting Period, due to the reduction on consumption
of fuel and electricity, the total GHG emissions from the Group
were decreased by about 10% as compared with last year.
Paper waste generated from our offices constituted only 5%
of the Group’s total GHG emissions. The GHG intensity per
staff was slightly reduced by 2.2%.

AEBEEAMABERE (NREREBW
TERBRMABRERNENEREAEER
BERREDRRE - RS IR AREAIE S
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS - AIR EMISSIONS AND GHG

EMISSIONS 2019 2018
FERBEEZE-BERBHER —E-hEF —E—)\F
AIR EMISSIONS kg kg
REBEHK AF N
- Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx") =R e 11.91 14.46
— Sulphur Oxides (“SOx") —mEityw 0.25 0.28
— Particulate Matter (“"PM") —BENYE 0.88 1.06

GHG EMISSIONS

tonnes CO:2-. tonnes COze

GHG ¥ 2 M_S{tmE M_fatix=
Scope 1: direct emissions from vehicle fuel consumption 46.3 D785
#HE - TEMREERNE BN

Scope 2: indirect emissions from purchased electricity 38.6 40.9
#HE2 :FIBET IHEERNR

Scope 3: other indirect emissions from paper waste & business air travel 4.5 6.0
& [E)3 - ARSRRE W) N AR 7 S 2= R 0 Bt R B BE AR

Total GHG Emissions 89.4 99.4
GHG #Hm =

GHG Intensity — total GHG emissions/average no. of staff (tonnes CO2-e/staff) 2.63 2.69

GHGE [Z - GHGAaH i E /BT P AE (M — AL nE ET)

To achieve the goal on reducing emissions from our business
operations, we have set out policies to improve the efficiency
on the use of energy and to reduce energy consumption.
For our vehicles, proper maintenance is carried out to avoid
excess emissions as the result of increase in the efficiency
of fuel. We monitor the fuel consumption and mileage usage
of the vehicles for gasoline usage. Our staff are encouraged
to take public transportation to the work sites and also for
visiting suppliers in Mainland China.
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The Group is committed to establishing a culture of energy
saving in our workplaces. We require our staff to take up the
responsibility of reducing energy consumption by switching
off all computers, lighting, air conditioners and equipment
after office hour. During office hour, we encourage our staff to
switch off lighting and electronic equipment not in use.

Waste Management

The Group’s construction sites and offices generate non-
hazardous waste. The operations of the Group's fitting out
and engineering services produce construction waste during
construction processes, while the non-hazardous waste from
our offices mainly consist of paper and other office supplies.

We strictly require our staff and subcontractors to comply
with the Waste Disposal Ordinance for disposal of waste.
During the Reporting Period, there were about 436 tonnes
of construction waste having been transferred to sorting
facilities of the government waste disposal facilities. To
reduce the impact of waste created from the construction
processes, we devise measures to monitor and control the
waste generation and disposal.

In the Reporting Period, the total amount of non-hazardous
waste produced from our offices was about the same as
last year. We continue to implement various waste reduction
measures to reduce waste generated from our workplaces.
Less paper policy is imposed and we encourage our staff to
use electronic communications to replace using of paper.
Double sided printing is encouraged and used paper is
collected for printing draft documents to reduce paper usage
and paper waste. In addition, used printer toner cartridges
are collected by the printing supplier for recycling in order to
reduce waste.

The Group's fitting out and engineering services works do
not produce significant amount of hazardous waste. Our
staff and subcontractors are required to comply with the
Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) Regulation for handling any
hazardous waste produced during the operations processes.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS - NON-HAZARDOUS WASTE 2019 2018
FTERREE-FBEBEY —E-NEF —E-NF
GENERAL WASTE tonnes tonnes
—REY g i
Total non-hazardous waste produced 4.4 4.4
EEMFEREMRS

Non-hazardous waste intensity (in terms of average no. of staff, tonnes/staff) 0.1 0.1
EEREMRE (RIEABFHE W ABFE

CONSTRUCTION WASTE tonnes tonnes
BEENIE Mg U7
Total construction waste disposed to government waste disposal facilities 436 -
MBNENEERERHOBEEDES

Non-hazardous waste intensity (tonnes/no. of projects) 218 -

el EYRE (M, 18 E 80

(note: the subsidiary of Group produced construction waste was acquired
during the Reporting Period, no comparison figure in 2018 was disclosed)
(GE: EEAEEZEN TN T RAAERS HARKE  Fi2018F KB RE

EHF)

During the Reporting Period, we are not aware of any non-
compliance of laws and regulations in Hong Kong relating to
air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
that would have a significant impact on the Group.

Use of Resources

The Group’s energy consumptions are mainly gasoline and
electricity. In this Reporting Period, both the Group’s gasoline
and electricity consumption were reduced by 11.9% and
4.2% respectively. The intensity of gasoline consumption was
also reduced by 4.2%, however the intensity of electricity
consumption was increased by 4.3% due to reduction on the
number of staff during the Reporting Period.

RBREHE RMYAREREANEAEER
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS - ENERGY CONSUMPTION

IE%ZEE?E%_ Eb/ﬁ\/ﬁﬁ

RE HE8REREE

2019
—2-nF

2018
e — )\

Direct energy consumption
HEERER
— gasoline consumption (litres)
HBREE ()
— gasoline consumption/average no. of staff (litres/staff)
BEERE FHEBIAH(FBI)
Indirect energy consumption
BERERE
— electricity consumption (kwh)
& 718 FE(kwh)
— electricity consumption/average no. of staff (kwh/staff)
BAHERE/FHETIAH (kwh/ BI)

We believe that our staff's efforts can have a great
contribution to the efficient use of resources. To increase
our staff's awareness of protecting the environment and
to enable our staff to optimise the use of resources, we
put forward policies on reducing use of energy in our staff
handbook.

Our business operations do not consume significant amount
of water. We do not have any issue on sourcing water for
business purpose. Water is supplied to our offices through
the respective property management company where our
offices locate, as such it is not feasible to measure our
water consumption. Even so, we still pay attention to water
conservation. Notices are posted at the prominent places
to remind our staff to save water and reduce unnecessary
wastage of water.

As our Wine Merchandising business was scaled down
during the Reporting Period due to staff turnover, only a small
amount of the packing material was consumed.

Environment and Natural Resources

In our design and procurement of furnishings business,
wood is a common raw material used by our suppliers for
manufacturing the specified items required by our customers.
We take necessary procedures to prohibit our suppliers
to use wood from illegal sources for the production of
furnishings and materials supplied to the Group. The wood
suppliers have to confirm that they are in compliance with
relevant rules, regulations and certifications.
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The Group also pays close attention to our subcontractors to
ensure that they are strictly comply with the relevant laws
and regulations in relation to the environmental protection
and do not cause any damage to the environment. For the
Group’s other business segments, they do not cause any
direct and significant impacts on the environment and natural
resources.

COMMITMENT TO OUR CUSTOMERS
Supply Chain Management

In the operations of fitting out and engineering services and
the design and procurement of furnishings, we require a lot
of subcontracting services and purchases. We place emphasis
on the selection of subcontractors and material suppliers.
Our procurement process encourages fairness and applies
a high level of objectivity and impartiality in suppler and
subcontractor selection. The selection criteria are based on
their work quality, technology knowhow, safety performance,
business integrity, ability to comply with the relevant laws and
regulations, sustainability and cost effectiveness.

We have high expectations on our subcontractors and
suppliers in areas and issues such as child labour, force
labour, human rights, environment, health and safety, as
well as bribery and corruption. In addition, the products
and services delivered by our subcontractors are subject
to applicable industrial laws and environmental laws in
Hong Kong. Our subcontractors also have to be responsible
for their employees’ insurance and safety, and to ensure
their tools and machinery used to carry out the work are in
compliance with all applicable laws including those in relation
to industrial safety. Penalties are executed on any violations
occurred. We also required our major material suppliers to
provide written confirmation that they abide all applicable
laws.

In our Wine Merchandising business, we only select wine
merchants with good reputation and high star rating to
ensure reliability of the wines. It is also important that those
wine merchants are reliable in supply and have a good
trading history with the Group.
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Product Responsibility

Quality control is one of the key differentiators between the
Group and our competitors in our fitting out and engineering
services business. Our quality management system is well
established to assure the quality of our projects. Project
manager is assigned to each project to oversee the progress
of project and to assure the quality of the project. We also
monitor the production progress of furnishings and materials
for our projects and carry out inspections to ensure the
production is in line with the design specifications.

During the execution of the projects, the Group's designs are
constantly checked against constraints to assure feasibility
and are monitored to meet customers’ requirements and
expectations. In the completion stage of the project, a final
site check is carried out with customers to certify all works
are completed in accordance with design specifications and
customers’ requirements. We offered defect liability period
from one month to one year to our customers. During the
Reporting Period, we have not experienced any material
claim by our customers in respect of the projects completed
by us.

Quality of wine products is also critical to the sustainable
development of our Wine Merchandising business. To protect
quality and value of our wine products, we select professional
wine storage provider to provide ideal environment for
storage of our wine products. In the Reporting Period, we
have not received any complaint against the quality of our
wine products.

The Group also provides loan products to individuals and
corporates in Hong Kong. A subsidiary of the Group, being
licensed money lender, operates under the Money Lenders
Ordinance (“MLO"). The Group has followed all forms and
procedures prescribed under the provisions of the MLO.

Owing to the nature of our money lending business, we
frequently and regularly collect, retain, and utilize personal
data from our existing and potential customers. Therefore,
the Group complies with Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
and other applicable laws. We have policies to manage our
customers’ personal data. Appropriate levels of security were
implemented to safeguard and secure their data. Measures
are in place to ensure customers'’ relevant data are protected
against unauthorised or accidental access, processing or
erasure.
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CARING FOR OUR SOCIETY
Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to preventing bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering. All directors and staff in Hong Kong
are regulated by the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Hong
Kong) (“the Ordinance”). Staff working in Mainland China must
also comply with the local legislation to prevent bribery. The
Group prohibits all directors or staff to obtain any benefit
from clients, suppliers or any person who has business
dealings with the Group. The Group has formulated policies
and procedures to ensure every staff does not provide,
undertake or receive any improper and illegal benefits. The
staff manual of the Group also standardises the code of
conduct. Our staff are encouraged to report any act that
contravenes the Ordinance or other relevant legislations on
this aspect to the department heads or the directors.

In our money lending business, the Group is well aware
of the importance of prevention of money laundering. We
strictly comply with all applicable anti-money laundering
laws and regulations in Hong Kong including the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance and
Guideline on Compliance of Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing Requirements for Licensed Money
Lenders issued by the Registrar of Money Lenders. The Group
has adopted policies and procedures in relation to performing
customer due diligence works, identifying suspicious
money laundering behaviours and reporting of suspicions
transactions.

During the Reporting Period, there was no reported case in
relation to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
within the Group.

Community Investment

We strive to be a part of our community and to support the
community by way of social participation and contribution.
We encourage our staff and their family members to
volunteer their time and skills to benefit the community.
We hope to create positive impact on our society through
collaboration and volunteerism and to increase our
staff’s concern on the social and environmental issues
of our community. During the Reporting Period, our staff
participated in blood donation campaign to help the needy
persons in the society.
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ASPECTS
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A. Environmental
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EBEA1: ERY
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RR -HERER

DESCRIPTION
R

Aspect A1: Emissions

HE

ESGH & iE oI M &

PAGE REF
8ZH

General
Disclosure
— A EE

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
FHERMRERBHNR MKETtHHEET EERESEED
E’JF‘EWE’J
a) R &k
b) BFHBETABERTZENEBERRROINER -

47-50

KPI'A1.1

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.
BER iR $E K hE B R B -

48

KPI'A1.2

Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility)

/Jm::ﬂ' %/z\, EFEKE(LAIEEH-I—
{_L ‘-' in ﬁj,u-l—

DR (MER)ZE(NWAEBEE

48

KPI'A1.3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per

facility).

ﬁﬁFiﬁiF;ﬁ% E(LA M ET H
B FERETE

Rk (WER)ZE (MUEBEE

Not applicable for
disclosure
NE A EE

KPIA1.4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per

facility).

Fﬁ?iﬁif%%ﬁ@i(w&ﬁ%%
B BIERERE)

IR (ER) ZE (MASEE

50

KPI'A1.5

Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results
achieved.
R EERENEERAEKR-

47-49

KPI'A1.6

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.
HMEEEEREEEEVMN T L REELEENREHEREK
%0

49-50
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ASPECTS
=41

DESCRIPTION
i

A. Environmental

A . RE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EBEA2 : EREA

PAGE REF
8%H

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water 51

Disclosure and other raw materials.

— M= BRFERER (BIEER  KEEMEME) AYEEE -

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, 50-51
gas or oil) in total (kwh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
REAMESMERE R SHEEER (NS f3h) 8FE (LT E
FTERAE)RFZE (WABEESN BERETE) °

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of | Not applicable for
production volume, per facility). disclosure
BFEKERZE (WASESEN BERHBTE) i A # FE

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results 50-51
achieved.
Al ge IR e ARt B AT AR o

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is 51
fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.
sk EUE AR LA B EWEE  ARRARKS =S RAE
R o

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) | Not applicable for
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced. disclosure
R MATABREMEMNRE (LUEETE) &K (WER) BEEEMG TEREE
EO

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EBHEA3 RERXAER

General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the 51

Disclosure environment and natural resources.

— M= WIRBEITAHRRERRAERENERFZEHIE -

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 51

environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.
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ASPECTS DESCRIPTION PAGE REF
=g i 4t 2E8
B. Social
B. &
Employment and Labour Practices
EEREIER
Aspect B1: Employment
General Information on: 44
Disclosure (a) the policies; and
— M= (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.
ERFMEEE BEREA ITERE - BH FEHE ZT
1t~ RIBEAR A R H At 15538 R AR &
(@) B &
b) BFHETAFTEACENHEEERBAOINER -
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EMEB2 :BEHEZE
General Information on: 45-46
Disclosure (a) the policies; and
— R EE (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
EARHZE2TIERRRREEER2BELLEN:
(@) % &k
(b) BTFHEITABERTENEBEERROIBER -
Aspect B3: Development and Training
BHEB3 : #ERZI
General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for 45
Disclosure discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
— MR FHEEAEERTIEREN DB RRENBER - HEIES -
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B. Social
B. &

Employment and Labour Practices
BREREIER

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
JEHEB4 : &5 TEH|

General Information on: 46-47
Disclosure (a) the policies; and
— = (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

BRI IEE T Mg H|55 THY

(a) B3 &

(b) BFHEITABERTENEBEERROINER -

Operating Practices
EEER

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[BEBS : LEHEERE

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply 52
Disclosure chain.
— M= BIEMHERNIRE Rt g R BEUR -

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
EHEB6 - EmEME

General Information on: 53
Disclosure (a) the policies; and
— M= (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products
and services provided and methods of redress.
EEMRHEERNBRBEHRREZE B SEELESZTEAR
BT ER
(a) % &k
(b) BFHETABEATZENHBERRBOINER -
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DESCRIPTION
1

Operating Practices

EEES

EM®EB7 : R&ES

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

PAGE REF
8%H

General
Disclosure
— M=

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

BRI IEHR #x - BGFRERERN:

(a) B3 &

(b) BFHEITABERTENEBEERROINER -

54

community
&

Aspect B8: Community Investment
EEBS  HERE

General
Disclosure
— R EE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities” interests.
BN ESER THRETALCENELETS EMBREERE
e E EitE MR e Bk -
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased
to present this annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS

REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) provision
of fitting out and engineering services (previously known as
“provision of design and fitting out services”) comprising
design and fitting out services and other engineering works
and maintenance services, (ii) provision of design and
procurement of furnishings and related products services
(previously known as “provision of design and procurement
of furnishings and decorative materials services”), (iii) money
lending, and (iv) sourcing and merchandising of fine and
rare wines. The Group holds licences to carry on Type 1, 4
and 9 regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, the financial services business (previously known
as “securities business”) comprising provision of advising on
securities and securities dealing and brokerage services and
asset management services, which has not yet commenced
operation during the year. In addition, the Group established
a warehouse and entered into a master agreement with
a supplier for purchase of scaffolding equipment during
the year. The Group expects the leasing of construction
equipment business will be commenced in the coming
quarter.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a
review of the Group's business during the year under
review and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development, possible risks and uncertainties that the Group
may be facing and important events affecting the Company
which occurred during the year ended 31 March 2019 are
provided in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement”, the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of
this annual report and note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report.
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Discussions on the Group's environmental policies and
performance, relationships with key stakeholders, and
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations are
contained in the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” on pages 40 to 59 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31
March 2019 and the state of affairs of the Group as at that
day are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 83 to 85.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2019.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2019, there are no reserves available for
distribution to the shareholders of the Company.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in
note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the investment property of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group
as at 31 March 2019 are set out in notes 29 and 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s top
five customers accounted for approximately 64.1% of the
revenue. The top five suppliers accounted for approximately
58.4% of the total purchases for the year. In addition, the
Group's largest customer accounted for approximately 19.7%
of the revenue and the Group's largest supplier accounted for
approximately 25.3% of the total purchases for the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge
of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any interest in these major customers and
suppliers.

DIRECTORS
During the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Directors were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
Mr. Liu Rongsheng
Mr. Wang Jun
Mr. Zhang Weijie
(appointed on 7 May 2018)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex
Mr. Wu Zhao
Mr. Lam Cheok Va

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the articles of association (the “Articles”).

In accordance with article 141 of the Articles, Mr. Chan
Chi Yuen, Mr. Liu Rongsheng and Mr. Wu Zhao, will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 19
to 22 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

A list of the names of the directors of the Company’s
subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of this report
can be found in the Company’s website at www.royalcentury.
hk.

DIRECTORS’' SERVICE CONTRACTS

During the year under review, each Director has a service
contract or letter of appointment with the Company for an
initial term of two to three years and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles
of Association. Save as disclosed above, none of the
Directors has a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

AND COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year under review and up to the date of this
report, Directors’ interest in any business apart from the
Group's business, which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business that
need to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 11.04 of the GEM
Listing Rules were as follows:

Director
2=

Name of company
NGRS

Nature of business
EBHE

EEEHRE

EENEE
EFNEERBARAFEREETH2
B o

MEBARES
RAFERARBERAREB ZAAGMBELR
AlZERERMNIKRE HERARR R
www.royalcentury.hk

EENRBEEN

REBEFAR FEFEEARARRILREE
MRRES NPERR-_E=F LARRK
ERNAEREREINEERE R ECREIN
MESFEARRE RAEMNEBRRFILTA
HARER -—FRAKRILEMBRTINEE X
ERERIRBADAEES -

EENRECNNERERREER
ZFE

REEFAREEAREL EFHRER
5 B 37 B B ok TR B W RO S S T RE B R
FrAMER (BASEEEBIN FHEER
HBGEM LR RIS 11.041678 T #1 58 MO HE 25 40
—|T:

Nature of interests
ERME

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
fRERLE

Noble Century Investments
Holdings Limited (“Noble
Century”) and its subsidiaries
CIREEERBRA A
(MEwmiEED R

HMtE QA

Mr. Liu Rongsheng
DAL E

China Ocean Fishing Holdings

subsidiaries
FEDGFBEIERBR A A
(MpEg*]) &

HWB AR

Money lending business
AEE

Money lending business
Limited (“China Ocean”) and its K& %1%

Executive director and
chief executive officer
of Noble Century
CHREZHITEER
T HE

Chairman, executive
director and chief
executive officer of
China Ocean
FEEFEZERE-
HMITES RITHRAER
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As the Board is independent to the boards of directors of the
abovementioned companies, the Group is capable of carrying
on its business independently to, and at arm'’s length, from
the business of those companies.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors was interested
in any business (apart from the Group’s business) which
competed or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group during the year.

INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS IN

CONTRACTS AND COMPETING INTERESTS
There was no contract of significance between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and a shareholder (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries, at any time
during the year under review.

A deed of non-competition dated 7 July 2014 was executed
by Genius Idea Holdings Limited in favour of the Company
regarding certain non-competition undertakings given by a
shareholder in favour of the Company. The details of the deed
of non-competition have been disclosed in the Prospectus.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the year ended
31 March 2019.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees and senior
management of the Group is set up by the remuneration
committee of the Company. Further details of emolument
policy are set out in Management Discussion and Analysis on
page 17 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST

EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the directors and five
individuals with highest emoluments are set out in note 14
and note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) in making mandatory provident fund contributions for
its Hong Kong employees.

Information on the Group's retirement benefits schemes is
set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OF THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OF ANY ASSOCIATED

CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2019, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company (the “Chief Executive”) had any
interests or short positions in the shares of the Company (the
“Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings
by directors of listed issuer as referred to in rule 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
At no time during the year ended 31 March 2019 was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in the Company or any
other body corporate.

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2019 had the
Directors and the Chief Executive (including their spouses
and children under 18 years of age) any interest in, or been
granted, or exercised any rights to subscribe for the shares
(or warrants or debentures, is applicable) of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO).
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF

THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2019, so far as is known to the Directors and
the Chief Executive and based on the public records filed on
the website of the Stock Exchange and records kept by the
Company, the interest and short positions of the persons
or corporations (other than the Directors and the Chief
Executive) in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in

the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO

were as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company
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Approximate

percentage
Capacity/Nature of Number of of the issued
Name of shareholder interests in capital Shares held Shares
HEBTREZ
RRES B/ REEALE FisR6H 88 BOBEDH
Superb Smart Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 81,440,000 18.70%
Superb Smart Limited (Fft51) EREAA
Ms. Zheng Juhua (Note 1) Interest of a controlled corporation 81,440,000 18.70%
Byt + (M) REEGER 2 5
Time Vanguard Holdings Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 50,000,000 11.48%
Time Vanguard Holdings Limited (Fff52) ERBEEA
China Huarong International Holdings Limited (Note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 50,000,000 11.48%
hEERBRERERAA (MF2) REEGEE 2 5
Huarong Real Estate Co., Ltd. (Note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 50,000,000 11.48%
ERELARELAT (Ki2) REEGER 2 B
China Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. (Note 2) Interest of a controlled corporation 50,000,000 11.48%
FREREEEERONERAA (ME2) REEGEE 2 i
Mr. Wang Shengdong Beneficial owner 45,484,000 10.44%
FEREAE EREAA
Quantum Prosperity Fund (formerly, Taiping Quantum Beneficial owner 30,156,000 6.92%
Prosperity Fund)
Quantum Prosperity Fund ( #i## Taiping Quantum ERBEAA
Prosperity Fund)
Noble Century Investment Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 23,980,000 5.51%

ChREBRARD

EREAA
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Notes:

1. 81,440,000 Shares are registered in the name of Superb Smart
Limited, which is wholly-owned by Ms. Zheng Juhua. Accordingly,
Ms. Zheng Juhua is deemed to be interested in the relevant Shares
under the SFO.

2. 50,000,000 Shares are registered in the name of Time Vanguard
Holdings Limited, which is wholly-owned by China Huarong
International Holdings Limited (“Huarong International”). Huarong
International is a jointly-owned as to 11.9% by Huarong Zhiyuan
Investment & Management Co., Ltd. (“Huarong Zhiyuan”) and 88.1%
by Huarong Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Huarong Real Estate”). Each of
Huarong Zhiyuan and Huarong Real Estate is wholly-owned by
China Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“China Huarong”).

Accordingly, each of Huarong International, Huarong Real Estate
and China Huarong is deemed to be interested in the relevant
Shares under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, there was
no person or corporation (other than the Directors and the
Chief Executive) who had any interest or short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF

SHARES

During the year ended 31 March 2019, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company's securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group
or existed during the year ended 31 March 2019.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme enables the Company to grant
options to any full time or part time employee of the
Company or any member of the Group (the “Eligible
Participant(s)”) as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group. The Company conditionally
adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 30 June
2014 whereby the Board are authorised, at their absolute
discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme, to grant
options to subscribe for the shares (the “Shares”) of the
Company to the Eligible Participant. The Scheme will be valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing from the
date of adoption of the Scheme.
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As at 31 March 2019, the total number of the Shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 30,000,000 Shares,
representing 10% of the issued Shares (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit") of the aggregate number of Shares in issue
immediately upon completion of the listing of the Shares on
18 July 2014 and representing 6.89% of the issued Shares as
at 31 March 2019.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for Shares
granted pursuant to the Scheme (the “Option”), the Eligible
Participant shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant. The Option will be offered for
acceptance for a period of 21 days from the date on which
the Option is granted. The subscription price for the Shares
subject to Options will be a price determined by the Board
and notified to each participant and shall not be less than the
highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the Options, which must be a day on which trading of the
Shares take place on the Stock Exchange (the “Trading Day”);
and (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the 5 Trading
Days immediately preceding the date of grant of the Options.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that
the total number of Shares which may issue upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Scheme does not exceed
the Scheme Mandate Limit. The Company may at any time
refresh such limit, subject to the shareholders’ approval and
the issue of a circular in compliance with the GEM Listing
Rules, provided that the total number of Shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under all the share option schemes of
the Company does not exceed 30% of the Shares in issued at
the time. An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the
date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof.

Since the adoption of the Scheme, no share option has been
granted by the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended
31 March 2019, the Company has maintained the public float
required by the GEM Listing Rules.

R-ZE-NAF=A=+—R REZ &7
31T 2 B {7 42 81 7330,000,000/% - 1H A —F
—mELATN\BRG LR ZE#ET
Bein 210% ([EHEIXERE]) - ARMER =
E-NF=A=+—HEETKRNHZ6.89% °

REMRIBEZ T BT R A R D 2 X
B(IBERE] R G8R2EEARNART
1008 T EREREREZRE-B
Rz EMP AR L BREE BEF210 8
B-BREZENBBEEKDESTSET
THes2EE BRIAEERTISEEZ
EmE: (MELBEESR (BERRNR
BXMEEZBET ([XRH5A]))MIMEA
WERAEZBOBETE: RINNBEER D
BREEZAMABARZ ABIMEARER
Ptz B fn F i &

ARE M TRMNEITERE HEREZ
AR TROZMEBRERTEERN] TH#T
ZBRINBE TEEELTHRASEITRN
Z10% © 15 B R AL A AR 1R GEM L iy A5 B 3%
3 R 1R - AN B A] BE R AT ERR - MERR
BARAZEHBERETEMREMARFITR
ZIIBERITERBRBETERY TRITZK
DRE NMEBAERD BTN Z30% - i
BERZZAERTINETEET < HANR
BRI PR SBELREBRERS
Eat+F  HEAXRERERXARR -

Bz et B ERA AR AR RHER BB
&

RANRERE

REARARHREZEHREEEFRA
REE-F-NE=A=+—ALEE &
AR - ERFCEMETRABREHARER

=
EL @



Annual Report 2018/2019 —Z— )\ /= ZE—hEERE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
considers all the independent non-executive Directors
were independent during the period from their respective
appointments and up to 31 March 2019.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The transactions as set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements were connected transactions which
were exempt from any disclosure and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As far as the transactions set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements are concerned, the
remuneration of the Directors as determined pursuant to
the service contracts/letters of appointment entered into
between the Directors and the Group were connected
transactions which were exempt from any disclosure and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors have confirmed that the Company has
complied with the disclosure requirement in accordance with
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company's articles of association provide that the
Directors are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and
profits of the Company against all action, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they may incur or sustain in
the execution of the duties of their office.

During the year, the Company has put in place as appropriate
insurance cover in respect of Directors’ liabilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company maintains a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Details of the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 23 to 39. The
Directors believe the long term financial performance as
opposed to short term rewards is a corporate governance
objective. The Board would not take undue risks to make
short term gains at the expense of the long term objectives.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to observe the relevant laws and
regulations. The Group has appointed a compliance officer
and an external compliance adviser to oversee compliance
with all relevant regulations.

The Group has complied with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
throughout the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group is set out in the five years financial summary on
page 196 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with
the management and the Company’'s external auditor the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group,
and discussed the auditing, internal control and financial
reporting process including the review of financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2019.

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2017,
2018 and 2019 have been audited by Reanda Lau & Au Yeung
(HK) CPA Limited (“Reanda”) who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Reanda as the auditors of the Company is to
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

By Order of the Board
Chan Chi Yuen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 June 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

I. REANDA

REANDA LAU & AU YEUNG (HK) CPA LIMITED
MREZERE(EE)BMEBMERAS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”)
set out on pages 83 to 195, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

J Revenue recognition from contracts with customers
o Valuation of investment property

o Impairment assessment of intangible assets and
goodwill
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

B B R

FAREITEE (&)

Key Audit Matters
BERETSBE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BPnMEEERENSE

Revenue recognition from contracts with customers

HEFANZHBARER

The Group recorded revenue from contracts with
customers in relation to the provision of fitting
out and engineering services and design and
procurement of furnishings and related products
services totalling HK$19,016,000 for the year ended
31 March 2019.
RBEE-—ZE—NF=ZA=+—ALFE" BEE
RERERIERBNEHIRFHRBRARERE
MR 815 & H iz & £ 7519,016,0007 7T

Contract revenue is recognised progressively over
time using the input method and output method.
B AW A B A KT8 AR R IR EE R o

Contract revenue recognised progressively over
time using the input method is based on the
Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligation, by reference to the
construction cost incurred up to the end of the
period as a percentage of estimated total contract
costs. The estimated total contract costs involve
management’s estimation of the material costs and
labour costs.

EHREEETE EEEATHKENEEMEER
THIBA TR2EHEZEEARERBHEEANS
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Contract revenue recognised progressively over
time using the output method is based on direct
measurements of the value of services delivered
or surveys of work performed and the estimated
total revenue for the contracts entered into by the
Group.

EHREEETE ESEERNRBEHIERBITAE
TEMEBE UAREFTVHEAMETWEAE &5
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of
revenue recognition from contracts with customers
include:
?ﬁ@ﬁé%Z%Aﬁ%ﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁ%ﬁH%Eﬁﬁ
5

o Assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the contract revenue recognition processes,

o  IEAANEEREFYEZNBEITMRE
WITRBIEKR

o Discussing with management the performance
of contracts in progress during the year, on a
sample basis, and challenging the key estimates
and assumptions adopted in the forecasts for
contract revenue and contract costs, including
estimated costs to completion, the recognition
of variation orders, the adequacy of contingency
provisions and the assessment of potential
liquidated and ascertained damages for contracts
which were behind schedule, by obtaining and
evaluating relevant information in connection
to the assumptions adopted, including contract
agreements and subcontracts, correspondence
with customers regarding contract variations and
claims and by considering historical outcomes
for similar contracts;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FAREITEE (&)

Key Audit Matters
BRETSBE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BPnMEEERENSE

Revenue recognition from contracts with customers (Continued)

HEFENZWARR (&)

Management reviews and revises the estimates
of contract revenue, contract costs and variation
orders for each construction contract by
comparing the most current budgeted amounts
with corresponding actual amounts as the contract
work progresses.

EEESRANIRER BAMRFIMHNER
SHEREENERSHE EUREITSNHEESRN
WEHKE AR AREHESHMHEE -

For this reason, we identified the revenue

recognition from contracts with customers as a key

audit matter.
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Obtaining a detailed breakdown of the total
estimated costs to completion for all contracts
in progress during the year and comparing, on
a sample basis, actual costs incurred to the
reporting date and future cost estimates with
agreements, certifications or correspondence
with subcontractors and suppliers and other
documentation referred to by management
in its assessment of the estimated costs to
completion;
BMEFAMEERES NN T KN EENT
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For all projects in progress at the reporting
date, challenging the assumptions and critical
judgements made by management which
impacted their estimations of the liquidated and
ascertained damages assessments by comparing
the key terms and conditions in the assessments
with contract agreements with customers and
by comparing the estimated contract completion
time with the Group’s updated progress report or
correspondence from customers;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) FAEETEIE &)
Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BMREHEE RMMAEEERETSE

Revenue recognition from contracts with customers (Continued)
HEFEHNZWARR (£)

o Comparing the contract revenue recognised
for contracts in progress during the year, on a
sample basis, with reference to the certifications
from the surveyors appointed by the customers;
and

e MHMBEKFARERSGHERNEGORGZLHBE
PZE®RSMMAELISE MQ%SUEF M

o Inspecting a sample of contract agreements with
customers and subcontractors to identify key
terms and conditions, including the contracting
parties, the contract period, the contract
sum, the scope of work, the methodology for
calculating liquidated and ascertained damages,
and evaluating whether these key terms and
conditions had been appropriately reflected
in the total estimated revenue and costs to
complete in the forecast of the outcome of the
contracts.

e HERTHEPES \LPEETSZE’\J%%’UT%%%'ME%%%U
E;ﬁb’??ﬁ&{bﬂ-’? @%ETZ’W‘? BRIME &80
B IE®RE FtE i&ﬁ&m%@iﬁ"tmﬁﬁ
ARFIEETRRENERE FBrlaE kT IK
N BEREEEZARBZEFEBRIRMBEME-
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FAREITEE (&)

Key Audit Matters
BRETSBE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BPnMEEERENSE

Valuation of investment property
REWME 2 FMH

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has investment
property of HK$28,200,000.
RZZE—NF=ZA=+—8"
£28,200,000/% 7T °

EEEEREME

The net changes in fair value of investment
properties recorded in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income was HK$3,200,000.
BHE_Z-NF=ZA=1T—"HLFE REEE2HE
WRXRNINGHNREDNENIABEED RFHE
3,200,000/ 7T °

The fair value of investment property as at 31
March 2019 was assessed by the board of directors
based on independent valuation prepared by a
qualified external property valuer based on certain
estimates, including market prices, prevailing
market rents for comparable properties in the
same location and condition, expected future
market rents and appropriate discount rates.
RZE-NF=ZA=+—H EF2EREEBHN
HYEGEMERNB I AESTE TREMED
ARABE GERIINBDEGBINBELEESZE
RETFEARER REWE  F— MBI T
EmENEEMSES BARKTEHEELEE
IR K o

For this reason, we identified the valuation of
investment property as a key audit matter.

it MBI EMEZHBEAL " BEAETNS
TH o

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of
investment property include:
HIREWME 2 EHE KAAEREOEFBE:

Evaluating the independent qualified professional
valuer’s competence, capabilities and objectivity
and reviewing their terms of engagement with

the Group;
AEBUEEREEGLEM I EOIRESR

M- UEMER BEEEZTRER:

Meeting with the valuer to understand the
valuation techniques adopted by the valuer,
obtaining the valuation report for property
measured at fair value, and assessing the
relevance and reasonableness of valuation
technigues used by the valuer; and

EEHNER (B A& T DA TR AR R E R0 ER A 2 (i (B R
MERR AT EFENYEMERS W HEE
AT AMERT 2 EAEREENE: &

Evaluating the appropriateness of the key input
data used in the determination of fair value; and
comparing the key inputs to supporting evidence
such as recent sale transaction on the market.
AEREEATERMEACERABERES
BE S WRBREABIBESFRE (WMERO
HZHERXS)ELE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

B B R

FAREITEE (&)

Key Audit Matters
BERETSBE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BPnMEEERENSE

Impairment assessment of intangible assets and goodwill

BEEERBERENMG

As of 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of
intangible assets included securities licenses of
HK$18,738,000 and cross-boundary vehicle licence
of HK$1,814,000, and goodwill of HK$2,721,000
which arose mainly from (i) acquisition of
subsidiaries and (ii) purchase of assets through the
acquisition of a subsidiary.
RZE—NF=A=+—H - BEEBERE()KENS
RAIR(NVABWENBARIBEEELXNELE
ERHEEEE SR 5 R AHKS18,738,0007% 7T &
HR S B8 8 b FR R1,814,00078 7T K P& A2,721,000
BT o

The Group is required to, at least annually, perform
impairment assessments of goodwill and intangible
assets that have an indefinite useful life.
EEEEFAYRERAERARCAFHCERE
EETRER -

In carrying out the impairment assessment,
all intangible assets and goodwill have been
allocated to groups of cash generating unit
("CGUs"). Significant judgements and assumption
are required by management of the Group in
assessing the recoverable amounts of all intangible
assets and goodwill. The recoverable amounts are
determined with reference to (i) the fair value less
cost of disposal which require significant estimates
by reference to the comparables selected and (ii)
the value-in-use calculations, which are required to
estimate the future cash flows of the CGU and to
determine the assumptions, including the revenue
growth rates, gross margin and long term growth
rate used in the cash flow projections and the
discount rate applied to bring the future cash flows
back to their present values.

EETREN GRS SEXESEMEELEER
BESEZFEFNRESELSN BEEEETEEN
HEREEEREENKRBSEEELERS
BT R R o A E £ B2 30)Z R FEREERAE
(B2EZLHEAELRIBR BRELEXRGE) KI)
BEZHEREENE TERGAEREELEEN
WARRRSME UEETRK BERESREEAF
FEANBABRE ENERERAREE UKARE
RKBFRRITREAREMERITIRE -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessments on the intangible assets and goodwill
included:

MEVEERFERERN S ZAFRRNEF B

Evaluating the independent qualified professional
valuer’s competence, capabilities and objectivity
and reviewing their terms of engagement with
the Group;
TEBYSGERBEGBEM TR EIREH
M- WEMER BEEEZTRER:
Obtaining the external valuation reports and
meeting with the external valuer to discuss and
challenge the valuation process, methodologies
used and market evidence to support significant
judgements and assumptions applied in the
valuation model including discount rates and
growth rates;

HGSNER (B RS - W BN SR (A & - DA &Y
HERE EANMERE XHEXRABNTS
BE URGEELAEANRRE (BFEMRER
BRER) WRHEER:

Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation
model;
ERAEERYUNEMERE

Checking key assumptions and input data in the
valuation model to supporting evidence;
EZRHERUNBERBERBASBEAIIEFE
&

Comparing the forecasted sales and gross
margin with actual historical financial data; and
TR ET 4 6 U AN 1) 82 5 B 7S SURETTLL B
&
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FAREITEE (&)

Key Audit Matters
BRETSBE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BPnMEEERENSE

Impairment assessment of intangible assets and goodwill (Continued)

BRNEERBEBRENL (&)

Management engaged an independent qualified
professional valuer to prepare valuation reports
for the assessment of the recoverable amount
of all intangible assets and goodwill based on its
fair value less costs of disposal and the value-in-
use calculation of the assets, which involved the
exercise of significant judgement and estimation.
EREREAERINBEERT R (E RS AR
ERERVEEREENFINERE FEFER
REEAATERBRLERAREEZERAEETHE
ZIBRE W KRB R BRI R AEET -

For this reason, we identified the impairment
assessment of intangible assets and goodwill as a
key audit matter.

Fit ZMBANBETLEERGBREN AR —HE
REFEIE-

Obtaining and performing sensitivity analysis
around the key assumptions, to ascertain that
selected adverse changes to key assumptions,
both individually and in aggregate, would not
cause the carrying amount of intangible assets
and goodwill to exceed the recoverable amount.
FEEE 7t B 4 R AR HH BV BRI DA - DA TE ¥9 8
REZETNHIAINE L BREFESER L Y
TEEYEVEERMEZREEEBB A B UK
Gkl
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the
information in the Group’s 2019 annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the Other Information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this Other Information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITY OF DIRECTORS’
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

B B R

/\mﬁ;l—ll_n
BERARESFAHHMEREAE HMELE
B_Z-NFHRANAEELS  BETEBER
AUBERE BRI EBMERE -

BPHHGEEMBRRNBER L MR EEME
B BN TEHZEREMESERTAFLN

Y EE B 4 ©
4 A

BEBRMBGEAMBHREANES HMANE
ERMBBEMES HIBRED  EEEME
BEREGEAMBHRRABMERFBRES
TR R B A B E DT A B A
5EER R AL HY 1B - %EAﬁﬁE%ﬂﬁE’\JI{’E'
MRBFIRBEMEL LR ERERRAL
BB EREZ %FOELEE BIFPRAEE
¥R & -
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BERAEFARERBEREAGMAEMR
ot (BB SRS LR REB (2K
) MEBZRBHEEEMP SRS MBS
HR THERRREGEAMBHRENEE
A 15 B RO HREF S 88 3R T 28 B EA SR AR IR
AFABEORNFEFEE -
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B ZHENHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the company’s internal control.

MBI RS M B RRA

Bl §
BfE

=B
Ea

BMWER THRAMBEREREL L
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
company to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities on business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Franklin Lau Shiu Wai

Practising Certificate Number: P01886

Hong Kong
12 June 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GEBEEREMZEKRER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 THEx FHET
Revenue g 7 28,150 33,097
Cost of sales 6 AR (20,503) (29,686)
Gross profit E 7 7,647 3,411
Other income H A 9 1,423 959
Other gains/(losses), net Hinlzs, (BE) F8 10 19 -
Increase in fair value of an "EYERNFELN
investment property 19 3,200 2,500
Administrative expenses THRX (32,143) (34,698)
Finance costs A& B AR 11 (85) (161)
Loss before tax FRIATEE (19,939) (27,989)
Income tax expense FBRAZ 12 (135) (104)
Loss for the year attributable to RARHE AEIEFEEE
owners of the Company 13 (20,074) (28,093)
Other comprehensive income/ AEFAEMDE
(expenses) for the year gk, (FAX)
Iitems that may be reclassified HEAEEF P EE B
subsequently to profit or 10Ss: ZHEE :
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINEBESE
translation of foreign operations ZENZ5E (91) 289
Total comprehensive expenses KAREE ANEBGEE
for the year attributable FHERAZARE
to owners of the Company (20,165) (27,804)
Loss per share FREE
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BEARREE (B) 17 (5.17) (7.74)

The notes on pages 89 to 195 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

FRIZF1BANMERZE
KRR BB 2D o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBARRE

Asat 31 March 2019 HZ==—ZF—h&=A=+—H

2019 2018
—EBE-hEF —E—N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M aE TExT FAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment BB K i& A 18 6,227 3,332
Investment property "EME 19 28,200 25,000
Goodwill GRS 20 2,721 854
Intangible assets mREE 21 20,552 20,614
57,700 49,800
Current assets MENEE
Loan and interest receivables EBWEZREF L 22 5,962 24,227
Inventories TE 23 975 1,408
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H bW ERIA 24 19,212 6,990
Contract assets AHEE 26(a) 5,170 =
Amounts due from customers EEFEHITIENRIE
for contract work 25 - 163
Tax recoverable AR B F IR 60 =
Pledged bank deposit EEMRITER 27 - 300
Cash and bank balances HE RIBITHEES 27 27,009 41,277
58,388 74,365
Current liabilities mBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENFIE 28 7,619 2,962
Contract liabilities EHEaE 26(b) 109 =
Amounts due to customers EREFAELHTIENIE
for contract work 25 - 166
Income tax payable FERTFR1S R 25 157
Obligation under a finance lease B E M EAE 29 - 90
Secured bank borrowing B RITEE 30 - 6,689
7,753 10,064
Net current assets FEREAEE 50,635 64,301
Total assets less current liabilities REERTHDEE 108,335 114,101
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
maBRRE

Asat31March2019 BE_T—hF=A=+—H

2019 2018
—EBE-hEF —E—N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M aE TExT FAT
Equity 7 7

Share capital A& 7 32 168,887 154,851
Reserves w1 (64,474) (44,067)
Total equity B 104,413 110,784

Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIERE 31 3,452 3,317
Other payables H th & 5RI8 28 470 -
3,922 3,317
108,335 114,101

The consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to 195 IR ESIHEFISHE ZHFAUBRERE
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of MZ-ZT—hFNA+_HEKEZ=SHELRK

directors on 12 June 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: BHEILTIEEREREE
Chan Chi Yuen Liu Rongsheng
BREE 2184
Director Director
Ea Ea

The notes on pages 89 to 195 are an integral part of these ZFE89ZEF1SE MM AXSHEATBHRE
consolidated financial statements. R4 R B 5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—h"WF=A=-+—HIEFE

Share  Accumulated Exchange
capital losses reserve Total
BA 5 B e ‘s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FET FET FEL
(Note 32)
(M #£32)
At 1 April 2017 RZZE—+FWMA—H 154,851 (15,941) (322) 138,588
Loss for the year AEEEE - (28,093) - (28,093)
Other comprehensive income AUBEMEZESH
for the year - - 289 289
Total comprehensive expenses AEEREILEE
for the year - (28,093) 289 (27,804)
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 R-E-NE=R=+-HBRK
“E-\FmA—H 154,851 (44,034) (33) 110,784
Impact on initial application MRERBBHBREER
of HKFRS 9 (note 2(b)) FORMFE (MF2b)) - (242) S (242)
Adjusted balance as at 1 April 2018 ~ R=ZT—N\FEA—BH
RS 154,851 (44,276) (33) 110,542
Loss for the year rEEEE - (20,074) - (20,074)
Other comprehensive expense AFEEEES LA
for the year - - (91) (91)
Total comprehensive expense AEERZEIHLER
for the year - (20,074) (91) (20,165)
Issue of new shares under placing REREETHRN 14,520 - - 14,520
Transaction costs attributable to BITHROEE IR HEA
issue of new shares (484) - - (484)
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE-NF=ZA=+—H 168,887 (64,350) (124) 104,413
The notes on pages 89 to 195 are an integral part of these Z8IEF15BEMM T A SR MBHRE

consolidated financial statements.

By AR AR ER D o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B FExT FEIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETEE
Loss before tax BB A 1B (19,939) (27,989)
Adjustments for: A
Impairment of intangible assets mEEERE 21 62 -
Increase in fair value of an WEWERNTFEEM
investment property 19 (3,200) (2,500)
Allowance for expected credit loss on B 5 FE W IR 78 A
trade receivables FEBERE 24 93 -
Impairment loss on trade receivables 2 5 EWHIBRERE 24 - 4,838
Written off of trade and other B 5N H WA
receivables i BR - 669
Reversal of impairment loss recognised 5t & 5 K H 4t JE Uy 218
on trade and other receivables ERBEBERE 24 - (43)
Reversal of allowance for expected FEUERLMEEHREER
credit loss on loan and interest 5 18 78 1 o %
receivable 22 (58) -
Depreciation of plant and equipment BEMEETE 18 1,979 1,362
Finance costs BB A A 11 85 161
Bank interest income RITHF B WA (31) 67)
Written off of plant and equipment R ] 10 =
Gain on disposal of plant and HEBRE Rz W
equipment (91) -
Operating cash flows before LEEeEHR LS
movements in working capital Re) i‘% (21,090) (23,569)
Decrease in inventories FERY 995 6,624
Decrease in loan receivables JEHSZT,TA/UW 18,081 1,853
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 R EMEWFRIE
other receivables (#hn) R (12,302) 4,819
Decrease in amount due FEU — % = 2R KIER A
from a substantial shareholder - 5
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B 5 R EHMmEMNRIE
other payables /(R 4,185 (1,279)
Decrease in amounts due from JEWE P& 4 TERIER D
customers for contract work 163 9,909
Decrease in amounts due to customers ERNEP A4 TIRRIER >
for contract work (166) (353)
Increase in contract assets BHEERN (5,170) =
Increase in contract liabilities AHE &L 109 -
Cash used in operations KEACRS (15,195) (1,991)
Hong Kong Profits Tax (B REEE
(paid)/refunded, net FEH F8 (192) 161
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETEHFAZFES
ACTIVITIES (15,387) (1,830)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mEHERER
For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—h"WF=A=-+—HIEFE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B FExT FEIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETEH
Purchases of plant and equipment BERERZE (5,478) (2,446)
Proceeds from disposal of plant HEmE K& E S 5RIE
and equipment 124 -
Net cash outflow from acquisition WHEWB ARz RE R
of a subsidiary 58 34 (939) (12,275)
Net cash outflow from acquisition BRI B A B Wi
of assets through acquisition BEZHRSRNFRE
of a subsidiary 35 - (1,876)
Bank interest received BUEITH B 31 67
Decrease in pledged bank deposit E}fﬁ#ﬁfﬁﬁﬁmﬂ > 300 -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETEFMAZERS
ACTIVITIES (5,962) (16,530)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RESEE
Repayment of secured bank borrowing EEBEMBITEE (6,689) (275)
Interest paid ERFE (85) (161)
Repayment of obligation under fa%&mﬂﬁfﬁ &
a finance lease (90) (87)
Proceeds from issue of new BT EBRATERIE
ordinary shares 14,520 -
Transaction costs attributable BITHLEBEREGR S
to issue of new ordinary shares %N (484) =
NET CASH FROM/(USED IN) BEZBRE (FTA)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ZEEE 7,172 (523)
NET DECREASE IN CASH ReRBRESEENF
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS o (14,177) (18,883)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHzREeRBESEEY
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 41,277 60,027
EFFECT OF FOREIGN ExSH o HE
EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES (91) 133
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHRZEERESEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR
represented by bank balances and BIRTHEB LIRS
cash 27,009 41,277

>U§\H’IP
48

At
U>

The notes on pages 89 to 195 are an integral part of these %895%1955%[911 = & B 1%

consolidated financial statements. By 48 X 26
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Annual Report 2018/2019 —Z— )\ /= ZE—hEERE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in Hong Kong as a
company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the corporate information
section to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in (i) provision of fitting out and
engineering services (previously known as “provision
of design and fitting out services”) comprising design
and fitting out services and other engineering works
and maintenance services, (ii) provision of design
and procurement of furnishings and related products
services (previously known as “provision of design and
procurement of furnishings and decorative materials
services”), (iii) money lending, and (iv) sourcing and
merchandising of fine and rare wines. The Group
holds licences to carry on Type 1, 4 and 9 regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
the financial services business (previously known as
“securities business”) comprising provision of advising
on securities and securities dealing and brokerage
services and asset management services, which has not
yet commenced operation during the year. In addition,
the Group established a warehouse and entered into
a master agreement with a supplier for purchase of
scaffolding equipment during the year. The Group
expects the leasing of construction equipment business
will be commenced in the coming quarter.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in thousands ("HK$'000”) of Hong Kong dollars
("HKS$"), unless otherwise stated, which is also the
functional currency of the Company and its Hong Kong
subsidiaries. Other than those Hong Kong subsidiaries,
the functional currency of subsidiaries established in
Singapore and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") is
denominated in Singapore dollars (“SGD") and Renminbi
("RMB”) respectively. These consolidated financial
statements have been approved for issue by the Board
of Directors on 12 June 2019.

1.
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CRERERARAR ([ARA])R
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% (A8 [ IR R RIRBE AR
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Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited {12 & RIZR B R A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M| RME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ=—Z—hGF=A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND

COMPANIES ORDINANCE

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and revised HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards ("HKAS(s)"), amendments

and interpretations (“Int(s)”), issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA").

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers
HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS 15
(Amendments)
HK (IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration

HKFRS 1 As part of the Annual Improvements
(Amendments) to HKFRS 2014-2016 Cycle

HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements
(Amendments) to HKFRS 2014-2016 Cycle

HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of
(Amendments) Share-based Payment Transactions

HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
(Amendments) Instruments with HKFRS 4

Insurance Contracts

HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property
(Amendments)

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR ME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND

COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continuea)
Except as described the impacts on adoption of
HKFRS 9 and HKRFS 15 below, the application of the
above new or revised standards, amendments and
interpretations in the current year has had no material
effect on the amounts reported in these consolidated
financial statements and/or disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Impacts and changes in accounting policies
on application of HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments

HKFRS 9 replaces the current standard on accounting
for financial instruments, HKAS 39, Financial
instruments. Recognition and Measurement. HKFRS
9 introduces new requirements for classification
and measurement of financial assets, calculation of
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.
On the other hand, HKFRS 9 incorporates without
substantive changes the requirements of HKAS 39 for
recognition and derecognition of financial instruments
and the classification of financial liabilities.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to items
that existed at 1 April 2018 in accordance with the
transition requirements. The Group has recognised the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment
to the opening equity at 1 April 2018. Therefore,
comparative information continues to be reported under
HKAS 39.

2.

FERFE] R RIERT 2 BB
BREER ([EBYBER
S8 |) kD EMEB (2)

HELA TPt & AR 2 BB A 15 ¥R 5 2RISR
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ERFEIRSIASREENENE
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Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited {12 & RIZR B R A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ=—Z—hGF=A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continuea)
Impacts and changes in accounting policies
on application of HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (Continued)

Expected impacts of the new requirements on the

Group’s consolidated financial statements are as
follows:

(a)

Classification and measurement

HKFRS 9 contains three principal classification
categories for financial assets: measured at (1)
amortised cost, (2) fair value through profit or
loss (FVTPL) and (3) fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCI). The classification
is determined based on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial assets.

On 1 April 2018 (the date of initial application of
HKFRS 9), the Group’s management has assessed
which business models apply to the financial
assets held by the Group and has classified its
financial instruments into the appropriate HKFRS 9
categories.

The financial assets currently held by the Group
include debt instruments previously classified
as loans and receivables which continue to
be measured at amortised cost under HKFRS
9. Accordingly, there is no impact on the
classification and measurement of its financial
assets.

There will be no impact on the Group's accounting
for financial liabilities, as the HKFRS 9 only affect
the accounting for financial liabilities that are
designated at fair value through profit or loss and
the Group does not have any such liabilities. The
derecognition rules have been transferred from
HKAS 39 and have not been changed.

The Group did not designate or redesighate any
financial asset or financial liability at FVTPL.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continuea)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies
on application of HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (Continued)

(b)

Impairment

The new impairment model in HKFRS 9 replaces
the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39 with an
“expected credit loss” model. Under the expected
credit loss (“ECL") model, it will no longer be
necessary for a loss event to occur before an
impairment 10ss is recognised. Instead, an entity
is required to recognise and measure expected
credit losses as either 12-month expected
credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses,
depending on the asset and the facts and
circumstances. This new impairment model may
result in an earlier recognition of credit losses on
the Group’s trade receivables and other financial
assets.

The following table summarises the impacts of
transition to HKFRS 9 on accumulated losses and
reserves at 1 April 2018.

FERFE] R RIERT 2 BB
BREER ([EBYBER
S8 |) kD EMEB (2)

FEREAMBRELUFIREMT
AENFERETBRED (&)

(b) RE

&8 B 7% i 2 Bl B9 A 2 FTR
BEEREAN TEHREEERE] RAM
REBGERIFEIR 2 [BEL
BEIRK - RERHEEERER
A BABFEREBREHRE
RMEBE MMz BREEAR
BEEREERRAI12(EAES
EEBERREMAREEEERE
REGTERBEERERE - FRER
AAREEHAKE R ENRE
B8 -

TR R E B W% WS 2R
FIORH _T-N\FOA—BHZR
AAEEREEOTE-

HK$'000
FETT
Accumulated losses E-
Recognition of additional expected credit RUTSEERBEINEREEER
losses on
— Loan and interest receivables —EWEREF B 242
Net increase in accumulated losses at RZE-\FEOA—HH
1 April 2018 RETEBBIEINFERE 242
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—h"WF=A=-+—HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. &
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING &
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND &
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continuea)

M
Al J ) &R EMRB (2

REBET 2 B R
([ & 78 #H

Impacts and changes in accounting policies EREBMEHRELERNEIRERMT
on application of HKFRS 9 Financial ANFEREHBXES (£)
Instruments (Continued)
(b) Impairment (Continued) (b) WEE) )
The following table reconciles the closing TRARBEB G AR FE399E
allowance for impairment of loan and interest R —_E-N\E=ZA=+_—HEE
receivables determined in accordance with ) 5 oK 78 LU S 3R K LB R IER (B
HKAS 39 as at 31 March 2018 with the opening BREHABEBEE SV BRELENSE
allowance for impairment of loan and interest 9N T — /\iEH—EIE-%EE’U
receivables determined in accordance with HKFRS HA 170 e WS 3R % I B BRI R (B B
9 as at 1 April 2018. HHEER -
HK$'000
FETT
Allowance for impairment of loan and EWERRFNERERERE
interest receivables
Allowance for impairment of loan and $ETF%.5/% TR ZE 3R M
interest receivables at 31 March 2018 T-NF=ZHA=+— 2 ]
under HKAS 39 R % . 2 M B =
Additional credit loss recognised at R-_FT—\FN A BERH
1 April 2018 BIMEEEE 242
Allowance for impairment of loan and BIEE BB RE LR FER
interest receivables at 1 April 2018 RZE—N\FEA—HH
under HKFRS 9 JE W E 3k e N SRR TR R (B B 242

For trade receivables, retention money receivables
and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified
model of recognising lifetime ECL as these items
do not have a significant financing component.
The Group uses its historical experience, external
indicators and forward-looking information to
calculate the expected credit losses. As at 1
April 2018, no additional credit loss allowance
has been recognised against accumulated losses
and respective assets since certain of the trade
receivables as at 31 March 2018 have been
impaired and the impacts on adoption of HKFRS 9
on remaining trade receivables, retention money

RESMNTE BKRESRA
HEEMS - AEERAHEER
RREGEMISERE  HRRZ
HEYREABANS KR
B E B 25 SRR A
R S
—N\EMA—E AR 2 HER
RIAM A ERRE S ABE A
B mRR =T N\F=A=t—
R S 5 e oA 7 2
T8 7R 75 78 B 76 4R 25 S B 9% ¥
R-Z-N\F=A=t+—BHT
2 ESEMAE ERRRERE

receivables and contract assets as at 31 March HNEERBEARZE
2018 was not significant.
While bank balances and cash are also subject BRBITHEB MRS MARE S

to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Except as described above, the application of
HKFRS 9 has had no material impact on the
amounts reported set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

Eﬁ%#&%ﬁ?ﬁﬂ%%fﬁﬂ’\]ﬁzfﬁﬁm&ﬁ
37% EHEBINREBRSLTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continuea)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies
on application of HKFRS 15 Revenue from

Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
recognising revenue and some costs from contracts
with customers. HKFRS 15 replaces HKAS 18, Revenue,
which covered revenue arising from sale of goods
and rendering of services, and HKAS 11, Construction
Contracts, which specified the accounting for
construction contracts.

The Group has elected to use the cumulative effect
transition method and has recognised the cumulative
effect of initial application as an adjustment to the
opening balance of equity at 1 April 2018. Therefore,
comparative information has not been restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 11 and HKAS 18.

There is no significant impact of transition to HKFRS 15
on accumulated losses at 1 April 2018.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes
on previous accounting policies are set out below:

(i) Timing of revenue recognition

Previously, revenue arising from construction
contracts and provision of services was
recognised over time, whereas revenue from sale
of goods was generally recognised at a point in
time when the risks and rewards of ownership
of the goods had passed to the customers, while
interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains control of the promised good
or service in the contract. This may be at a single
point in time or over time. HKFRS 15 identifies the
following three situations in which control of the
promised good or service is regarded as being
transferred over time:

a.  When the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the
entity’'s performance, as the entity performs;

b.  When the entity’s performance creates or
enhances an asset (for example work in
progress) that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced;

c.  When the entity’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to the
entity and the entity has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to
date.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continuea)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies
on application of HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Continued)

(M

(i)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do
not fall into any of these 3 situations, then under
HKFRS 15 the entity recognises revenue for the
sale of that good or service at a single point in
time, being when control has passed. Transfer of
risks and rewards of ownership is only one of the
indicators that is considered in determining when
the transfer of control occurs.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have a
significant impact on the timing of revenue
recognition of the business of the Group.

Timing of recognition of contract costs
Under HKFRS 15, if the costs incurred in fulfilling
a contract with a customer are not within the
scope of another standard, assets shall only be
recognised if the costs incurred (i) relate directly
to a contract or an anticipated contract that can
be specifically identified; (ii) generate or enhance
resources of the entity that will be used in
satisfying performance obligations in the future;
and (iii) are expected to be recovered. Costs
that relate to satisfied performance obligations
(or partially satisfied performance obligations)
in the contracts and costs for which an entity
cannot distinguish whether the costs relate to
unsatisfied performance obligations or to satisfied
performance obligations shall be expensed as
incurred under HKFRS 15.

Previously, contract costs of the Group are
recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract, which was measured
by reference to the percentage of the estimated
total revenue for the contracts entered into by
the Group that have been performed to date.
Under HKFRS 15, contract costs that related to
satisfy performance obligations are expensed as
incurred. The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have
a significant impact on the timing of recognition of
contract costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continuea)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies
on application of HKFRS 15 Revenue from

Contracts with Customers (Continued)
(iii) Presentation of contract assets and

liabilities

Under HKFRS 15, a receivable is recognised
only if the Group has an unconditional right to
consideration. If the Group recognises the related
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to
the consideration for the promised goods and
services in the contract, then the entitlement
to consideration is classified as a contract
asset. Similarly, a contract liability, rather than
a payable, is recognised when a customer pays
consideration, or is contractually required to pay
consideration and the amount is already due,
before the Group recognises the related revenue.
For a single contract with the customer, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets
and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.

Previously, contract balances relating to
construction contracts in progress were presented
in the statement of financial position under
“amounts due from customers for contract work”
or "amounts due to customers for contract work”
respectively. Receivables for which the Group's
entitlement to the consideration was conditional
on achieving certain milestones or satisfactory
completion for retention period were presented in
the statement of financial position as “retention
money receivables” under “trade and other
receivables”.

To reflect these changes in presentation, the
Group has made the following adjustments at 1
April 2018, as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15:

a. “amounts due from customers for contract
work” and “retention money receivables”
under “trade and other receivables”
amounting to approximately HK$163,000 and
HK$1,844,000 respectively, are now included
under contract assets; and

b. “amounts due to customers for contract
work” amounting to approximately
HK$166,000 is now included under contract
liabilities.

e MR ME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

FERFE] R RIERT 2 BB
BREER ([EBYBER
S8 |) kD EMEB (2)

FERERMBREERNEISHERE
EFENNKBENRERSFTEE
BE (&)

(i) EHEEREENEY

BRI EMEERF 155 - BUGK
HESAEERAKENE RN
RERIBT 77 AT HERR o W AN SR BN A 49
R PT  RR E 7 am K IR 7S B (B AR
A SRR BT e SR AR A U s - A
RENENRIBRENEE-
B - & B RE R AR R YR Al
EPXNREXRAH EASMAR
BAzBEC RS AERSAD
BE (MFRMNFIR) -BEEP
ME—SHME 2IENEEF
BIANEBEFR -ZHEHM
5 THEBASHONANEERED
BETERFRELEED -

PATE - ELETTR MRS R AR
BRBEBRRMBIRERS [ RIS
FEHNIRFEIXIENEFSG
MITEFIE] T2 - FRAAKE
Y B A8 B #E ) &Y B MR TR ZB A5
ERETERBRERRE M
MSTER R BB ET [E 5 R HE
U RIR | T2 % [EWRE
TRIRAAIER

BRMZEEYEE)  KEBHAK

WBE BT RS ERE155:E R

%:k%‘i—)\il?_fl A—B{ELATH

a. [BZREMERFIE] TH
[EREFAEHNTIRERE] &
[ERREBE%E] 2O RN
£163,0007% 7T & 1,844,000
BILEMAGHEERT
&

b. ENEFEHNTIREREID
166,000 TR MAAEHE
BHET o

97



98

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited {12 & RIZR B R A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &HZE—-Z

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. B
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING %
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND &

—hFE=ZA=t—HLFE

§

i £ 2

2l

COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continuea)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies

on application of HKFRS 15 Revenue from

Contracts with Customers (Continued)

(iv) Disclosure of the estimated impact on the (iv)
amounts reported in respect of the year

ERE®E
BEFEHN
28 (&)
mE

el RRI&RT
H%ER J(FE,% B 7% 3R
BB ()

PHES 3R & %R

) &

HY Ux 35 A

Z & B

|E1555 5k B
FENEHEE

NV

E-R2-AF=RA=1—H

EFERBER-Z-NFHA

ended 31 March 2019 as a result of the —H ﬁéféﬂ;ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%iﬁ%@ﬁﬂﬁﬁ
adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018 MBS HE A

The following tables summarise the estimated TEMAEFBHEZ-Z jli—
impacts on the adoption of HKFRS 15 on the A=+ —BLEFENGETBR
Group's consolidated financial statements for RMBETNB BB SEAE
the year ended 31 March 2019, by comparing 155 a8 - AR B ELRS

the amounts reported under HKFRS 15 in these
consolidated financial statements with estimates

EMBBRRPEEFEEUHREE
AL 155RINBMANSR - BARKRE

of the hypothetical amounts that would have been EOHER SIS R BB E
recognised under HKAS 18 and HKAS 11 if those A MERZHBRTEDSE G
superseded standards had continued to be applied TR E ((MZEw AR (M
in 2018 instead of HKFRS 15. These tables show R REERB15%) —H

only line items impacted by the adoption of HKFRS

15.

FERN
BIZE

BRAR-F—N\F) - FINKRE
TSR RMB R B RE R

155 EMIAR -

Impacts on changes in accounting policies
BHBREBHTE

Amounts reported

Impact of the

Hypothetical

in accordance adoption of amounts under
with HKFRS 15 HKFRS 15 HKASs 18 and 11
BEEERE RRERRE AL
REEREI5% W& ERIE155 F18R1ET
EHRNEHE My NBEeHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THET TET
Impact of transition to BEZRBMBEREER
HKFRS 15 on line items in ERHB-E-N\E
the consolidated statement B-BREeRE
of financial position as at RREZHEEZHE:
1 April 2018;
Assets BE
contract assets BHEE 2,007 2,007 =
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E MU 5,146 (1,844) 6,990
Amounts due from customers EUEPAHTE *KIE
for contract work - (163) 163
Liabilities 8
Contract liabilities AMERE 166 166 =
Amounts due to customers for BREFANTIRFUE
contract work - (166) 166
Equity Ex
Accumulated losses before RNEEHSGEER
adoption of HKFRS 9 EORA 2R ER (44,034) = (44,034)
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COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies
on application of HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Continued)
(iv) Disclosure of the estimated impact on (iv)
the amounts reported in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2019 as a result of
the adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018

(Continued)

\
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SN
FERE B H AR E15HRE
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EFEHANWE
BE (&)
REBE-ZE-AF=ZA=+—HL
FEHEERR-_Z—N\FHNA-—
BERMAEBYEHREERE155%
MIBENESE2HTFE (£)

Z

Impacts on changes in accounting policies

EHBREBNTE
Amounts reported Impact of the Hypothetical
in accordance adoption of amounts under

with HKFRS 15 HKFRS 15 HKASs 18 and 11
REEBHE RREBHE BEBETER
REERE15% | L ER E155 F1BRNET
2HRNEE g MEELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL FHL FHEL
Line items in the consolidated Mﬁ% BB R EER E155
statement of profit or loss EMBE-E-1E
and other comprehensive _H Zt-ALEERE
income for the year ended BEREM2ZARERT
31 March 2019 impacted ZER:
by the adoption of
HKFRS 15:
Revenue Wi 28,150 (1,957) 30,107
Cost of sales HEKA (20,503) 1,957 (22,460)
7,647 = 7,647
Impact of transition to BEEEANBHEEEN

HKFRS 15 on accumulated
losses at 1 April 2018

FISHEH_B-N\F
mA-HWRGER2¥E =

99



100

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited {12 & RIZR B R A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &HZE—-Z

2.

—hFE=ZA=t—HLFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2. FEA#HIIRKETT2E B
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING BHREER ([HEEMBIR
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND XA )R ATEM ()

COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies EREBMBEHREEREISHKE

on application of HKFRS 15 Revenue from EESNNKBENEERSTHE

Contracts with Customers (Continued) 28 (E)

(iv) Disclosure of the estimated impact on (iv) MBZ=-F—-NAE=A=+—HL
the amounts reported in respect of the FEHEERR-Z—-—N\FWOAH—
year ended 31 March 2019 as a result of B B4 E 8 B 15 3R 5 ZE RIS 1555
the adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018 MBS E2EE (£)

Z

(Continued)
Impacts on changes in accounting policies
EHBRERNTE
Amounts reported Impact of the Hypothetical
in accordance adoption of amounts under
with HKFRS 15 HKFRS 15 HKASs 18 and 11

REEBHE RAEBEK B E
REEQE155 HEERIE155 F18R1%ET
2HRNEE Mg HBESHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL T FEL
Line items in the consolidated Mﬁ% BBHREERE15%
statement of financial ZHEE_E-NF
position as at 31 March 2019 _H =t-RREHE
impacted by the adoption of RREPEE
HKFRS 15:
Assets BE
contract assets ANEE 5,170 5,170 S
Trade and other receivables BH R EMEYNTE 19,212 (541) 19,753
Amounts due from customers BUEFAENTIRFE
for contract work - (4,629) 4,629
Liabilities 8%
Contract lianilities ANEE 109 109 =
Amounts due to customers for EREFAENTRFUE
contract work - (109) 109

Except as described above, the application of
HKFRS 15 has had no material impact on the
amounts reported set out in these consolidated

financial statements.

XA E S BB BR 15
o5 B 251558 3% S 4 A BT 7 3R
AR BUEEALE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continuea)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective.

HKFRS 16 Leases’
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®
HK (IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’

HKFRS 9 (Amendments)  Prepayment Features with Negative
compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or

Joint Venture*

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

HKAS 19 (Amendments)  Plan Amendment, Curtailiment or

Settlement’
HKAS 28 (Amendments)  Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures’
Annual Improvements to - Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards
HKFRSS 2015-2017 Cycle’

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)  Definition of a Business?

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material?

(Amendments)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021

& Effective date not yet been determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as
described below, the application of the new and revised
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and
the financial position of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continuea)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It requires
almost all leases of lessees to be recognized on the
consolidated statement of financial position, as the
distinction between operating and finance leases
is removed. The accounting for lessors will not
significantly change. Under the new standard, the
right to use the leased item and the duty to pay rent
are recognized as an asset and a financial liability
respectively. The only exceptions are short-term and
low-value leases. The standard will affect primarily
the accounting for operating leases of the Group.
The standard permits either a full retrospective or a
modified retrospective approach for the adoption.

Upon adoption of HKFRS 16 the majority of operating
lease commitments will be recognized in the
consolidated statement of financial position, as lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets. The lease liabilities
would subsequently be measured at amortized cost and
the right-of-use asset will be depreciated on a straight-
line basis during the lease term.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group's total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease
were approximately HK$19,291,000. A preliminary
assessment indicates that these arrangements will
meet the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16, and
hence, the Group will recognize a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding lease liability in respect of all the
leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term
leases upon the application of HKFRS 16. In addition, the
application of new requirement may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated
above.

The Group does not intend to adopt the standard
before its effective date. The Group intends to apply
the simplified transition approach and will not restate
comparative amounts for the year prior to first
adoption.

2.

FE A
%
HE

BAHFEIREBITIZ2ERBY
HER ([HBB KR
Bl |) &2 BH&EB =)

B MBI R A Rz #e] RAGIEET
BERUYBHREER (&)
ERMBBREENF16REE
ERMBHREEAE16HFN T —RF
— R ERTEETFREAEANE
EANGAMBAORN KPR LA
E’\%“Efﬂiﬂﬁimﬁléﬁﬁi%ZFEJE’J@B'J%Ei%}
o BEANGHRESITEEERE
BoREHTER HERB 2ERE
LEmEeNEES D hIRERSEE
kemAad HEMMEERETEL
- ZAAFBEEARELZHE L
GARIE U ERTHEEEPRAK
RIEBUE T R -

§

i 5 8

RABBH IR ELERIF16571% - KA
"%“%TH S AR R EE MBI KE
RRHERERAEEREEE-HER
1§ﬁ%?§ﬂﬁﬁﬁiﬁiﬁ$§+§'ﬁﬁ*ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%
BERNEBANRERERENE -

A\ZE-NF=ZA=1+—8 AEER
TARHEEHER THAKRRERE
i SRR 49 /319,291,00078 7T © #] 2 ¥
L ZELHBTEBEEMBERE
HRIZE16H TWHEEE R Bt X
SESRAEREEEANBRAAE
EMHEHEHERE BRIERSERNERE
B BRE R E16RFFERERL
R E R R o s 1 E AR
ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁiﬂﬁ%%ﬁﬁ§~iﬂ&&?§

0

AREEAT T E R E A A BB A ER 4 28
J AEBBRERSBEERE B

SEBRARMNSEINBEFE LT
%Hu



Annual Report 2018/2019 —Z— )\ /= ZE—hEERE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continuea)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continuead)

HK (IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

HK (IFRIC) — Int 23, issued in July 2017, addresses the
accounting for income taxes (current and deferred)
when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the
application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain
tax positions”). The interpretation does not apply to
taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does
it specifically include requirements relating to interest
and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments.
The interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an
entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii)
the assumptions an entity makes about the examination
of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how an
entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax
rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts
and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied
retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the
use of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of application as an adjustment to the opening
equity at the date of initial application, without the
restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January
2019. The interpretation is not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 19, issued in February
2018, require entities to use the updated actuarial
assumptions to determine current service cost and
net interest for the remainder of the annual reporting
period after such an event. The amendments also
clarify how the requirements for accounting for a plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement affect the asset
ceiling requirements, but do not address the accounting
for “significant market fluctuations” in the absence of a
plan amendment, curtailment or settlement.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continuea)
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective (Continued)
HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a business

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide
additional guidance on the definition of a business.
The amendments clarify that for an integrated set of
activities and assets to be considered a business, it
must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed
to create outputs. The amendments remove the
assessment of whether market participants are capable
of acquiring the business and continue to produce
outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The amendments have also narrowed the definition
of outputs to focus on goods or services provided to
customers, investment income or other income from
ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired
process is substantive and introduce an optional
fair value concentration test to permit a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020.

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of
Material

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. The amendments clarify that
materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of
information. A misstatement of information is material if
it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions
made by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment property that is measured at fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants in the principal
(or most advantageous) market at the measurement
date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price)
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique.
Details of fair value measurement are explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If
a subsidiary prepares its financial statements using
accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial
statements in preparing the consolidated financial
statements to ensure conformity with the group’s
accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and (iii)
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect
the amount of the Group's returns. When the Group has
less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee,
power over the investee may be obtained through: (i)
a contractual arrangement with other vote holders; (ii)
rights arising from other contractual arrangements; (iii)
the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights; or
(iv) a combination of the above, based on all relevant
facts and circumstances.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continuead)

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of these elements of control
stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary and cease when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income of subsidiaries are attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between entities of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations except for business
combinations under common control. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value
of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &#Z—-ZF—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit and loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in
profit and loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the
consolidated income statement.
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3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiary are stated at cost less
impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors
that makes strategic decisions.

Revenue recognition
Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2018

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of
discounts, returns and value added taxes.

Revenue is recognised when, or as, the control of
the goods or services is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
applicable, control of the goods and services may be
transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods and services is transferred over time if the
Group’s performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

e creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

3.

EXETHE @)

B 3B 3% R
RARABMBARRARA  REAR 2
BREEEAARBERBRR AR MW
B R 2 FERARBIRE W E WA
BEEARK-

et B B BB P B 2 Bl R B IR A B HIR 2
EEPABBELMNRBE LM FEHRERAR
BrREEBARKRET CEEFE
(BEREB)NGEAVBRERANZEE
B AREZERERIUREER A
KRB AR 2 REETHERNR -

Pl
s e 2 R G EREERK
EREAMBEN T X — B (FH KA

ERENRITEETRTIELERRE
BEOPREREAGEEDHRE -

Wy 35 78 5%
H-Z-\FOA-HEEANEK
%

Wtz kB BN A FERE
A5t B AR 8 5 om B RO SR B
i RERIBENIIR-

WaEREmMmIRBHIEHEEETER
NER - RTEaOGREERNER.
?ﬁuu&ﬁﬁﬂ‘%? BN —BRREE A E
—RHHENEZE - WASBERBRORRFEIN
THIE A M RRGIESIER — R
fal B 5

. REESRANKERERENRE
Rz

s AEBENKAIBYRATFM
ZHIMEE K

e REMEBHASEmMSEHMA
BOWEE MALE R RE#HITH
%ﬂ%@% FFES B TR E 4 EB

D HIFRIE



Annual Report 2018/2019 —Z— )\ /= ZE—hEERE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2018
(Continued)

If control of the goods and services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the goods and services.

The Group bases its estimates of return on historical
results, taking into consideration the type of customers,
the type of transactions and the specifics of each
arrangement. Revenue is recognised as follows:

@)

Sales of goods

The Group sells fine and rare wines. Revenue from
sales of fine and rare are recognised when control
of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the customers, and there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customers’ acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been delivered to
the specified location, the risks of obsolescence
and loss have been transferred to the customers,
and either the customers has accepted the
products in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on
the price specified in the contract or invoice.

No contract liability and right to the returned
goods are recognised as insignificant amount
of returns are expected based on previous
experience.

As receivable is recognised when the goods are
delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is
due.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2018
(Continued)

(b)

Revenue from contracts with customers

A contract with a customer is classified by the
Group as a construction contract when the
contract relates to work on assets under the
control of the customer and therefore the Group's
construction activities create or enhance an asset
under the customer’s control.

When the outcome of a construction contract
can be reasonably measured, revenue from the
contract is recognised over time using the output
method, i.e. based on direct measurements of
the value of services delivered or surveys of work
performed and the estimated total revenue for the
contracts entered into by the Group.

If construction projects have no alternative use
to the Group contractually and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment from the customers
for performance completed to date, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation over time
and therefore, recognises revenue over time in
accordance with the input method for measuring
progress.

The likelihood of contract variations, claims and
liguidated damages are taken into account in
making these estimates, such that revenue is
only recognised to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be
reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that are
expected to be recovered.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract
are estimated to exceed the remaining amount
of the consideration under the contract, then a
provision is recognised.

The excess of cumulative revenue recognised
in profit or loss over the cumulative billings to
customers is recognised as contract assets. The
excess of cumulative billings to customers over
the cumulative revenue recognised in profit or loss
is recognised as contract liabilities.

Revenue for construction contracts was
recognised on a similar basis in the comparative
period under HKAS 11.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2018

(Continued)

(c) Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-
impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the
asset.

Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2018

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for goods sold and
services rendered in the normal course of business, net
of discounts and sales related taxes.

The Group’s policy for recognition of service income
from provision of design and fitting-out service and
design and procurement of furnishings and decorative
materials service from construction contracts is set
out in the accounting policy headed “Construction
contracts” below.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which
time all the following conditions are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods
sold;

o the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the transaction will flow to the
Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of
the transaction can be measured reliably.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2018

(Continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of income can be
measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset's net carrying amount on initial

recognition.

Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a construction contract in
relation to provision of design and fitting-out services
and design and procurement of furnishings and
decorative materials can be estimated reliably, revenue
and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, measured based on the proportion
that contract costs incurred for work performed to date
relative to the estimated total contract costs, except
where this would not be representative of the stage
of completion. Variations in contract work, claims and
incentive payments are included to the extent that the
amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is

considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot
be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to
the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable
will be recoverable. Contract costs are recoghised as

expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised

as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings,
the surplus is shown as amounts due from customers
for contract work. For contracts where progress billings
exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as
amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are
included in the consolidated statement of financial
position, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts
billed for work performed but not yet paid by the
customer are included in the consolidated statement of

financial position under trade and other receivables.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as
assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception
of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to
the lessor is included in the consolidated statement of
financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised
immediately in profit or loss. Contingent rentals are
recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are
incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items in respect of which gains and losses
are recognised directly in other comprehensive income,
in which cases, the exchange differences are also
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits costs and termination
benefits

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and Central Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Retirement scheme obligations

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC based employees of the Group participate in
various defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the PRC under which the Group and the
PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage
of the employees’ salaries.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Retirement scheme obligations (Continued)

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC based employees payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for
the payment of retirement and other post retirement
benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds managed by the PRC
government.

Short-term and other Iong-term employee
benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave in the period the related service is
rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the
related service.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax as reported in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &#Z—-ZF—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment held for administrative purposes
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of plant and equipment less their residual value, if
any, using the diminishing balance method over their
estimated useful lives or depreciation rates as follows:
Leasehold improvements Shorter of unexpired
lease term or
useful life of 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 30%

Office equipment 30%
Motor vehicles 30%
Construction equipment 30%

The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term and their useful lives.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement
of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment property
Investment property is property held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment property is initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property
is measured at its fair values. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property
is included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of
CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination. Each unit or group of units to which
the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level
within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored
at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is
compared to the recoverable amount, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as
an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Intangible assets other than goodwill
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If the do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from the date of change
and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement
of financial position comprise cash at banks and on
hand and short-term deposits with a maturity of three
months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
and short-term deposits, as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in

profit or loss.

Financial assets

Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2018

(a) Classification

From 1 April 2018, the Group classifies its financial
assets in the following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive

—hFE=ZA=t—HLFE

income, or through profit or loss); and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the

contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at
fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those

assets changes.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2018
(Continued)

(b)

©

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. The Group derecognises a financial
asset only when the contractual rights to the
cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control
the transferred asset, the Group continues to
recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or 10ss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2018
(Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’'s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

(@)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses) together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate
line item in the consolidated income
statement.

Fair value through other comprehensive
income: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“OCI").
Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit
or loss and recognised in other gains/
(losses). Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented
in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated income statement.

3. EXEEEBX®

TREE(£)
H-Z-N\FHA-BEEANE
BE (&)

(d EHEITA
BEHETEMNEEFEIARASE
.EEEEF&EFEEEE;/\LE @5(
Eﬁ%ﬁ‘%*ﬁt REEBEHRIAES
Rt 28R

o EHANA:BBIERESEDN
RERENEEMS WA
EEMREREMAE AT
MRS RFE - B Z 8 EK
$E+2°5K§EZ%/£%§1\§F
K F B AL B IR R AR
NS NN Ty
E’JEHW&T%E@H?\\“
1451 s REERER ‘:Pﬁi*’ﬂi@

RRZ25) A H MU /(EEE
?E\) BEEBERGRENE R
‘:F‘%Wﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁ °

e BRAFYEFAHEMEZEUY
m BB EREA YIRS R
—&u”jﬁzi\vaﬂﬁFE’JﬁFﬁﬁ

1hﬁf'§§?ﬁ’]ﬁ%mg
%@ﬂﬁiﬁzﬁi&ﬂ * Bl
E@?Tﬁ‘ﬁ)\ﬁﬁﬂi\ﬁl&é
([EE2mEmbzE])FTE-
ﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬂ*@ﬁr)\ﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁuﬁl

HEREREREREK
EJZES?E‘?‘JQH&)\&M\”
Was BB BRI e B IETERR
CREER- ?EHIJE(\ﬁﬁﬁi
T i 25 7 3R A 2 5 U o S
EHEZETNDPEEEER
REM S (BER)ER -
KREZZEREENT B
AL % B%??’F'Jﬂ—/fﬁﬂ\ﬁﬂ%%l
A o HNEE U 2% R 5 48 2 B1) 74
Hihlezs (E518) ﬁifﬁ?ﬁ
TRIRGERTRFPEY A
%Q%ﬁﬁﬁ°



Annual Report 2018/2019 —Z— )\ /= ZE—hEERE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2018
(Continued)

(@)

(e

()

Debt instruments (Continued)

o Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that
do not meet the criteria for amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive
income are measured at fair value through
profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss is recognised
in profit or loss and presented net within
other gains/(losses) in the period in which it
arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised
in profit or loss as other income when the Group's
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in
other gains/(losses) in the consolidated income
statement as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

From 1 April 2018, the Group assesses on a
forward looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, retention money receivables
and contract assets, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2018
(Continued)

@

Impairment (Continued)

Impairment on financial assets measured at
amortised cost other than trade receivables
is measured as either 12-month expected
credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses,
depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If
a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable
has occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime expected
credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit
risk or the proceeds receivables are not settled
in accordance with the terms stipulated in the
agreements, management considers these
receivables as underperforming or non-performing
and impairment is measured as lifetime expected
credit loss.

When management considers that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, the financial
assets measured at amortised cost will be written
off.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &#Z—-ZF—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continuead)
Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2018

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans
and receivables. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and
other receivables, bank balances and cash, amount due
from a substantial shareholder) are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of
the financial assets have been affected.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continuead)

Accounting policies applied until 31 March 2018
(Continued)

Loans and receivables (Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

e breach of contract, such as default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

e disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of trade receivables could include the Group's
past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the average credit period, observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired,
and is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial
assets with the exception of trade receivables, other
receivables and deposits, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade
receivable, other receivable or deposits are considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised
cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &#Z—-ZF—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, secured bank borrowing, obligations under a
finance lease are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised
because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation
cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability is
not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. When a change in
the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is
probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value for the purpose of
impairment assessment, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically,
the Group categorised the fair value measurements into
three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follow:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
determines whether transfer occur between levels
of the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities
which are measured at fair value on recurring basis by
reviewing their respective fair value measurement.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from
those involving estimation (see below), that the
directors of the Company have made in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in consolidated financial statements.

Construction contracts revenue recognition
Revenue from construction contracts are recognised
over time. Such revenue and profit recognition on
uncompleted projects is dependent on estimating the
total outcome of the contract, as well as the work done
to date. The Group reviews and revises the estimates
of contract revenue, contract costs and variation
orders, prepared for each construction contract as the
contract progresses. Budgeted construction costs are
prepared by management on the basis of quotations
from time to time provided by the major subcontractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of
management. In order to keep the budget accurate and
up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews
of the budgeted construction costs by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual costs incurred.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the
contract revenue, contract costs and variation work
which may have an impact on revenue and profit
recognised to date. In addition, actual outcomes in
terms of total revenue or costs may be higher or lower
than estimated at the end of the reporting period, which
would affect the revenue and profit recognised in future
periods as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to
date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—h"WF=A=-+—HIEFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continuead)

Critical judgements in applying the entity’'s
accounting policies (Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment property

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from an investment property
that is measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
investment property and concluded that the Group's
investment property is held under a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred
taxation on investment properties, the directors of
the Company have determined that the presumption
that the carrying amounts of investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group
has considered the deferred taxes impact arising from
changes in fair value of investment property.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Income tax

As at 31 March 2019, no deferred tax asset has
been recognised on the tax losses of approximately
HK$116,325,000 (2018: HK$87,742,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability
of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases where the actual
future profits generated are less than expected, a
material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a reversal takes place.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECLs for loan and interest
receivables, trade and other receivables and
contract assets

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECLS
for loan and interest receivables, trade and other
receivables and contract assets. The provision matrix
is based on the Group's historical default rates taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered.
In addition, trade and other receivables and contract
assets with significant balances and credit impaired are
assessed for ECLs individually.

The provision of ECLS is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and forecast general economic
conditions. The information about the ECLsS and the
Group’s loan and interest receivables, trade and other
receivables and contract assets are disclosed in note
6(b). If the financial condition of the customers or the
forecast economic conditions were to deteriorate, the
actual loss allowance would be higher than estimated.

In the comparative period, when there is objective
evidence of impairment loss, the Group takes into
consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may
arise.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated useful lives of plant and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives, and related depreciation charges for its
plant and equipment. The estimates are based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of those
assets of similar nature and functions. Management
will increase the depreciation where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives. It will write off or
write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic
lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic
review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and therefore affect the depreciation charges in future
periods.

Valuation of investment property

Investment property is carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 March 2019 at
its fair value of approximately HK$28,200,000 (2018:
HK$25,000,000). The fair value was based on a valuation
on this property conducted by an independent firm
of professional valuers using property valuation
techniques which involve certain assumptions of
market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes
to these assumptions would result in changes in the
fair value of the Group's investment property and
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or
loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Valuation of goodwill and intangible assets

The Group evaluates whether goodwill and intangible
assets have suffered any impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the goodwill and intangible assets may
not be recoverable, in accordance with the stated
accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of the
goodwill and intangible assets have been determined
based on the higher of the fair value less cost of
disposal and value in calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group's overall strategies remain unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes the obligation under a finance lease
and secured bank borrowing as disclosed in notes 29
and 30 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure on a continuous basis taking into account the
cost of capital and the risk associated with the capital.
Based on the directors’ recommendation, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through payment of
dividend, issuance of new shares as well as the raising
of new debts or the repayment of existing debts.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

5.

B EE
AEBEEEEER  DIERAEEER
RREHEESELE RANEREBILE
BREDER BRRERESEEK-
AEEZBERBERFRFTIE -

AEEZERARBREREFE BT
BREDRHE29RI0BEZREHEE
AEMEGERRITES  XHREESR
ReFEY UWERARBEE ARGRE
@ (BREBITRARMERE)

AREEEEZEEEANKANEENEH
ZRB FHERNEARB-REES
2 ASEMEBIRMNEE  #1T
MO RERFEBREERBES
FoHEERBEANRE-

EWMITA
(@) £MIAES

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FAT
Financial assets TREE
Loans and receivables (including & N EWFKIAE (B3
cash and cash equivalents) BekReEEY) 52,183 72,794
Financial liabilities tHas
Financial liabilities at B AR 2
amortised cost EHAE 8,089 9,741
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6.

—hFE=ZA=t—HLFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include
loan and interest receivables, trade and other
receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables, obligations under a finance
lease and secured bank borrowing. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risks (currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

Market risk

currency risk

The Group has certain portion of bank balances
and cash, trade and other receivables and trade
and other payables denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Given the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the USS,
the management does not expect that there will
be any significant currency risk associated with
such US$ denominated balances and therefore no
sensitivity analysis is presented thereon.

6.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuead) 6. & MR
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIEREEAERBE
and policies (continued) (4&)
Market risk (Continued) miEER (&)
Currency risk (Continued) Bk E e (&)
At 31 March 2019 and 2018, the carrying amounts RZE—NFR_ZZE—NF=A
of the Group’s foreign currency denominated Zt+—HFREHR AEEZEE
monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the BENMNEBAGEZIIEEREE
end of the reporting period are as follows: AT
2019 2018
—E-RhEF —T-N\F
Monetary  Monetary Net Monetary Monetary Net
assets liabilities  Exposure assets liabilities Exposure
ExEE E%AR FRKR E%EE  E%aR FE B
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FBx FHT FTHET FHT FiHT
Renminbi ARE
("RMB") (TARB]) 484 (308) 176 1,201 (103) 1,098
Singapore Dollars ¥ A03 7T
("SGD") 1,669 - 1,669 2,229 - 2,229
Malaysia Ringgit BRAGLE
("MYR") - - - 559 - 559

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2018: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$
against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2018:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items, and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for a
5% (2018: 5%) change in foreign currency rates.

TRHFVAEEBEITE BB
I ESKEES% (ZFE— )\ F:
5% ) MBI RRE-5% (ZZF— N\
F:5%)BAEEEEABERND
S INER R T A RSURSE - 45
B E RTINS R BB ] B
BIEEE) - HRE D ITE BRI
BAEZATRE®BIER YRR
EHIRHE% (ZF — )\ F :5%)
CEREHHEBEERFAE-
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

A positive number below indicates an increase
in post-tax profit and a negative number below
indicates a decrease in post-tax profit where HK$
strengthen 5% (2018: 5%) against the relevant
currency. For a 5% (2018: 5%) weakening of HK$
against the relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit and other
equity and the balances below would be negative.

Effect on post-tax (loss)/profit:

6.

E@MIRA»

(b) HBAKREEEERRE
(&)
TR ()
B ()

REBTHBBINEFESR (=
Z—N\F:5%) T EBIERD
BEANIB I - BBIRERRBIR G
B D o i 78 7T 5 B RSN RZ (B5%

(ZZT—\F:5%)  HEHRENE
ERFEERZEZE M FXEM
BAREHRTRSEE-

HERB®R (BR),arzPeg:

2019 2018

—E-hE —N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F&T FET

RMB AR 7 46
SGD TN T 69 93
MYR BERALRSE - 23

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate interest bearing
obligation under a finance lease (see note 29).
The Group currently does not have any interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
other necessary actions when significant interest
rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances
and secured bank borrowing at prevailing market
rates.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note. The Group’s
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of the related bank’'s Hong Kong
Dollars Prime Rate (“P") arising from the Group's
HK$ denominated borrowing.

VI 4
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. ESRITH (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIEREEAERBE
and policies (continued) (%)
Market risk (Continued) MR (&)
Interest rate risk (Continued) Fi| K @ @ (&)

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for non-derivative instruments at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis point (2018: 50
basis points) increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2018: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax 10ss
would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$135,000 (2018: HK$180,000).

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
loan and interest receivables, and trade and other
receivables. Management has a credit policy in
place and the exposures to these credit risks are
monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group applies with simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses presented by
HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected credit loss provision for all loan
receivables and trade receivables. To measure
the expected credit losses, trade and other
receivables, and loan and interest receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics. The Group has performed
historical analysis and identified the economic
variable credit risk and expected credit loss. This
considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding-looking.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s and the
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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—hFE=ZA=t—HLFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group and the Company have
delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group and the Company review the recoverability
of each individual trade debt at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by authorised credit-rating
agency.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in Hong Kong,
which accounted for 100% (2018: 86%) of the total
trade receivable as at 31 March 2019.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has concentration
of credit risk as approximately 10% (2018: Nil) and
67% (2018: 43%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group's largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group's operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of
bank borrowings and other source of funding and
considers the risk is minimal.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms.
The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. Specifically, secured bank
borrowing with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless of
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.
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6. E®MI R (&)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate curve at the end of each reporting
period.

(b)

MHEEREEBERBEK
(#%&)

REBETER (&)
FZRBEMNERAETHESRE - 1
BEREPKR - WA BRESFEH
& QIARREIR S FTIRIE N R eh 4R

Sy e
Al = °

More than ~ More than
one year  two years
On demand but not but not Total
or within exceeding  exceeding undiscounted Carrying
one year two years five years  cash flows amount
REXS BB-FE EBAWEE  AGkER

E-FR  TREWME  THBLE BemE RHSHE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAR TAR TAR THL FEL
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-N%F

ZRA=1-H

Trade and other payables ~ Z 2Rk EMENE 7,619 470 - 8,089 8,089

7,619 470 = 8,089 8,089
As at 31 March 2018 RZZ2-N\%

ZA=t+-H

Trade and other payables ~— Z 5 REAMENFE 2,962 = = 2,962 2,962

Secured bank borrowing BERARTEE 6,689 - - 6,689 6,689
Obligation under a BEREAE

finance lease 91 - - 91 90

9,742 = = 9,742 9,741
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Secured bank borrowing with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the “on demand
time band in the above
maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2019, the
Group had no aggregate undiscounted principal
amounts of this secured bank loan due to early
repayment of all outstanding loan during the year

or within 1 year”

(2018: HK$6,689,000).

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position The
fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted

cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of current financial assets and
current financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statement
approximate their fair values due to their

immediate or short-term maturities.

6.
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REVENUE

Revenue represents revenue arising from fitting out
and engineering services provided and design and
procurement of furnishings and related products
services provided, interest income from money lending
and sale of fine and rare wines. No revenue has yet
been generated from the financial services business
and leasing of construction equipment during the year.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as
follows:

7. Wi
i35 B R B FRAR A 2 45 2 T2 AR -
%5t BRI R AR RIE @RS AR
R B B 2 5 2 Mok o FAE
SHRBEBNAEREREEE TS
#1925 -

AEBFRARSEZ W T

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Fitting out and engineering services % & & T2 IR U A
income 14,327 10,652
Design and procurement of HEt R B ERE LG
furnishings and related Em R
products services income 4,689 4,119
Interest income from money lending A& B YA 3,304 4,495
Sale of fine and rare wines EBEERA 5,830 13,831

28,150 33,097
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer (the
“CEQ"), being the chief operating decision maker, for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on types of goods
or services delivered or provided. The directors of
the Company have chosen to organise the Group
around differences in services. No operating segments
identified by the CEO has been aggregated in arriving at
the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating
segments are as follows:

(@) Provision of fitting out and engineering services
(previously known as “Design and fitting out
services”) comprising design and fitting out
services and other engineering works and
maintenance services (“Fitting out and engineering
services”);

(b)y Provision of design and procurement of
furnishings and related products services
(previously known as “Design and procurement
of furnishings and decorative materials services”)
("Design and procurement of furnishings and
related products services”);

(c) Money lending (“Money lending”);

(d)  Sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines
(“Wines merchandising”);

(e) Financial services business (previously known
as “Securities business”) comprising provision
of advising on securities and securities dealing
and brokerage services and asset management
services (“Financial services business”); and

(f)  Leasing of construction equipment business
(“Leasing of construction equipment”).
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8. #EER (&)
Y E T
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

Segment revenue and results
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and
results by reportable and operating segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Design and
procurement
Fitting out  of furnishings

BNEER Z D

BE-ZE-hhE=ZA=+—HLEE

and  and related Financial Leasing of
engineering products Money Wines services  construction
services services lending merchandising business equipment Total
R RFE
#ER BEREH £ HE
IRRH ERRE & EREE R 1 BERfG @t
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL TER TEn TEn TEn TERL
Segment revenue AHhE 14,327 4,689 3,304 5,830 - - 28,150
Segment profit/(loss) AHEF/ (EE) (7,924) (3,123) 2,216 76 (1,342) (3,709) (13,806)
Other income EfBA 782
Other gains/(losses), net R/ (BE) 78 (62)
Central administrative costs R RATKAA (9,968)
Increase in fair value of an REMZFATEEM
investment property 3,200
Finance costs BERK (85)
Loss before tax BHnEE (19,939)
For the year ended 31 March 2018 HE-_ZT-N\F=A=+—HLFE
Design and
procurement
Fitting out  of furnishings
and and related Financial
engineering products Money Wines services
services services lending  merchandising business Total
R LA
RER  KEREH £
TERS ERRB & BEXE R @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEL FAL FAT FHL FHL FET
Segment revenue 2B 10,652 4,119 4,495 13,831 - 33,097
Segment profit/(loss) PEEFR/ (BB) (17.473) (3,263) 4,372 (585) (1,125) (18,074)
Other income L0 ON 730
Central administrative costs RRITRAK A (12,984)
Increase in fair value of an REMENTEEM
investment property 2,500
Finance costs BERAE (161)
Loss before tax BEAER (27,989)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. 7EER &)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) PEHBBREE (E)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are S E 7 @ s I E BTl 2 AN E
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment @;ﬁy SHEE - D EEF (BE) Bk
profit/(loss) represents the profit/(loss) earned by each SleE T HA4 Hﬂz )\ FRRITEAA (7
segment without allocation of certain other income, HEEWNS) REVMEAFEE NN
central administrative costs (including directors’ BMEBKRARZEDEBEE 2 mH, (B
emoluments), increase in fair value of an investment B) W DRATHRERZRANDREIR
property and finance costs. This is the measure reported PE ISR b
to the CEO for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
Segment assets and liabilities STHEERAES
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and KEBZRERNKEEDHED 2 EER
liabilities by reportable and operating segment: BEWMT:
As at 31 March 2019 R-ZE-NE=A=+—H
Design and
procurement
Fitting out  of furnishings
and and related Financial Leasing of
engineering products Money Wines services  construction
services services lending  merchandising business equipment Total
EHRSE
EBR HERAE 1] &
IRRH EREH HE EHEE RBEH BERE &t
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT TEx ThR Thr THR THET
Segment assets PEEE
Non-current assets FRBAE
Plant and equipment BEREE 312 402 - 16 - 5,398 6,128
Goodwill #E 1,867 = S - 854 - 2721
Intangible assets BVEE - - - - 18,738 - 18,738
2,179 402 - 16 19,592 5,398 27,587
Current assets RBEE 6,103 3,298 6,022 6,257 - 8,053 29,733
Segment assets PEEE 8,282 3,700 6,022 6,273 19,592 13,451 57,320
Unallocated: KAR:
Cash and bank balances BERBITER 27,009
Others Eth 31,759
Total assets per consolidated SANBRARAELE
statement of financial position 116,088
Segment liabilities 2EAE
Non-current liabilties FRBaR
Deferred tax liabilities BIERE 63 - - - 3,092 - 3,155
63 - - - 3,092 - 3,155
Current liabilities N 4,259 862 20 2 30 251 5,444
Segment liabilities PEEH 4322 862 20 2 3,122 251 8,599
Unallocated: KR
Others Eih 3,076
Total liabllities per consolidated ~ HABKRREEBAR
statement of financial position 11,675
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

Segment revenue and results (Continuead)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 March 2018

8. DEER (&)
SEU R EE ()
SBEEREE(B)
R-_EBE—-NEFE=A=+—H

Design and
procurement
Fittingout o furnishings
and and related Financial
engineering products Money Wines services
services services lending  merchandising husiness Total
RET RIRE
EER RERIES 28
TERH% EmRT HE BHEE RBEE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Tin TR FET FEL TiEn Fi#n
Segment assets PEEE
Non-current assets FrBEE
Plant and equipment BE Rk 1,310 1,116 - 37 - 2,463
Goodwil mE = - - - 854 854
Intangible assets aVEE - - - - 18,738 18,738
1,310 1,116 S 37 19,592 22,055
Current assets REAE 411 625 24,207 1,430 21 31,224
Segment assets PREE 6,031 1,741 2,201 1,467 19,813 53,279
Unallocated: KB
Cash and bank balances ReRBAEE 4,577
Others Eft 29,309
Total assets per consolidated statement  HFABERAREELE
of financial position 124,165
Segment liabilities SEEE
Non-current liabilities FrBafE
Deferred tax liabilities BRI 63 - - - 3,092 3,155
63 = = = 3,092 3,155
Current liabilities FBAE 1,013 409 218 27 101 1,768
Segment liabilities ARG 1,076 409 218 2 3,193 4,923
Unallocated: ROE:
Others ) 8,458
Total liabilities per consolidated statement & & B SRR & BEE
of financial position 13,381
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to reportable segments
other than certain plant and equipment,
investment property, certain prepayments,
deposits and other receivables and cash and bank
balances as these assets are managed on a group
basis.

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments
other than certain accrued expenses and other
payables, obligation under a finance lease, certain
income tax payable, secured bank borrowing and
certain deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.

S

oip & &y

RER (#)

mREE(E)

#B
ERDBRRENESEDBERM

FRBEBERE TEMEHE RE
WE - ETANRE ReREM
& WK IR B 3R & e SR 1T A% B DA S
TR 2B E - AREEETR
SEEAREE-

FRERERE TR REM
ENFIE BEHEHRE ETR
MArEH  BEMBITEERET
EERIAB BN SZ Al 28D
M EZFRENREEERE
e
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. oEEHR (»)

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2019

Design and

procurement

Fitting out ~ of furnishings
and  and related

HippER
BE-ZE—-hE=ZA=+—HBLEE

Financial Leasing of

engineering products Money Wines services  construction
services services lending  merchandising business equipment  Unallocated Total
EEed |
ZEBR REREE E1- | HE
IER% Emki B EHXE RH %% BERB B @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx iR TER TEx iR TER TEx TER
Impairment of intangible ~ EFEER(E
assets - - - - - - 62 62
(Reversal) of/allowance for ~ EEEEHERE/
expected credit loss (E%) 16 2 (58) 53 - - - 35
Increase in fair value of REMEATEEN
an investment property - - - - - - (3,200) (3,200)
Depreciation of plantand ~ BERRERE
equipment 133 1,055 - 21 - - 770 1979
Additions to plant and REMEREE
equipment 80 - - - - 5,398 = 5478
Bank interest income FIRERA - - - - - = (31) (31)
Finance costs BERK - - - - - - 85 85

For the year ended 31 March 2018

BE_T-N\F=A=t—HILFE

Design and
procurement
Fitting out  of furnishings
and and related Financial
engineering products Money Wines services
Services services lending  merchandising business Unallocated Total
Rt RREE
kR FEREH £
TRREH EnR% & BHEER RsER AOE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAR TAR FET TAET TAR TAR
Written off of trade and B 5 R REMGE
other receivables 2 135 534 - - - - 669
Impairment loss on BHRBFBREEE
trade receivables 3915 923 - - = = 4,838
Reversal of impairment loss of & 5 R &t k508
trade and other receivables  F{EEERE 43) = = = = = 43)
Increase in fair valug of an R EMEATFEEM
investment property - - - - - (2,500) (2,500)
Depreciation of plant and BERSERE
equipment 453 1 - 2 - 886 1,362
Additions to plant and REBRERERE
equipment 1,136 1274 = 13 = 3 2,446
Bank interest income RITRIS WA - - - = = (67) (67)
Finance costs BERK = = - - - 161 161
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea)

Geographical Information
The Group’'s operations are located in Hong Kong, the

PRC, and Malaysia.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is
presented based on the location of the operations and
information about its non-current assets is presented
based on the geographical location of the assets as

detailed below:

8.

TEER (&)
R =g
REBAESE FELERESLE-

REBEBINBEP ZWACERNEE
R MIFREEE 2 R EF A
ERZEEZMBAERZSNT :

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets

REMBEEZKWA *RBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-hF T—-N\F ZEB-hAFE =ZT-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET FERT FHET
Hong Kong B 24,517 33,097 57,696 49,795
PRC i 1,008 - 4 S
Malaysia P i 2,625 - - -
28,150 33,097 57,700 49,800

Information about major customers FEEFZER

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are

B 15 7 06 [ 40 B 45 7 4 5 5 10% A 19
EEERMT :

as follows:
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FET
Customer A5 EEALS 5,550 N/A 7~ s
Customer B3° EFEB3S 5,330 N/A N3 s
Customer C2 BECH? 2,833 8,042
Customer D3 BPD3 N/A & A 4,245

L Revenue from fitting out and engineering services

2 Revenue from design and procurement of furnishings and
related products services

9 Revenue from wine merchandising

< The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of

the total revenue of the Group

2 New customers

L REEERIRREHKE

2 RERAERRBRARBEERREN

g PER el €S

g ZAABRAY REBRAEEREE LYK
25 2 10% A £

J MER



Annual Report 2018/2019 —Z— )\ /= ZE—hEERE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

OTHER INCOME 9. HftWg A
2019 2018
—E-AEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&ET FHET
Bank interest income H|ITH B A 31 67
Reversal of expected credit 10ss in ERESRBEHREEHBERLD
respect of loan receivables 58 -
Reversal of impairment loss B 5 I H h e W RIE
in respect of trade and REEERE
other receivables - 43
Rental income HaBA 723 624
Exchange gain B 5 UK & - 154
sundry income MIBUA 611 71
1,423 959
An analysis of the Group's net rental income is as NEEBBESWASEEB DO T :
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Gross rental income HeWw ALz 723 624
Less: Outgoings (included in W
administrative expenses) (FTATTHRAX) (117) (357)
606 267
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10. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

10. Efble s~ (518) B8

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Impairment of intangible assets myEERE (62) -

Net gain on disposal of HEME K& F R
plant and equipment 91 -

Loss on written off of plant and BEREE 2 MEER
equipment (10) -
19 -

11. FINANCE COSTS 11. B E R AR
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interests on: LATRIBEZFE

- Secured bank borrowing —HEBRITEE 83 157
- obligations under a finance lease —BERERE 2 4
85 161
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. RB BB X
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Current tax: REATIA:

Hong Kong profits tax BEAENGEH - 131
Over provision in prior years: BETFEBEREE:

Hong Kong profits tax BANISH = -

Singapore corporate tax RS = (27)
Deferred tax (note 31) EIERIIE (MI3E31)

Current year KEE 135 -
Income tax expense for the year REEFEHHAL 135 104
On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council RZE-NF=ZAZ+—R BBELZE
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill TEB(CCE—CFHE (BFT) (F

2017 (the “Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28
March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2,000,000
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

THEERBIESR) ([HRAIER]) - 3IA
MEBHMAS - GHERN_F—/\F
AT N\BRBRAER YREH
TE-RENEGHMAS GEBEH
% #8 2,000,000/ 7T 2 4 H % 1= B &
8.25% =k it - T A ¥82,000,0007% 7T 2 &
7 12 758 16 5% R Bt o T 1F & M5 B
ARz EE TR 25 M A E R —
R 16.5% Rt ©
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The directors of the Company considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
provided at the rate of 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000
of the estimated assessable profit of the qualifying
group entity and 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profit above HK$2,000,000 for the year ended 31 March
2019 (2018: flat rate of 16.5%).

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the BVI.

No Singapore Corporate Tax has been provided as there
is no estimated assessable profit for both years.

The PRC corporate income tax in respect of operations
in Mainland China is calculated at the applicable tax
rates on the estimated assessable profits for the
year based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.

The PRC tax law imposes a withholding tax at 10%,
unless reduced by a tax treaty, for dividends distributed
by PRC subsidiaries to its immediate holding company
outside the PRC for earnings generated beginning on 1
January 2008.

Deferred taxation has not been provided in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the
temporary difference attributable to retained profits of
the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not
release in the foreseeable future.

12. X EHEAXZ 2

AKRBIEERE NE SR
BHERZEEREAUBEHRERME I
TER-BE2_ZT—NLF=ZA=+—8H
IEFE BEFGHMEAERERETE
E2,000,000/% 7T 2 18 &1 M8 B0 R 4% 8
R8.25% % 18 182,000,0005 7T 2 i 51 &
RFHE AL T K16 5% HIRBE (ZZ
—N\F H—BHER16.5%)

RIF R B R Z RS/ RIAER - A&
EBAMMNEBREZBHSNEAANEH
I8 o

A A 7 5= [ 0 % 9 4 [ 30 8 17 B AN 3R
ERRBOEN WA RREGZE B RE
LT AN RS B A 1 o o

BRPBEREEBREZPBEEEM
BHRERERITAV 2B REREED
FLANGF R b SR AR MR E A R A
o

BT N\F—A—HRK RIFRE
TISRA) T AR A - R BIBOA R E F
MELQAEEERAMNMRE P EREIN
BEERERARDIREE A A10%TEH
i o

RS ERESIE S B EE RO
RE MAZERMEEZEERAENAR
AR EEA - F LB Bl & A7)
2 IRARE M PSR E R I E R 2 4R
BIRIER AN R AN S B |mER P

1 -
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 12.FEBBEXZ o)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss $$J*mléi§z HEGABREEME®E
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or WHBEATRBEHRAIEEZSERWNT
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
Loss before tax Br 5 A ES 18 (19,939) (27,989)
Tax expense at rates applicable to ZEBEREERER
profits in the jurisdiction concerned %)féﬁ:EJr“Zﬂ%IEEﬂ?Z (3,365) (4,703)
Tax effect of income not taxable RRWA BB E
for tax purpose (543) (525)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AT IBRE X 2
for tax purpose Bz e 24 770
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERTMREREZTEZ
differences not recognised BB E 154 (24)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KR IBEREE 2 HETE 4,102 4,643
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised >k #& 3R %% 18 &5 18 ~ FE A (234) =
Over provision in prior years BEFEHBERE - (27)
Effect of tax exemptions granted (note) FTE 2 BRI 2 2 (M 5E) (3) (30)
Income tax expense for the year FEMEWRX 135 104
Details of deferred tax liabilities are set out in note 31. BEERIBAE B HIAMEE3 -
Note: Tax exemptions represented reduction of Hong Kong Mz - ﬁlﬁij)ﬁ%ﬁﬂ:%*)\/:;* ;%ﬁﬁ
profits tax for the year of assessment 2018/2019 by EEEMNESHMMEIS% (ZE—+ =
75% (2017/2018: 75%), subject to a ceiling of HK$20,000 —\RBEFE :75%) gﬂlﬂ% TD/JEK
(2017/2018: HK$30,000) per case and exemptions of %A /520,0005 7T ( — +/—E—-N\®
Singapore income tax for the year of assessment 2017/2018 BHER: 30,000/9@73) mEFMER ==
and 2018/2019 at regressive rate. —+/ CE- N\BREER_E—N\/

SE-NARBERZ BEREAE DR
S
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13.FEE#E

AEERANFREZBERCEIE TIE

charging: 8 :
2019 2018
—B-hE T )\E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&T FET
Salaries and wages included in HekIE&
project costs (BIEREBEEBEKAF) 516 -
Salaries and wages included in HehkIA&
administrative expenses: (BERTERAZH) :
Directors’ emoluments (note 14) EEME (HaE14) 5,449 4,906
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe LEREMER
(excluding directors’ emoluments) (TRIEEEME) 10,792 11,688
Contribution to defined contribution 5 5E #t ZER KR R 51 21 L 7%
retirement benefits scheme (TRIEES)
(excluding directors) 328 305
17,085 16,899
Depreciation e 1,979 1,362
Auditor’s remuneration % S 6 B & 600 550
Written off of trade and B 5 & H A pE Uk
other receivables FRIE 2 4l 8 = 669
Allowance for expected credit loss B REMBUGRIE L
on trade and other receivables TEE{EE & (M 5E24)
(note 24) 93 =
Impairment loss on trade and 2 5 R H M EWGRIE
other receivables (note 24) WEEE (Mik24) - 4,838
Minimum lease payments under BRAMAEMEL
operating leases in respect of REHEREER
office premises 6,943 1,751
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14. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 8 (2018:
7) directors and the chief executive were as follows:

14 EERITHRARNE

EXNKEN T =T —NF :7)UE

EMITHASRNB ST :

2019
S

Contributions

Salaries  to retirement
and other benefits
Fees benefits schemes Total
FeMm EBHRER
BH HAt 3@ F sHEIER “st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Executive Directors: HITEE:
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen WERLE - 2,080 38 2,118
Mr. Liu Rongsheng Bl S A - 960 18 978
Mr. Wang Jun ITEEE - 240 - 240
Mr. Zhang Weijie RENKE
(appointed on 7 May 2018) (R=ZZE—N\EF
HALHZME) = 540 - 540
Non-executive Director: EHTES:
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong BLEEXE - 1,185 18 1,203
Independent non-executive B FHTESE:
Directors:
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BRI 5L 4 130 - - 130
Mr. Wu Zhao KkEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va%t & 120 - - 120
Total Bt 370 5,005 74 5,449
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14. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 14.EERTHARME »)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

2018
—T-N\F
Contributions
Salaries to retirement

and other benefits
Fees benefits schemes Total
HEM RIREF
EA H o 12 7 BE LT et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET TAET
Executive Directors: HITESE:
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BEREE - 2,080 35 2,115
Mr. Liu Rongsheng BlRELE - 960 18 978
Mr. Wang Jun TEEAE - 240 - 240
Non-executive Director: FHTES:
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong BHLELE - 1,185 18 1,203
Independent non-executive B FHTESE:
Directors:
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BRI 5 & 130 - - 130
Mr. Wu Zhao RkEE 120 - - 120
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok VaZt & 120 - - 120
Total Bt 370 4,465 71 4,906
Their emoluments were within the following bands: e FaoTEE:
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZE-N\F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AEBE AEEE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0 - 1,000,000/% 7T 6 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T - 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T - 2,000,000/ 7T = -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017% 7T - 2,500,000/% 7T 1 1
8 7
Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors HEe_Z2—hEkZE—-—N\NF=A
waived any emoluments in the year ended 31 March =T -HALFE - THRARSENES
2019 and 2018. BARBEWRREMME -
No emoluments represent the payments to a MERESEBAEBEKMNEIE
management service company in respect of directors’ RE AT -

services in connection with management of the affairs
of the Group.
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15. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

16.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, 3 (2018: 3) were directors of the Group
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in
note 14 above. The emoluments of the remaining 2
(2018: 2) individuals were as follows:

15. BEEM<E

EAEEMES RSO A AT HEH3
(ZE-N\F:3H)ARAEEE= H
&£ EXHEE 14 REE K2 ( = F
—NF:2) A2 T

2019 2018
—E-AEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FAT
Salaries and other benefits e ME MR F 1,870 3,696
Contributions to retirement benefits R K4E R 51 21 =
schemes 45 36
1,915 3,732
Their emoluments were within the following bands: Mo FaTEHE:
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
ABEEE ANB&2
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0 - 1,000,0007% J© 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7t — 1,500,0007% JT 1 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,0017% 7t — 3,000,000/ 7T - 1
2 2
DIVIDEND 16. B &

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years
ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, nor has any dividend
been proposed since the end of the reporting period.

REZE-_ZE-—NFEZZE—N\F=A
=+ —HIEFERE RN HEZ IR R
CEREHRE A TERIRBETW
QO

1N

B

o

9o
X

A
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17. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on
the following data:

17. 8 RE#E

AR RN A B 2 5 RS
1832 T 5 B &

Loss BB
2019 2018
—®B-AE T N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Loss for the purpose of basic RERERREEEE
and diluted loss per share il s 2 k18 (20,074) (28,093)
Number of shares R&GEHE
2019 2018
—®-AE —E-N\E
‘000 ‘000
TR F &
Weighted average number of ordinary 5t & i% £ 7K & # % 5518
shares for the purpose of basic and M5 2 &@A%H
diluted loss per share It 388,062 363,000
Loss per share BRER
2019 2018
—®-nE —TN\E
HK cents HK cents
Al Al
Basic and diluted BEANEE (5.17) (7.74)

Since there were no potential dilutive shares in issue
during the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018, basic
and diluted loss per share are the same for both years.

HRARBE_ZE—NEE_T—N\F=
A=+—BULFEABEEEHEED %
TR A EAREESSIREEAE

EE
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18. M E K& 1E

18. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold  Furniture and office Motor  Construction
improvements fixtures equipment vehicles equipment Total
HENELE RANEEXE BAERRE AE BERE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHL T T T
COST OR VALUATION MALEE
At 1 April 2017 WZZT—+ERA—H 1,681 871 1,030 1,342 - 4,924
Additions RE 1,070 1,287 89 - - 2,446
Exchange realignment EXRE - 1 - - - 1
At 31 March 2018 and RZZ-N\F=ZA=+-BR
1 April 2018 —Z-\§mA—-AH 2,751 2,159 1,119 1,342 = 7,371
Acquisition of a subsidiary e Salislio) VN - 1 - - - 1
Transfer &Y - (1,228) - - - (1,228)
Disposal and written off HEREH - (47) - (224) = (271)
Additions RE 3,352 = 185 = 1,941 5,478
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-AEZA=t+—H 6,103 885 1,304 1,118 1,941 11,351
DEPRECIATION &
At 1 April 2017 RZZ—+tEMNA—H 979 335 686 677 - 2,677
Charge for the year AEEXHE 534 407 141 280 - 1,362
At 31 March 2018 and R-Z-N\EZA=+-BR
1 April 2018 —Z-\§mA-A 1,513 742 827 957 = 4,039
Transfer & - (666) - - - (666)
Disposal and written off HERFHE - (13) - (215) - (228)
Charge for the year REEXH 836 750 126 266 1 1,979
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-AE=A=1+-H 2,349 813 953 1,008 1 5,124
CARRYING VALUES FEE
At 31 March 2019 RZZ-hAFE=A=1+-8 3,754 72 351 110 1,940 6,227
At 31 March 2018 R=ZE-\E=ZA=+—-H 1,238 1417 292 385 - 3332

No asset was held under finance lease as at 31 March
2019. As at 31 March 2018, included in the carrying
value of motor vehicles of approximately HK$385,000
was an amount of approximately HK$100,000 held
under a finance lease.

RZE-NF=A=+—8 XxEEL
EREREHEREZEE -BRER=
E-N\F=ZA=+—RZAENKRAE
#)385,000/8TTA RIFWEHERFH
& E %9 /100,000 7T ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &HZE—-Z

19.

—hFE=ZA=t—HLFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTY 19. &YX
Total
st
HK$'000
FHET
FAIR VALUE YNSRI
At 1 April 2017 R-ZFE—tFMA—H 22,500
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIEZFHER 2 A FEE N 2,500
At 31 March 2018 m:%—)\iﬂﬁ =+—H 25,000
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss MRIEZEFER 2 A FEE N 3,200
At 31 March 2019 RZE—hhF=ZA=+—8 28,200
The fair value of the Group's investment property at REEBREVWER-_ZE—HLF=A
31 March 2019 has been arrived at on the basis of =+—H 2 A Y{E A E E R

a valuation carried out on that date by Peak Vision
Appraisals Limited (“PVA"), an independent qualified
professional valuers not connected with the Group.
PVA is a member of the Institute of Surveyors. The
valuation was arrived at by market prevailing market
rents for comparable properties in the same location
and condition, expected future market rents and
appropriate discount rates, market prices if appropriate.
Details of the valuation techniques and assumptions are
discussed below.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use.

All of the Group’s property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals purposes are measured
using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment property.

The Group’'s investment property which was pledged
to secure banking facilities granted to the Group in
prior years has been released from the charge on 18
September 2018.

The investment property is measured subsequent to
initial recognition at fair value of Level 2 based on the
degree to which the inputs to fair value measurement
are observable. There were no transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy during the year.

Z?%j BREEGEMRBFNGAE
T(T/E%%J)E’\‘EZE&%TE%E#
Ef’iﬁﬁéi%iﬁﬁé/ﬁﬂiéﬂi?@@%%ﬁ@
T2 ER — AR A L RN T
BMSEEE %ﬁ;ﬂiX‘ﬁiﬁfﬂé\&iﬂ“
MPTRE - REMNTISEREREH- G
Tﬁ?ﬂimﬁfﬁj“ B mMT e

EfAZMEZAFER ZOEEM
ZRERERREERS-

AEBMARELEHEERB ARRE
ERBZREME AR FERAG
B YD BRIEREDE-

REE 2 REWER AR FE A EHR 7
DEBGBRTFTASEZRITRE ERZ
T-NENLA+TN\BREKEHER-

REMERVRERRIZUAXTFEFE
ZEABBNABERERERNE —
RAFEAE - RAEFERN ZFRFE
JE A 2 8 0 4 4B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued) 19. REWE (#)
The following table gives information about how the fair TREVNEER_ZE—NF=A=+—
values of the investment property as at 31 March 2019 BB MEZATFTEZER (LHRE
is determined (in particular, the valuation techniques s A (hEEiReE) :
and inputs used):
Fair value
as at
Fair value 31 March
hierarchy 2019 Valuation technique and key inputs
R=Z—hI%F
=A=+—H
AFEER ZAVE RFRERNTREIEZEHE
HK$'000
FAT
Investment property  Level 2 28,200 Investment Method of valuation

— by reference to market prevailing market
rents for comparable properties in the same
location and condition, expected future
market rents and appropriate discount rates,
market prices if appropriate.

REWME EH BEMEE

— K2ER - MHEMAKATAILEYENLT BT
BEE BEFARKMSEeRBEENTRE.
BENTSERESFD -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE MR

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—h"WF=A=-+—HIEFE

20. GOODWILL 20. &
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Cost: B
As at 1 April REOH—H 854 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34) U — R B A B (BisE34) 1,867 854
As at 31 March W=ZA=+—8H 2,721 854
Accumulated impairment losses: ZEEORERIE
As at 1 April and 31 March ROA—BRk=HA=+—H - -
Carrying Value: BREE:
As at 31 March R=A=+—H” 2,721 854
Goodwill acquired through business combination FERDINEBEE_E—N\ER_ZE—AH
during the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2019 of FZAZT—HUEFEZEBEHUKE
approximately HK$854,000 and HK$1,867,000 have been 7 79 E 4 58 49854,0007 7T 2. 1,867,000
allocated to the financial services business segment EBITEORSRESBHRIBER L EE
and fitting out and engineering services business, MITRRBES-

respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZEZ—Z

20. GOODWILL (continuea)

An analysis of goodwill attributable to the relevant
cash-generating units (“CGUs") is as follows:

e MR M EE

—NEF=ZA=+—HILFE

20. & ()
EEEsELEMN ((BeEEEM])
FEIETEE Y ST :

Fitting out and

Financial engineering
services services
business business
segment CGU  segment CGU Total
CRRE HERIBRE
(¥BoBRE ES iR ik
EEEN EEEBN @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FTET FAET
Carrying value at 1 April 2017 RZZE—+ENA-BHRAE - - -
Goodwill arising from acquisition of ~ WEMBAFTELNHE
subsidiary (note 34(b)) (H3E34(0)) 854 - 854
Carrying value at 31 March 2018 and R-Z—N\FZA=+—8Rk
1 April 2018 ZE-\FEHA—HH
REE 854 - 854
Goodwill arising from acquisition of ~ WENBLRARELMEE
subsidiary (note 34(a)) (Fi5E34(a)) - 1,867 1,867
Carrying value at 31 March 2019 —“AEZA=1+—8#/
REE 854 1,867 2,721

The Group has appointed an independent qualified
professional valuer, Peak Vision Appraisals Limited
to perform its annual impairment test for goodwill
allocated to the financial services business segment
CGU and fitting out and engineering services business
segment CGU by comparing its recoverable amount
to its carrying amount as at the end of the reporting
period. The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are
determined based on the fair value less costs of
disposal by reference to comparable and the value-
in-use calculations which are required to estimate
the future cash flow of the CGU and the assumptions
(including the revenue growth rates, gross margin and
long term growth rate used in the cash flow projections
and discount rate) applied to bring the future cash flow
back to their present values. Management of the Group
determines that there is no impairment of goodwill for
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

AEEEZRE—RB YA EREXEME
AR HARAR LS TR
BEBDBRRERTIERBEES S
REEABMNZHETHESERER
WEHRCEME HEHEHETFER
BRI - IE%F%?LLE’J—M&@%%ETJ
BE2EEHBEANLUTEAFEER
BERARTE: RIGFTHRESEEEMND
FARBERTIEHATHER (BEFERE
MEAFHKRAERER  EF X EHH
iﬁ%%ﬂﬂﬁﬁ%)ﬂ%*%ﬁim E

B EFREBRKRET - BHEZ 71
E&:ﬁf)\ﬁiﬂiJr*Eiﬂ:EE“
AEEEEEECHERERNE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—h"WF=A=-+—HIEFE

21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. B EE
Cross-
boundary
Securities vehicle
licences licence Total
s
EHER HEER et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
Cost: DN
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+FMHAHA—H
Acquisition of assets through & @ U EE — M B A &)
acquisition of a subsidiary BABE
(note 35) (MF7E35) - 1,876 1,876
Acquisition of a subsidiary U B8 — M B A A
(note 34(b)) (B #E34(b) ) 18,738 - 18,738
At 31 March 2018, 1 April 2018 R =—Z— N\ 4F
and 31 March 2019 =A=+—8-
—E-N\FMA—H
EZF—NF
=—A=+—H 18,738 1,876 20,614
Accumulated impairment RETREEE
losses:
At 31 March 2018 and RZZE—NF
1 April 2018 —A=+—HK
—E-NFUA—H - - -
Impairment loss recognised 2R E - 62 62
As 31 March 2019 RZE—hNF=HA=+—H - 62 62
Carrying value: BREE :
As at 31 March 2019 RZE—NF=ZA=+—H 18,738 1,814 20,552
As at 31 March 2018 RZZE—NF=ZA=+—H 18,738 1,876 20,614
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e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continueq)

The intangible assets represent (i) the licences (the “SFO
Licences”) to carry on Type 1 (Trading of securities),
Type 4 (Advising on securities) and Type 9 (Asset
management) activities under the Securities and
Futures ordinance (“SFO") (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and (ii) the cross-boundary vehicle licence.

SFO Licences

The Group has appointed an independent qualified
professional valuer, Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, to
perform an appraisal of the value of the SFO Licences as
at 31 March 2019. The recoverable amount of intangible
asset has been determined based on the fair value
less cost of disposal by reference to comparables. No
impairment of the SFO Licences has been provided as
the recoverable amount of the SFO Licences was higher
than its carrying amount as at 31 March 2019.

The cross-boundary vehicle licence

The Group has appointed an independent qualified
professional valuer, Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, to
perform an appraisal of the value of the cross-boundary
vehicle licence as at 31 March 2019. The recoverable
amount of intangible asset has been determined on
the basis of value in use calculation. The value in
use calculation uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management from
2020 to 2024 by applying average growth rate of 2.5%
in market rental and a discount rate of 11.1%. Cash
inflows/outflows have been determined based on past
performance and management’s expectations for the
market development.

Impairment of approximately HK$62,000 (2018: Nil) on
the cross-boundary vehicle licence has been provided
as the recoverable amount of the cross-boundary
vehicle licence was less than its carrying amount as at
31 March 2019.

21. B EE (&)

BREERNESEREFNEE
7 M HERD ([3F %&Hﬂi'ﬂlﬂﬂﬂ
TEIR(EHFEER L (B siR
HER) KF E(é?%@)xé%ﬁﬁﬂéﬁ
R (38 F5 R IR RO R ) R (i) 78

B o R R o

& 5 I H B R B B
AEEDRE 2B LAERFEEMLE
BR 2R B R AR E 5 KB E P
RN _T-NF=ZA=1+— EIE’ME@
ETHE - BREENENZ2ELR
Tttl&kﬁﬁ“i{ﬁﬁﬁﬂj’iﬁiﬁmTW
AEE-R_FT-NE=ZA=+—8"
5B GG Z AT E 25 R
HEREE - B 8 75 K & 5RO R FRUR
BEE-

A EEER
AEBEBZE—EZBIAERBEME
Eﬂﬁ%f%?ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ AIE R BEHERR
—hWE=A=+—BmEEETFT
ff:nr ﬂﬁzﬁ?ﬁﬁ—wﬁl@ﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁ)ﬂ
Fffﬁﬂr::ﬁﬁfzm FHEBEFEFERE
EEEMEN_—_ZS-_TFE-_FT NN
iﬂﬁ,ﬂﬁﬁﬁli‘ﬁﬁkﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁ%mﬁ B T
%Tﬂ%ﬂﬁ)\ﬁﬁﬁlﬁZ 5% RE &
WIRI1% - WERmARETER
BERBELEBESMSERNENE
on

RZB-—NAF=A=+—H $HBER
ERzA e REREREE $8
AR OB EE B SRR 62,0008 7T
(ZF—N\F: &)
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—h"WF=A=-+—HIEFE

22. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

22. ERERKHE

2019 2018
—EB-NF A
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FiE T
Current & 5,962 24,227
Non-current JERED = -
5,962 24,227
Analyzed as: ST

With one year —F A 5,962 24,227
5,962 24,227
2019 2018
—2-RE T )\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loan receivables JEURE 3k 6,000 23,500
Interest receivables JE U FI) B, 146 727

Less: Allowance for expected credit 33 : TEER{E & B 1B B
losses (184) =
5,962 24,227

The Group’s loan and interest receivables, which arise
from the money lending business in Hong Kong, are
denominated in Hong Kong dollar. Loan receivables
are unsecured, interest-bearing and are repayable
with fixed terms agreed with the Group’s customers.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at each of the
reporting dates is the carrying value of the receivables
mentioned above.

The loan and interest receivables (2018: Nil) were past
due but not impaired at 31 March 2019. Regular reviews
on these loans are conducted by the management
based on the historical information about counterparty
default rate, latest status of these loans and the latest
available information about the borrowers. There had
not been a significant change in credit quality and these
balances were considered fully recoverable.

AEBREERLMEREREBIRM
BEMNERE WABTHE - BRER
SEERR HEYNERAEEEFZETE
MEEHRAERE RNE|E BHHA®E
e B B RS B AR - A& £ SRt FE R
BRI AREE -

RUREFRFE(ZF—NF:E)R=
E-NE=A=+t—RYCBHPERE
ARE EEEREEHIENERNAE
EEH  ZFEE RN R E 78
RFASEREZEERETENE
ZoEEEEYBEANE BLEH
PRG3R 2 BE U -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 22.

(Continued)

In accordance with HKFRS 9, the management takes
forward-looking information into consideration that
allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL") of
approximately HK$242,000 was recognised as an
adjustment to the opening equity at 1 April 2018 and
movement in the allowance for ECL that has been

FERERREIE &)

REBEEBVHEREERNENR TIEE
%E‘éﬁﬁﬂ%’l‘iﬁﬂiﬂﬁuﬁﬁﬁmm%Eﬁ?@
(ITEHEEEE]) MEHE L 5242,000
AT ESZT-NA\FHA— B
BE#HABE MBEE_ZFT-NF=A
=t B LFERERERERARE

recognised for loan receivables for the year ended 31 EEERE 228 0T
March 2019 is as follows:
HK$'000
FAT
Balance as at 31 March 2018 under HKAS 39  IRIEFB S ERIFE39HR T — \F
=A= + Az &% -
Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 9 RERBAMGHmELEESRE
fEH 2 % 242
Adjusted balance as at 1 April 2018 RZE-NFHNA—B2EAREH 242
Reversal of allowance for expected EHEEREREDR
credit losses (58)
Balance as at 31 March 2019 RZE—NF=ZA=t+—HZ#&% 184
INVENTORIES 23. 7 &
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fine and rare wines held for sale, BEHEER UK ER
at cost 975 1,408
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—h"WF=A=-+—HIEFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. B 5 Rk H At B FK 18

2019 2018

—EB-NF A

HK$'000 HK$'000

F&T FHET

Trade receivables g 5 WA 12,952 5,860
Less: Allowance for impairment of BB B EWGRIA

trade receivables BEREE (4,329) (4,889)

Net trade receivables B RN IEFE 8,623 971

Retention money receivables (note) FEWRB % (iF) - 1,844
Less: Allowance for impairment of B EWIRE £ 88

retention money receivables LB B = =

Net retention money receivables FEWIREE & 58 558 - 1,844
Deposit, prepayment and advance e EMNRIER

to suppliers ) 4 JE P B 5K 10,498 4,088

Other receivables H b FE Y IE 91 87

Total trade and other receivables B 5 N H bW R IE 2R 19,212 6,990

Note: Retention money receivables are unsecured, interest-free
and recoverable at the end of the defect liability period
of individual contracts from 1 year since the date of the
completion of the respective project.

Retention money receivables has been included in contract
assets as at 31 March 2019 in accordance with HKFRS 15.

FBRRESER/EBEN 28XRERNE
B RERRATKE - RIEPRBEHB T
BAHE—%F-

EURESERBETEVWBHRELANE
BREMAR-ZE-NEF=A=+—~H
ZAWNEERT
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The Group allows an average credit period ranging from
30 to 180 day to its trade customers. The following is
an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance
for impairment of trade receivables presented based
on the invoice date, which approximates the respective
revenue recognition dates, at the end of the reporting

2. ESG R EMEWRKIE &)

AEBRMEE SEFIRMEAH30=180
BAREZFEHEEHR - LA TN ABRIREH
RiZHEHH (BZE 2 WsmRAH
M) 22 ESRKFBEEHNBRE S
FEURZ BB EBE 2 BRE DT

period.
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Within 30 days 30HA 7,933 12
More than 30 days but within 90 days  #B:B30H1B908 AR 690 -
More than 90 days but within 180 days  ##E90H B 180H M A - S
More than 180 days but within 365 days #2i#E180H B 365H MK - =
More than 365 days iBiB365H8 - 959

8,623 971
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—h"WF=A=-+—HIEFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

None of the Group’'s trade receivables (2018:
approximately HK$959,000) was past due as at 31
March 2019 for which the Group has not provided
for impairment loss because there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and they are still
considered as recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

The aged analysis of trade receivables which are past
due but not impaired is set out below:

24.

B 5 R HAEKRR

AEEEZZHREFE (R _F—LF
ZA=+—HBE3H) (_"*/\i

#7959,00078 7T ) - T AN 5= [ 1) K /3 b 3
TTREREERE: litEEEE/\\\E%E%T%

I8 ()

W R IR B ARE - AR 3 R U E o
ZI»‘%ﬂﬁﬂﬁ?dﬁlﬁbi%ﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁEﬁﬁﬁ

UTREBHERREE S REFIAZ
“‘-A/'\*ﬁr

2019 2018

—E-hEF — N\

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Within 30 days 308 A = =

More than 30 days but within 90 days #23B30H ER90H AR - =

More than 90 days @90 H - 959

- 959

The movement in the allowance for impairment of trade B 5 N E b e W SR IE R E B 2 B a0
and other receivables is set out below: T

2019 2018

—E-hEF — N\

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At the beginning of the financial year Bt B £ & 47) 4,889 2,375

Allowance for expected credit loss TEHEE BB E 93 -

Impairment losses recognised wRAEEE = 4,838

Amount written off as uncollectible — ~a] Uy [a] 2 78 #f 35 (653) (2,281)

Impairment loss reversed B EERE - (43)

At the end of the financial year HHFER 4,329 4,889

Included in the allowance for impairment of trade B NEMERTIEREEERBED

and other receivables are individually impaired trade BHZENBEMNEREZE S R HEMmE

and other receivables with an aggregate balance of
approximately HK$4,236,000 (2018: HK$4,889,000) which
had been long outstanding. The individually impaired
trade and other receivables are recognised based on
the credit history of its customers, such as financial
difficulties or default in payments, and current market
conditions.

WK TE - 481 R 494,236,000 7T (—F
— /A5 : 4,889,000/ 7T) < It F E A B2
HMEZEZREMBERUKBECERER
FHEE R  FIn R R R S 5GE
# RBITHHBERAIERER -
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(Continued)

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are

e MR M EE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

2. ESG R EMEWRKIE &)

5 MEMBERIAZ REENATIE

denominated in the following currencies: B (Y
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T FET
HK$ 19,166 6,427
RMB 15 4
Malaysia Ringgit (‘"MYR") - 559
US$ - _
Singapore Dollars (“SGD") 31 -
19,212 6,990
AMOUNT DUE FROM (TO) CUSTOMERS 25. B (E{)FEFEHNIRE
FOR CONTRACT WORK MIE
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FE T
Contracts in progress at the end of MR ZETHER
the reporting period
Contract costs incurred plus recognised BRI DN E R
profits less recognised losses i AR E W R B 1R - 68,827
Less: Progress billings WIREERARE - (68,830)
At the end of the financial year REBEER = M)
2019 2018
—E-NE —ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHEx FET
Analysed for reporting purpose as: MMEENMANAE:
Amounts due from customers EREFAHITRRT
for contract work - 163
Amounts due to customers EREFPEHTITIENRT
for contract work - (166)

- ©)

As at 31 March 2018, all gross amounts due from/
(to) customers for contract work were expected to be

recovered/ settled within one year.

Note: Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, gross amounts due from/(to)
customers for contract work are included in contract assets
and contract liabilities respectively and disclosed in note 26.

20183 A318  Fr A EUW  (FELRS)
=2EE %ﬁl%“?ﬂl%@%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ’:\*iw
HQ@//EJ g °

Bet : MR BT B M I MEERFE155E B
S (ER)BFPAHTIZRBLAETS B
FARME2ZRBENAGNEERANE
Ao
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—h"WF=A=-+—HIEFE

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES
(a) cContract assets

26 EHNEEREGHNERE

(@) EHEE

31 March 1 April 31 March
2019 2018 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F —E-N\F
=R=t-H mMA-AH =ZA=t+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT THET
(note (i) (note (i)
(FEEEG) (PREEG))
Provision of fitting out and ~ #RHEEE R TR EHKHN
engineering services and REFFREBRER
provision of design and HEERRE
procurement of furnishings
and related products
services 5,170 2,007 -

(i) The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the
cumulative effect method and adjusted the opening
balance at 1 April 2018.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, some of the
retentions receivables, for which the Group's
entitlement to the consideration was conditional
on achieving certain milestones or satisfactory
completion of the retention period, were reclassified
from "Retention money receivables” under “Trade and
other receivables” to contract assets.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's
rights to consideration for work completed but
not yet billed at the end of the reporting period.
The increase in contract assets in 2019 was the
result of the increase in the provision of fitting
out and engineering services and the provision of
design and procurement of furnishings and related
products services at the end of the reporting
period. The contract assets are transferred
to trade receviables when the rights become
unconditional.

Retention receivables are included in contract
assets until the end of the retention period as
the Group's entitlement to the final payment is
conditional on the Group's work satisfactorily
passing inspection.

)y AEBEEARAFEEERERE
BRI IRE AR E155% 0 W BN
—E-\FEA-HNEER-

TR BR A0 & B B 75 3R 5 E R 81558
i AREEFERENEMNARE
A T BARRE SR BB ST 77
AEENR D EKRRES B IE
5 R E M EUWGRIR] TR T A [ e
RECHIENMDBRENEE-

BHEEFTZMRAKEZARN
BEMRD TR ERBHEET
RORENEN - —T—hFHE
#)EER RN RS AR MR
KR TR RS MET RERBR
BREEERRBEN - GHEE
A6 R B 2 B (R B A
2 I WA

BURBEBREEARNEETE
EREHER  AAREERREN
REEFBUR N AS BB TER
TR BBERSE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 HZ—Z—hF=A=+—HILFE

26. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continueq)
(b) cContract liabilities

26 EHNEEREGHNERE &)

(b) EXHEE

31 March 1 April 31 March
2019 2018 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F —E-N\F
=R=t-H mMA-AH =ZA=t+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT THET
(note (i) (note (i)
(FEEEG) (PREEG))
Provision of fitting out and ~ #RHEEE R TR EHKHN
engineering services and REFFREBRER
provision of design and HEERRE
procurement of furnishings
and related products
services 109 166 -

(i) The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the
cumulative effect method and adjusted the opening
balance at 1 April 2018.

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the
advanced consideration received from customers,
for which revenue is recognised based on the
progress of the provision of related services.

)y AEBERRFZELIERNERE
BRI IRE AR E155% 0 W BN
—E-\FEA-HNEER-

BHAEXZERCKEFPMNE
BRARE - ARWEDRIBRHEA
B AR R R MR
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—h"WF=A=-+—HIEFE

27. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT AND CASH

AND BANK BALANCES

Pledged bank deposit

The pledged bank deposit has been released from the
charge on 28 September 2018. Pledged bank deposit as
at 31 March 2018 represented deposit pledged to bank
to secure banking facilities granted to the Group and
carried fixed interest rate at 0.15% per annum.

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the
Group and short-term bank deposits with maturity
within three months from initial inception. Bank
balances carried interest at market rates ranging from
0.01% t0 0.1% (2018: 0.01% to 0.1%) per annum during
the year ended 31 March 2019. The bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default. The carrying amounts of bank
balances and cash are denominated in the following
currencies:

27. CEFRTERUARRER

BT8R

SIEBEITER
BERBAERER - — \FNA
—FN\BRE R E— N\E= A
=+ — B2 BIER BT ERAE BT
WY F5 LA AR E R RTE

EEM R HiZEFEF S E0.15%:t
8o

RITEBRRERES
RITEHRIEREBERAEREE 2R
S hBERYABTZERRNTE S5
BITTFER - RITELRIREE-_ZT— AN
FZA=+—HILFERIZTHERR
NH0.01%ZE0.1% ( —ZF— N\ :0.01%
E0.1% )t B BITHEBRINTFERANEE
BHFHY EHE R DR 2 RTT - RITA
BRESZEREEBENTEEE:

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-NF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FABT

HKS$ BT 22,592 36,365
RMB AR 469 1,197
Malaysia Ringgit (“"MYR") BRAESE - 2,229
USs$ ET 2,310 1,779
Singapore Dollars (“SGD") oo 1,638 7
27,009 41,577

The conversion of RMB-denominated balances into
foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign
currencies denominated bank balances and cash out of
the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulation of
the foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.

AR S8R5 SN A8 b 51
WRTERLASELTE BETH
B R i 8 51 BEE T 1) 98 4 2 A R AR Bl KO
e
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. B 5 &k H th e R IE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trade payables 2 5 I8 3,379 582
Receipt in advances TE W RIE 206 263

Accrued expenses and other FEET R X & H h JE 5 5K I8
payables 4,504 2,117
8,089 2,962

Less non-current portion: TBIERBYEL D

other payables (Note) H A e RIE (51) (470) -
Current portion mEYEL D 7,619 2,962
Note: Non-current portion of other payables represents the T EMENRENERDIOEREZZ
consideration payable for the acquisition of a subsidiary E-NE=ZA=+—BIFEWKE—FM

during the year ended 31 March 2019.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the

reporting period.

ME AR EAERE-

LT ARMBREERZEZAHZ7
B RMNFIA Rk D

2019 2018

—E-hE —ZE-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Within 30 days 30HA 2,557 28
More than 30 days but within HBiB30H 1B R90H UK

90 days - 189

More than 90 days #BiE90H 822 365

3,379 582
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &HZE—-Z

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

(Continued)

—hFE=ZA=t—HLFE

The average credit period on purchases of goods is
30 days. The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled
within the credit timeframe. Included in trade and other
payables in the consolidated statements of financial
position are mainly the following amounts denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the

entities to which they relate:

28.

BEZREMENR

BABRZFYEEH /30 - NEE
BTz AREERRSHERMEE
NHRBENEEHRABE - REPH
RS BT DI B B 5 B Bt JE A FROR £
EHENIEE (MIABEZINEE
BIEE YNZFEEB R 2o BE
X :

I8 ()

2019 2018
—EB-NF A
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
HKS BT 7,781 2,859
RMB AR 308 103
8,089 2,962
29. OBLIGATION UNDER A FINANCE 29. B EHEAIE
LEASE

2019 2018
—E-hE —\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FET

Analysed for reporting purposes as:  Ft¥R&E B B O AT A
Current liabilities mEEaE - 90
Non-current liabilities ERFBEE - =
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29. OBLIGATION UNDER A FINANCE 29

LEASE (continued)

Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance
leases are fixed at 3.26% (2018: 3.26%) per annum.

EEHERE 2

BMEMEAENFRETE AT E3.26%
(ZZ—)\:3.26%) °

Minimum lease Present value of minimum
payments lease payments
EEREHNR BERENRZEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
= i AN = i A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEx FET FER
Amounts payable under a finance lease  REME 2 R 7TE
Within one year —ER - 91 - 90
After one year but within two years —EHBRRER - = = =
- 9N - 90
Less: Future finance charges B AREBER - (1) N/A FEA N/A TiE R
Present value of obligation under BERERELRE
finance lease - 90 - 90
Less: Amount due for settlement i M2{E A B
with 12 months (shown under BEZEH
current liabilities) GIRFBAEZT) - (90)
Amount due for settlement after RIERREEE LS
12 months B -

The Group has fully settled the obligation under a
finance lease during the year. The charge over the
leased asset was released during the year.

AEERFATHBEEREREAE-
RHEEE BN R FAMRER-
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30. SECURED BANK BORROWING 30. IR HEBRTHEE
2019 2018
—EB-NF A
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fit Fits ot
Secured bank borrowing BEBRITEER - 6,689

Carrying amount repayable (based on EEEE@mE (ERER
scheduled repayment dates set out s ATEiHEIER B E)
in the loan agreements):

Within one year —F R - 307
After one year but within two years ~ —F B ERBFER - 315
After two years but within five years MEZEBERIFR - 992
After five years hFE - 5,075

- 6,689

Carrying amount of bank loans that W 3EIZ kel B K& HiR R

are not repayable on demand or —FRNEEBREAKREN
within one year from the end of BEERZRITEXERER

the reporting period but contain a (PIRREEBET)
repayment on demand clause

(shown under current liabilities) - 6,382
Carrying amount repayable on RERS—FANEEREME
demand or within one year - 307
- 6,689
During the year ended 31 March 2019, secured bank BEZZT—NWF=-A=+—HLEFE"
borrowing bore average floating interest rates of 2.5% BB ITEEIZE I ZEFEFER2 5%
per annum (2018: 2.5%). HE(ZZE—N\F:25%) -
Secured bank borrowing as at 31 March 2018 was RZE—NEFE=A=1+—H 2 BKIFR
secured by the Group’s investment property (note 19), TEERAEB ZIKEWEEERE (M
which has been released upon the full repayment of the F19) TR ZZE—NFNARZEE
outstanding balance in August 2018. RERFEmMBEGRE R -
As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has the REEHR  REBFEAR A TNRERE
following undrawn borrowing facilities: B:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT

Floating rate BRI R
- expiring beyond one year — BB —FEmR = 4,500
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31. DEFERRED TAXATION
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities
recognised and movements thereon during the current
and prior years:

I FiE B 1E

NTAEAFENBEFERBNTE
BEHRERBEREES:

Fair value

Accelerated adjustment

tax onintangible

depreciation assets Total
BREE

B Wi E NFEAE &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHL FAT FHL

At 1 April 2017 “E—+FMA—H 225 - 225

Charged to profit or loss SFABHZ - - -

Acquisition of a subsidiary Yo —RM B R A

(note 34(b)) (BFE34(b)) = 3,092 3,092
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 R=-ZE—NF=ZA=+—-HEK

—N\EMA—H 225 3,092 3,317

Charged to profit or loss FTAER 135 - 135

At 31 March 2019 RZZE-NF=ZA=+—H 360 3,092 3,452

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of approximately HK$116,325,000
(2018: HK$87,742,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the unused tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. These tax
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

%m/ﬁnﬂz%@ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁ%ﬁm%
116,325,000 Tt (=& — N\ &F:
87742000,%75) o B R 2R i ) A
TER WEFLAB B EREEEREL
Eﬁﬁ%ﬂih%ﬁﬁ%?ﬁﬂﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁ

179



180

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited {12 & RIZR B R A 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #Z=F—h"WF=A=-+—HIEFE

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. R
Number of shares Share capital
S
2019 2018 2019 2018
“E-NE —Z-N\F “E-NE ZEN\fF
1,000 1,000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Tk TER FEL
Issued and fully paid BITLHR
At beginning of the financial year R BFEEN 363,000 363,000 154,851 154,851
Issue of new shares upon placing,  EE#F K 0B F
net of transaction costs (note ) RS (M) 72,600 - 14,036 -
At the end of financial year REBFER 435,600 363,000 168,887 154,851
Note: Mtz -

0)

On 1 November 2018, the Group and a placing agent entered
into a placing agreement, pursuant to which the Group
has appointed the placing agent to procure altogether not
less than six independent placees for placing up to an
aggregate of 72,600,000 placing shares at a placing price of
HK$0.20 per placing share (the “Placing”). The closing price
per share on that date was HK$0.21. Details of the Placing
were set out in an announcement of the Company dated 1
November 2018 and 26 November 2018. The net proceeds
of the placing is intended to be used for the purchase of
construction equipment for leasing purpose. These new
shares were issued under the general mandate granted to
the directors at an annual general meeting of the Company
held on 7 September 2018.

All the ordinary shares issued during the year ended
31 March 2019 rank pari passu with the then existing
shares in all respects.

RZZE—NFE+—A—B AEEEEE
REITVESHZE Bt XEEEZE
RERERESETIDRANEE LAE
ANREREERMD20BTEEA RS
72,600,0000 e & x5 ([EL&EFIE]) ©
ERUTEAER2UE T - ZEEEE
ZHBENARTRASHA-T—N\FE+—
A—BEZZE—NEFE+—A=+~BZ
NEN REMSHEFHEEANEER
HLRBEREZ A - ZEHBM HIRER
—E-NFENALERTZERRAFEX
eERTZ—MBREMmMET

BE_T-NF=A=T—HILFERN
BITNMA T BN EMERREFNR

PELIES S8
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme enables the Company to grant
options to any Participant as incentives or rewards
for their contributions to the Group. The Company
conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 30 June 2014 whereby
the Board are authorised, at their absolute discretion
and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme,
to grant options to subscribe for the shares of the
Company to the Eligible Participant, The Share Option
Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing from the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 March 2019, the total number of shares (the
“Shares”) of the Company available for issue under
the Scheme is 30,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of
the issued Shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) of the
aggregate number of Shares in issue immediately upon
completion of the listing of the Shares in July 2014.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for shares
granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the
“Option”), the Eligible Participant shall pay HK$1.00 to
the Company by way of consideration for the grant. The
Option will be offered for acceptance for a period of
21 days from the date on which the Option is granted.
The subscription price for the Shares subject to Options
will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each participant and shall be the highest of: (i)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the Options, which must be a day on which trading of
Shares take place on the Stock Exchange (the “Trading
Day"); and (i) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the 5 Trading Days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the Options.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options,
provided that the total number of Shares which may
issue upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme does not exceed the Scheme
Mandate Limit. The Company may at any time refresh
such limit, subject to the shareholders’ approval and the
issue of a circular in compliance with the GEM Listing
Rules, provided that the total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under all the share
option schemes of the Company does not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issued at the time. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no
share option has been granted by the Company.

33. B ESE

BRI SE A DA A AEA 2 EE
REBRE ERtfEANKREMER
Bl BB @ RRmN — T — P04

NA= T BE G RN R ER
([EERrERTEl]) - Bt EFSERE
AP B B ISR TE T - KR R A
Al Z IR AR BRSAE T HREAR
R AR 2 BB - PR AR At 35 0 HL
Z%ﬁ%W%?EiEJrJrEH;@F’? BEAEMRE
5( o

o
—+

RZE—NF=ZA=Z=+—8 REZ
qu;IJTT#\)%ﬂZHxTﬁ(FHxT%J)?'@%(Fj
30,000,000f% " ERA =& —WF+ A K

7 £ SE RS 2 B 81T IR ) 4850 2 10%
(TRTEIRERE]) -

£

I VRIS AT 0 T S
2 ERE ((BRE K ABRS
525 B (AR AR % 11008 T (A
AR (B - BB RRAE 2 R A
IR E i1 2 M
E RS E SRR LTS
ER: RAAATAAR S BEE
A ( L

?

(N HBRES
RAEBEZAT ([XRHA]))ERF
= $&f§2§}5ﬁ$ﬁ2ﬁﬁ1ﬂﬁz‘ﬁ{% A
ERHBREE BRI AERZ 5 E
FRBERAE M FHRTIE-

o

A2 RV T AT I AR AR IR
AR AR £ 2115 T 48 L2 S A IR A
(1% o] 7 511 2 M) @B BRI
8B R - 5 R AR IR IBGEM |
ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ@&&'$@ﬂﬂ%%ﬁﬁ
b IR - MR AR 2 ) 2 A AR S
BIFTIR I 08 #1722 A A 17 (R BB R
RETE RN TR 2 RDBY T

F18 2 B B 517 IR 1D 2 30% - IR 7]
BEHERANES R T 2 BE N
BT R T B R
B AT R AL P

B B AR B BRI IAR AR AR
B B A
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATION
(@) Acquisition of a subsidiary during the

year ended 31 March 2019

On 21 December 2018, the Group, through a
wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with two independent
third parties (the “Vendors”), pursuant to which
the Group agreed to acquire and the Vendors
agreed to sell the sale loan in the amount of
approximately HK$5,438,000, being all obligations,
liabilities and indebtedness owing or incurred
by the target company (the “Waterproofing
Target”) to the Vendors on or at any time prior
to the completion whether actual, contingent or
deferred and irrespective of whether or not the
same is due and payable on completion, and the
entire issued share capital of the Waterproofing
Target, which is engaged in the waterproofing
works and maintenance business in Hong Kong,
at a consideration of HK$1,880,000, of which
HK$940,000 (being 50% of the total consideration),
was payable by the Group to the Vendors in cash
upon completion and the remaining was payable
by the Group by 2 installments upon expiry of a
period of six months from the date of completion;
and a period of 18 months from the date of
completion. The acquisition was completed on 21
December 2018.

34. £ S 6

(a)

REBZE-ZE—-hIE=ZA=1+—
HEFEWE-—BEHBLQT

AEB(BEB—2EBBZHE
NENRZE—N\F+=A=+—
BERELBIE=F([BEH])%E
AI—EEEWmE REZDE

SERENREREFRELRE—
BREBREHKIRERGEBEE
Bz AR ([BHKRKBEZERE])Z
& E8H4) 55,438,000 T 2 HEE
K BIBAK BB R RN ER T2
AEAEEEREAXEEHE
ECZHBEL BERER (T
BER AREL BETwER
BRTEXRED R ERS) RE2EE
TR D - W BB R (B A1,880,000
7 7T ° B fh 940,000 7T (Bl 42 1%
B 250% ) 78 i 78 52 B A SE AR BRF LA
ReMEAINEBEAEALAE
B 5 2HA R B HE A 5K B B E6 1
A EmE e @EEA K18
fAMEREzZEEEXHM
EFXH -ZWBEBEBEBER T
—N\FE+-_A=-+—H=EK-
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 4. (B & Bt (&)
(@) Acquisition of a subsidiary during the (@) RBE-—ZE—hhE=A=+-—
year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued) BIEEEWE—RBHBAT
(&)
The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities kB EZEARza#EEREA
of the Waterproofing Target at completion date are ERERB 2 AFEBEDT
disclosed as below:
HK$'000
FET
Plant and equipment B M 31 1
Deposit and prepayment Ee RFERHK 13
Bank balances RITHE R 1
Accruals ERER (2)
Amount due to the Vendors JERTE 77 5KR (5,438)
Net liabilities acquired FriiEz B8 EFE (5,425)
Less: The sale loan W HEEER 5,438
Goodwill (note 20) 2 (MF5E20) 1,867
Total consideration wR(E 1,880
Satisfied by: BATHRER:
Cash paid upon completion R TERCEE LR & S+ 940
Other payable H fth JE S 3B
— upon six months after completion — R FERK & 7B A E R 470
- upon eighteen months after completion —R 5%+ /@& A&t 470
1,880
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash BERWEBIHKEEZERARZEAE M
equivalents in respect of the acquisition of the REeEBYWREEFESITWOT
Waterproofing Target is as follows:
HK$'000
FTERT
Consideration settled in cash REXARESEZHRE
upon completion (940)
Bank balances acquired of FT U HE 2 SR1T 45 84 1

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents BRWEHRB AT 2R S &
in respect of the acquisition of ReFEWREFE
a subsidiary (939)
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continuea)

(a)

(b)

Acquisition of a subsidiary during the
year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)

Included in revenue and net profit of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2019 are approximately
HK$5,550,000 and HK$572,000, respectively
attributable by this newly acquired subsidiary for
the period between the date of acquisition and 31
March 2019.

Had this business combination been effected on 1
April 2018, the revenue and net profit for the year
attributed to the Group would be approximately
HK$5,593,000 and HK$499,000, respectively. The
pro forma information is for illustrative purpose
only.

Acquisition of a subsidiary during the
year ended 31 March 2018

On 7 September 2016, the Group, through a
wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third
party (the “vendor”), pursuant to which the Group
agreed to acquire and the Vendor agreed to sell
the entire issued share capital in a company (the
“Licensed Target”) with licences to carry on Type
1, 4 and 9 regulated activities under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") at a consideration
equivalent to a premium of HK$16,500,000 over
the net assets value of the Licensed Target as
at the completion date (limited to a maximum
consideration at HK$22,500,000). The acquisition
was completed on 21 September 2017 and the
consideration was determined to be approximately
HK$20,230,000.

34. (&6t »)

(a)

(b)

REBE-Z-—NAF=A=+—
ALtEERE-FHHEAQF
(%)

St R UK AR B B 2 AR W BB B AR
E ﬂi_ﬂ_ﬂ——ElJt
SRR GT A\ S LR S I\ RO
R - 3 Bl 49 45,550,000 7T &
572,000/ T ©

il AN S U
$%ITE}+)\Z$
5 AB R 2 Bl K R
7_5)32499 OOO/%TE o Itk
ke

E’\\‘Eﬁi:‘—;—ﬂi A=t—
F‘WTE’D\H

’L\\ﬁj)ﬁ’\\f_; /\¢7"LH’EE|§E\
—BYE=F([BEHF])FET—HE
BEWE BEzmE A5ER
BERBEREFREEE —HEA

\

il

HE=E %&Hﬁ Sl (8% 5 9
EGAI)E ARVBERIRE ¥
BRBZ A 7(”1#2‘5512‘? al)
ZEEEBRITRO  KBREM
ERFREEEARNBETKAEZ

& & FE U X E (16,500,000
JC (WEERET mﬁ/\22 500 0007%&
) RAKBER T+ EN
A-+—HB%EK Hﬁzﬁﬁﬁf’;tﬁﬂj
20,230,000 7T,

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities EMMEEATZISBAMEERSE
of the Licensed Target at completion date are BERERB Z AFEHEBELT
disclosed as below:
HK$'000
FET
Intangible assets (note 21) mRAE (Ms21) 18,738
Prepayment SEENEN 1
Bank balances RITHE R 3,830
Accruals ERER (101)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 31) EERIEEE (FFE31) (3,092)
Net assets acquired Frikig c BEFE 19,376
Goodwill (note 20) = ([t 5%20) 854
Total consideration BRE 20,230
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continuea)
(b) Acquisition of a subsidiary during the
year ended 31 March 2018 (Continued)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the acquisition of the
Licensed Target is as follows:

4. (&6t )
(b) RBE-—SB—N\E=F=+—
R F=ANE Bl P
(&)
ERKESEEEATZESR
BeZENRLFEAFMT -

HK$'000

FHT

Cash consideration ReRE (20,230)

Bank balances acquired of FT U B8 2 SR 1T 4 84 3,830
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents BRIWEHE AR ZRERRESEEY

in respect of the acquisition of a it R

subsidiary (16,400)

Deposit paid in 2017 (note 36(a)) —E—+FENES (HFE36()) 4,125
Net cash outflow during the year ended REBZE=ZZT—-N\F=HA=+—HIEFE

31 March 2018 WIR & WL F (12,275)

Included in the revenue and net loss for the
year ended 31 March 2018 was none and
approximately HK$1,125,000 respectively
attributable by this newly acquired subsidiary for
the period between the date of acquisition and 31
March 2018.

Had this business combination been effected
on 1 April 2017, the revenue and net loss for
the year ended 31 March 2018 attributed to
the Group would be approximately HK$450,000
and HK$2,192,000, respectively. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purpose only.

HHKENBEARRKERSRZ
—E-NF=ZA=+—BHMEz5t
AREBFEWRARER D714
A K 491,125,000 JT °

Wt XBEHR _—_T—LFMTA
— B AEEAGFAZHE
Z-NF=ZRA=+—-HILFERK
AKNGR BB 2 Bl 4 /450,000
7T }%2,192,0005% 7T o bt E & &
EHZARE-
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35. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
During the year ended 31 March 2018

On 24 October 2017, the Group, through a wholly-owned
subsidiary, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party, pursuant to which the
Group agreed to acquire the entire issued share capital
in a company with a cross-boundary vehicle license
at a consideration of HK$1,886,000. The directors of
the Company are of the opinion that the acquisition
is in substance an acquisition of assets instead of
an acquisition of business as the only principal asset
included in the company is the cross-boundary vehicle
license.

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the
company at completion date are disclosed as below:

35.

ERWE—ENB AT WEE
=
REBEZ-E—-NE=Z=A=+—HL
FE
AEE (FB—2BEHABZHEQR)
RZE—+tF+A-TNBEE—FIE
“HEIHEEHE BEZHE
REERZEAK(E,886,000/% 7T W &
— M EPEEHERBZ AR Z2EE
BIRHD - ARBEERBZWEER
tR-—BEEWEMIFEBWE BA
SFAZARNEEEE AP BEEE

vl
°
AR

ZARZABNBEERABNERAZ
RNFEREWT

HK$'000

FET

Intangible assets (note 21) mrREE (HiE21) 1,876
Cash B 10
Net assets acquired iz BEFE 1,886
Total consideration wmRE 1,886

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the acquisition of the company

BRAVRBZARZREMREEFEDR
HFBEOFAT

is as follows:
HK$'000
FET
Cash consideration BeRE (1,886)
Cash balances acquired of Frlk i 2 38 & & 8k 10
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in FRUE—RBEWBEARCES®
respect of the acquisition of a subsidiary FRSEEBY R FEE (1,876)
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@)

(b)

Non-cash transaction

On 21 September 2017, the Group completed the
acquisition of a company with licences to carry
out the Type 1, 4 and 9 regulated activities under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The Group
had paid a deposit of HK$4,125,000 during the
year ended 31 March 2017 and setting off against
the consideration upon the completion of the
acquisition.

Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and
the movements in net debt for each of the years
presented.

6. ZEBERERME

(@) FREIEH

R-ZZF—tEtFNLA-+—BAE
B ek g — R AR E L
EIRHI X 8B IEEE1,ARIME R
R AEERBE_T—tF=
A=+—BLEFERENZES
4,125,000/ 7T » 3 7 76 A W BB I
RN ERERRR-

(b) EHFEHK
REREL D PT 2 51 % F R ERF
BREBFREH O

2019 2018
—E-hF —ZE-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREeEEY 27,009 41,277
Pledged bank deposits BMIRITER - 300
Obligation under a finance lease @& A& & = (90)
Secured bank borrowing BERBIRITEE - (6,689)
Net cash & F 27,009 34,798

Liabilities from financing

Others assets activities
AftgE RETHEL AR

Cash and Pledged  Obligation Secured

cash bank under a bank
equivalents deposits  finance lease  borrowing Total

BER 25: 8] HEHE BER
BeLEN ROER R RiTEE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL TR T T AL
Net cash as at 1 April 2017 RZE-tEMA-ANELTE 60,027 300 (177) (6,964) 53186
Cash flows RenE (18,383) - 87 275 (18,521)
Foreign exchange adjustments MERZ 133 - - - 133

Net cash as at 31 March 2018 RZE-\F=f=1-H
WAL FE "2 300 (90) (6,689) 34,798
Net cash as at 1 Apri 2018 R-B-\FRA-BMRRFE a0 30 (%0) (6,639) 34,798
Cash flows Reme (14.177) (300) 90 6,689 (7,69%)
Foreign exchange adjustments HEFE )] - = = )
Net cash as at 31 March 2019 RZ2-NE=R=1-H

HELFE 27,009 = = - 21,009
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37. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 7. 8EHEAE

The Group as lessee rEBEREBEA
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET

Minimum lease payments paid under FR&LEHEEHNZIE
operating leases during the year MERK:

Premises = 6,943 1,751

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in relation to
office premises and warehouse, falling due as follows:

R R - A BRGE I S IR R A
88 T B 1p3 vmﬂ*miﬁﬁﬁ
R S I R E TR B 2 B EES
-

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FHET

Within one year —F A 8,517 2,526
In the second to fifth years inclusive #H - EF HF

(ERMFEREEAN) 10,774 512

19,291 3,038

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its office properties. Leases are
negotiated and rentals are fixed for an average of three
years in both years.

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
approximately HK$723,000 (2018: HK$624,000). The
property held for rental purposes is expected to
generate rental yields of 2.56% (2018 2.50%) on an
ongoing basis. The property held has committed tenants
for the next two years.

REMEFATAEEREE TR FE
MENES KMEFEAR  HOHE
=“FHHE MESKR=FHF9EE

on

AEEEAEEA

R EE P A WA PTIS 49 A723,000
BIL(ZZF— \F 624,000 70) - 4%
EHERZENYEFEHE AL REHR
FR2.56% (ZF — )\F :2.50% ) Hy7K
FoBEBZYERARMEFEERET
S NE
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OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the following future
minimum lease payments:

37.

KREHERE 2

REBERHBA ()
RIBEHRR NEBECEABRARNKT
AREEREESNKEITLEL:

2019 2018
—g-hE T )\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
within one year —FA 351 500
In the second to fifth years inclusive $ - Z=F R 4F
(BEEMFEBREFEEA) 17 18
368 518
RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 38. BRIk &5+ 2
Defined contribution plans REMAREE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. The Group contributes
5% of relevant payroll costs, capped at HK$1,500 per
month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the contribution is
matched by employees.

Under the laws of Singapore, certain subsidiaries of
the Company make contributions to the state pension
scheme, the Central Provident Fund (“CPF"). The
subsidiary of the Company in Singapore are required to
contribute certain percentages varies from 5% to 20% of
the monthly salaries of their current employees to the
CPF for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018.

Subsidiaries operating in the PRC are required to
participate in contribution retirement schemes
organised by the relevant local government authorities
since incorporation.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately
HK$402,000 (2018: HK$376,000) represents contributions
payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of
the current accounting period.

AEBBRETERELE —HARHME
NIELEE ([BREEETE]) - %&TE
BERASEEESRRT REEX
AAZRBNEES AKBREBHE
KA Z5%RABESEHR TRE A
1,500 7T - BEERBR SR FEH AR

o
N

WIBFTINBOER - AR BETHERQF
ABEZEREEFRAEER ([FR
REEDEARK-BE_FT—LER
—E-N=ZRA=+—BLFEAR AR
BRI B AR ALEREGRE
B A $ 5% E20% 2 ME T B tLAH
RAFEEEHER-

EHREEEZMBAREBEMALE
2 E AR BN S 2 RE HFR
REtEl -

AR B A402,0008 T (ZF—N
% 1 376,000/ 7T ) B A B A KB E
EAIS S FE YA ENRIE
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into the following
transactions with related parties:

(a)

(b)

License to use a property granted to a
related company

The Company licensed a right to use an office
property at nil consideration under a license
agreement with a related company of which
a director, Mr. Liu Rongsheng has significant
influence. Pursuant to the terms of agreement,
the related company shall bear the cost incurred
for using the office property and both parties can
terminate the license by immediate notice.

Compensation of key management
personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel

9.HEFIRS
AEER AEEEBEHETTOT
25

(@) B—XEEELXARKUEAY
R2BEEE
RIBE-FZBBELA (BEFRE
EREREEARE) L2
AHiERE - AR A ABERER D
BEER-ERAEYE - REZ
Bhek 13N - BB R BRI ERERZ
MEMEEZER  Mal 85 A]
LA BIVE 388 0 4% || 5 FF A

(b) TEEBAESNME

BEFERARRRTEERAEDN

of the Company during the year was as follows: B & an T
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Salaries, allowances and other e ZAREMET
benefits 8,846 8,531
Contributions to retirement BRIKEFIET B3R
benefits scheme 155 107
9,001 8,638

The remuneration of directors of the Company and
key executives is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

ARABEZEREBITHRAEME
THRFMEZEE2ER/AREAR
MEBEETE -
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40. INFORMATION ABOUT THE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

40. AR BMR R KER

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 TET FABT

Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment = K 5% 83 574
Investments in subsidiaries RETB AR ZIEE 21,455 21,455
21,538 22,029

Current assets REEE
Other receivables H b JE Y FR B 2,340 1,517
Amounts due from subsidiaries U B A & B a 96,229 107,429
Bank balances and cash RITHEHR LIRS 110 1,518
98,679 110,464
Current liabilities mEEE

Other payables H b JE A FRIB 2,337 1,265
Amount due to a subsidiary FEAST I BB & R 3B a 466 466
2,803 1,731
Net current assets FMEEE 95,876 108,733
Total assets less current liabilities @& ER B EE 117,414 130,762

Capital and reserves BEARKGEE
Share capital % < 32 168,887 154,851
Reserves & (51,473) (24,089)
Total equity AR b 117,414 130,762

The financial statement of the Company were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 12
June 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

Chan Chi Yuen
Director
EZE

RRBZHMBHRRENR - NFXA
T AR TIEERREZTSRZ UM
JE R TIE

Liu Rongsheng
Bt
Director
EF
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40. INFORMATION ABOUT THE
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

40. PRI B MR RKRER (%)

Note a: MisEa :
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on LA AEI - A RIREREE -
demand.
Note b: MisED :
Share  Accumulated Other
capital losses Reserve Total
B Rt EE Hfik s @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THL THT
(Note)
(Btzx)
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+FMA—H 154,851 (30,469) 21,063 145,445
Loss for the year and total comprehensive ~ AFEFBEMAFEE
expenses for the year 2HEAY - (14,683) = (14,683)
At 31 March 2018 R-ZE-N\E=ZA=+—-HRK
and 1 April 2018 —Z-\fMA—A 154,851 (45,152) 21,063 130,762
Loss for the year and total comprehensive ~ REEBEMKEE
expenses for the year 2ERAZSE = (27,384) - (27,384)
Issue of new shares under placing RERERTHRG 14,520 - - 14,520
Transaction costs attributable to issue of BIRDEGERHEE
shares (484) - - (484)
At 31 March 2019 R-E-NF=ZA=+—H 168,887 (72,536) 21,063 117,414
Note: Other reserve represents the difference between the Misr: i aER  AWEHE AR

nominal value of the shares issued for acquisition of a
subsidiary and the consolidated net asset value of that
subsidiary and its subsidiaries at the date of acquisition.

METOROHOEMEEZME AR R
HfBRARMWEHMEEFERNER-
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments as at
the end of reporting period:

41. & K& IE

AREBERHEHRB AT EAALE:

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Contracted but not provided for: BET#VB R 4

— Acquisition of construction equipment — BB 2R E 11,152 -

- Development of construction —FBREEREERRS
equipment management system 125 -
11,277 -

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

On 9 December 2015, a supplier has filed a statement
of claim of approximately HK$1,000,000 against a
subsidiary of the Group. As at date of the report, no
proceeding has been occurred. Based on the legal
advice, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the Group has meritorious defenses against the
supplier. Therefore, no provision for this claim has been

42

HREE
R-ZE-RF+_ANA —BHER
HAKE-FHNBRAREL—NOEBER
1,000,000/ TTHY R EE)F & - NS B 87
YAREEEMFR - REEZZER K
RAEFRA/AEEDHHERIELA
hing-Bit YRRBE-_T—NF
SAST L FEZHAMBRERTH

made in the consolidation financial statements for the REEEH FABE-
year ended 31 March 2019.
PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 43. T EHE D T

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31
March 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

ARRAZEENBRAAR-E-NER
—E-\F=A=+—RAHEOT:

Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/  Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting
Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
RYHER/ igs3 ROTHR
WEAREHR Bend /A%  RHER BE/2REE AARBENFAEERRERLA TEED
Directly Indirectly
BE B
2019 2018 2019 2018
“8-AE ZF-\F ZB-RE “T-)N\%F
% % % %
China Sourcing & Creative BVI Ordinary United State 100 100 - - Sourcing furniture and marble
Construction Limited dollar 1 and the provision of interior
design and decoration service
FENEIRRENBRAR RERAHES g (ES 100 100 - - RERBREAGURREEZ
Rt REHRS
Hotel Sourcing International Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - = 100 100 Provision of interior design and
decoration services
Hotel Sourcing International Limited &7 B 10070 - - 100 100 REZRRTRESRS
Karlson C & C Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 100 Provision of interior design and
decoration services
Karlson C & C Limited Eh il BT - - 100 100 REZARHSRESHRS
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43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) A3. T EMB AT (&)

Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/  Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting

Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
RYHER/ i BTOHR

WELRAR ggnd /A% KOS BE/2REE ARAKENRERRREELSA TEEY

Directly Indirectly
BE B

2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-AE CFF CE-AE CFNS
% %

% %
Wealth Trinity Development Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - - 100 100 Provision of interior design and
decoration services
ERNERARAT £k EE:l BT - - 100 100 REZHRTRESHRS
Well Creation Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - - 100 100 Provision of interior design and
decoration services
REISEARAT £k Tl TR - - 100 100 REZHRAREHRS
Joy Excel Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 100 Provision of interior design and
decoration services
SHERARAR Eh il BT - - 100 100 RESHRHSREHRS
Forever Smart (China) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100 100 Provision of interior design and
decoration services
K (REB)BRAF Ek Bl TR - - 100 100 REERRTREHERS
Hotel Sourcing Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore Ordinary SGD1 - - 100 100 Sourcing furniture and marbles
and provision of interior
design and decoration
services
Hotel Sourcing Singapore Pte. Ltd. sk Bt T - - 100 100 FEREREARNRREER
Rt REHRHE
Kate China Property Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - - 100 100 Property investment
Consultants Limited
TREZVEERERAA i L@ 18T = = 100 100  HERE
Huarong Financial Holdings Limited ~ BVI Ordinary US$100 100 100 - - Investment holding
ERLERRERAT ERRNHS il 100£ 7T 100 100 - - REER
Markway Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - = 100 100 Money lending
BRABARRA ik B 100/ 7T = - 100 100 HfE
Wealthy Pool International Holdings BV Ordinary US$50,000 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
REBRZRBRLA EBRLES B 50,000% 7T 100 100 - - REBR
Huge Wealth International Trading Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 = - 100 100 Business not yet commenced
Limited
FERERESFRAT ik ki 10,0007 7T - - 100 00 ARERER
Oenoluxe Wines Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100 100 Wine Merchandising
REERRAF Ek i 17T - - 100 100 EHEE
World Huge International Investment ~ BVI Ordinary US§100 100 100 - - Investment Holdings
Limited
tHERRREFRAR EERUNE il 10057 100 100 - - REBK
0C Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$11,500,000 - = 100 100 Provision of financial services

0C Consultants Limited B L3 11,500,000 7 - - 100 100 RESHBREE
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43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

43. T EMBE QT (&)

Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/  Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting
Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
RYHER/ i BTOHR
WELRAR ggnd /A% KOS BE/2REE ARAKENRERRREELSA TEED
Directly Indirectly
BE B
2019 2018 2019 2018
“E2-7fF ZT-)\F ZB-RE “T-)N\%F
% % % %
Royal Century Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 100 100 - - Investment holdings
Group Limited
CEREEEERAR i L BT 100 100 - - REER
Royal Century Development Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100 100 Sourcing furniture and provision
of interior design and
decoration services
CEERARAR ik B BT = S 100 100 REREARREZARGRE
il
Royal Century Engineering Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 100 Provision of interior design and
decoration services
CEIRARAR i Bt BT - = 100 100 RESRRTRESRS
Royal Century Construction Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 - Leasing of construction
Equipment Limited (Note 1) equipment
CRREXBERAR (1) B Bt AT - = 100 - RERRERE
Vi Tak Building Works Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000 - = 100 - Provision of waterproofing works
Limited (Note 2) and maintenance services
BEAFRAE (M2) Ek Bl 100,000 7 - - 100 - REHKIEREERSK
Notes: M5
1. The subsidiary is newly incorporated during the year ended 1. EHBRARAREBE-_Z—HLE=A
31 March 2019. =t —HIEFERTEMKL-
2. The acquisition of the subsidiary was completed on 21 2. WEZHBARAR-_ZE—N\FE+_A

December 2018 (note 34(a)).

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of

—t+— A=K (MiE34@)) °

other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

EERR ERMIMARBMME QR
IBREAFEXREIBRAEBEE
FEZEERN EFTRRIEEAMKN
BRAZFBRSREEAN LK
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BEHE
For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1-HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-NE ZE-NF ZE—+tF TR —Z-1%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TER FTEL FTHL THEL FTET
Revenue Wz 28,150 33,097 54,524 101,048 142,556
(Loss)/profit before tax BBA (B18),/ &7 (19,939) (27,989) (35,022) (7,919) 7,815
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BB)/ &7 (20,074) (28,093) (35,034) (9,370) 5,451
Total comprehensive FEE2A
(expenses)/income for the year  (Bx) /A (20,165) (27,804) (35,156) (9,325) 5,023
As at 31 March
R=ZB=+-H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-NE ZE-N§ ZE—+F ZE-R§ ZIT-1%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TERT TET FTEL TET FET
Assets and Liabilities EEREE
Total assets BEE 116,088 124,165 150,850 142,340 167,165
Total liabilities BaG (11,675) (13,381) (12,262) (47,334) (62,834)
Total equity BREs 104,413 110,784 138,588 95,006 104,331
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